SYMBIOTIC NITROGEN FIXATION IN DRY BEAN (PHASEOLUS VULGARIS L.)

CULTIVARS

A Dissertation Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of the North Dakota State University of Agriculture and Applied Science

By

Debankur Sanyal

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Major Department: Soil Science

April 2018

Fargo, North Dakota

North Dakota State University Graduate School

Title

SYMBIOTIC NITROGEN FIXATION IN DRY BEAN (PHASEOLUS VULGARIS L.) CULTIVARS

By

Debankur Sanyal

The Supervisory Committee certifies that this disquisition complies with

North Dakota State University's regulations and meets the accepted

standards for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE:

Dr. Amitava Chatterjee

Chair

Dr. Juan M. Osorno

Dr. Robert Brueggeman

Dr. Robert Jay Goos

Dr. Thomas DeSutter

Approved:

April 10, 2018

Dr. Frank Casey

Date

Department Chair

ABSTRACT

Dry Beans (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.), is the second-most important grain legume, and North Dakota has ranked first in dry bean production. The overarching research question of my project is whether we can increase the nitrogen (N) fixing potential of dry bean cultivars with inoculation and compare the nitrogen (N) fixing potential of common dry bean cultivars. Field experiment was conducted to compare peat and liquid inoculants during 2016 and 2017 growing seasons. In the field study, N_2 fixation was estimated by stable isotope (¹⁵N) dilution technique. Liquid inoculant $(70.5\pm5.9 \text{ kg ha}^{-1})$ showed similar potential to the peat based inoculant $(60.5\pm4.7 \text{ kg ha}^{-1})$ for N₂ fixation, however, inoculation treatments did not increase the N₂ fixation over uninoculated (control). Further, it was investigated the *nifH* gene (marker for N₂ fixation) expression in the dry bean-Rhizobium phaseoli symbiotic system. It was found that the relative normalized *nifH* gene expression significantly correlates (r = 0.82) with the total amount of N₂ fixed, indicating the genetic control of symbiotic efficiency. Study on N-assimilatory genes, NR for nitrate reductase and GS for glutamine synthetase, showed that N_2 fixation alone could not support plant N need in the later stages of growth (i.e. late flowering) and supplementary application of mineral-N is necessary for better plant growth and economic-yield. Dry bean cultivars did not response to inoculation and genetically, they differed significantly in N₂ fixation potentials.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Sincere appreciation is expressed to my advisor, Dr. Amitava Chatterjee for his guidance, continuous support, and the confidence he had in me to carry out these research projects. His faith in me was the keystone that allowed me to gain a great amount of knowledge and experience. I would also like to thank my advisory committee members, Dr. Juan M. Osorno, Dr. Robert S. Brueggeman, Dr. R. Jay Goos, and Dr. Thomas DeSutter, for their advice and guidance in my research and studies.

I am grateful to Norman Cattanach, Jody VanderWal, Michael Kloberdanz, and Tom Gross for all their time and assistance at the greenhouse, laboratory, and the field research sites. I am also grateful to my colleagues, Jashandeep, Umesh, Suresh, Upasana, Peter, Resham, Samantha, and Megan for their field and laboratory assistance. A special thanks to Dr. Shyam Solanki and Gazala Ameen who trained me in molecular biology and helped me in successfully completing the research projects. I would also like to thank all the people in Departments of Soil Science, Plant Science, and Plant Pathology at the North Dakota State University for providing me with a friendly environment as well as knowledge throughout my studies.

Lastly, I am thankful to all my friends, Tonoy, Sayan, Swati, Arighna, Souradeep, Debashree, Avik, Arnab, Debalin, Mriganka, Sheetal, Shantanu, Piyush, Jagjot, Sudarshna, Amaan, and my family for believing in me and standing side by my side, all the time, rendering their endless support and encouraging me in all possible ways.

DEDICATION

I dedicate my disquisition to my family, my parents Dipa and Deb Narayan, and

My brother Dhiman.

ABSTRACT	iii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iv
DEDICATION	v
LIST OF TABLES	X
LIST OF FIGURES	xi
LIST OF APPENDIX TABLES	xiii
CHAPTER I: GENERAL INTRODUCTION	1
References	3
CHAPTER II: LITERATURE REVIEW	6
Nitrogen metabolism in legumes	
N ₂ fixation	9
N-assimilation	12
Nitrogen demand for dry bean	15
Potential of <i>Rhizobium</i> inoculation to increase yield, N uptake and N use efficiency	17
Use of stable isotope signatures in understanding legume N metabolism	
Molecular tools to understand and improve legume N metabolism and inoculation response	27
References	
CHAPTER III: DETERMINING SYMBIOTIC NITROGEN FIXATION IN COMMERCIAL DRY BEAN (<i>PHASEOLUS VULGARIS</i> L.) CULTIVARS USING UREIDE METHOD AND STABLE ISOTOPE DILUTION TECHNIQUE	44
Abstract	44
Introduction	44
Materials and methods	47
Greenhouse study design and environment	

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Planting and rhizobia inoculation	48
Fertilization	48
Plant sampling and data collection	49
Ureide-N analysis	50
Isotope dilution technique	50
Statistical analyses	51
Result and discussion	51
Plant dry matter	51
Relative Ureide-N	52
Percent N derived from atmosphere (%Ndfa)	54
N ₂ fixation	56
Correlation	57
Conclusion	58
References	59
CHAPTER IV: SYMBIOTIC NITROGEN FIXATION IN DRY BEAN (<i>PHASEOLUS VULGARIS</i> L.) CULTIVARS INOCULATED WITH <i>RHIZOBIA</i> IN THE NORTHERN GREAT PLAINS	63
Abstract	63
Introduction	64
Materials and methods	66
Study site design and environment	
Treatments	60
Initial rhizohia population	67
Stable isotone enrichment and reference plant	69
Plant sampling and data collection	60
I fait sampling and data concerton	09
Isotope anation rechnique	70

Statistical analysis	70
Results and discussion	71
References	78
CHAPTER V: EXPRESSION DYNAMICS OF RHIZOBIAL NIFH AND DRY BEAN (<i>PHASEOLUS VULGARIS</i> L.) NR AND GS GENES AT DIFFERENT GROWTH STAGES IS GENOTYPE DEPENDENT AND CORRELATE WITH AMOUNT OF TOTAL NITROGEN FIXED	83
Abstract	83
Introduction	84
Materials and methods	88
Greenhouse condition and study design	88
Planting and fertilization	88
Sample collection	89
Total RNA extraction	90
cDNA synthesis and primer designing	91
qPCR analysis	94
Sample preparation and estimation of N ₂ fixation	97
Results	98
Validation of primers and reference genes	98
<i>nifH</i> gene expression in nodule tissue	102
NR gene expression	102
GS gene expression	103
Discussion	105
Conclusion	109
References	109
CHAPTER VI: RESEARCH SUMMARY	115

APPENDIX: SUPPLEMENTARY	TABLES 1	116	

LIST OF TABLES

<u>Table</u>		Page
3.1:	Description of 12 cultivars of drybeans selected in the study	49
3.2:	Variations in mean plant dry matter yield and relative ureide N (%) of twelve dry bean cultivars under Pinto, Navy, Kidney and Black bean market classes at two growth stages	55
3.3:	Variations in mean percent N derived from atmosphere (%Ndfa) and N_2 fixed (mg N plant ⁻¹) of twelve dry bean cultivars under Pinto, Navy, Kidney and Black bean market classes at two growth stages	56
3.4:	Pearson correlation coefficients (r) between plant dry matter, relative ureide N, percent N derived from atmosphere (%Ndfa) and N ₂ fixed by dry bean cultivars	58
4.1:	Location and initial soil parameters of the experimental fields in 2016 and 2017	68
4.2:	Description of cultivars within pinto and kidney market classes of dry bean (<i>Phaseolus vulgaris</i> L.) selected in the study	69
4.3:	Probability levels for significant factors for percent nitrogen derived from atmosphere (%Ndfa) at third trifoliate (V ₃) and late flowering (R ₂) stage, N ₂ fixed (kg ha ⁻¹), and seed yield (kg ha ⁻¹) after combined analyses	72
4.4:	Variation in mean percent N derived from atmosphere (%Ndfa) at V ₃ stage and seed yield (kg ha ⁻¹) among inoculation treatments after combined analysis	72
4.5:	Variation in mean percent N derived from atmosphere (%Ndfa) at V_3 and R_2 stage and seed yield (kg ha ⁻¹) between market classes after combined analysis	73
4.6:	Variation in mean seed yield (kg ha ⁻¹) among kidney cultivars after combined analysis	73
4.7:	Variation in mean seed yield (kg ha ⁻¹) among inoculation and market class interactions after combined analysis	74
5.1:	Description, plant variety protection (PVP) numbers, and accession numbers of cultivars pinto cultivars selected for the study	89
5.2:	Primer sequences, their position in cDNA or genomic DNA, amplicon length, and annealing temperatures used for qPCR	93

LIST OF FIGURES

<u>Figure</u>		Page
2.1:	Biological Nitrogen Fixation: reaction sequence of reduction of N ₂ to NH ₃ ; compiled from Mengel et al. (2001)	11
2.2:	Nitrate and nitrite reduction; compiled from Mengel et al. (2001); NAD = Nicotinamide Adenine Dinucleotide	13
2.3:	Nitrogen assimilation in legume plants; compiled from Hirel et al. (2011); NR: Nitrate reductase, NIR: nitrite reductase, TCA: tricarboxylic acid cycle	14
5.1:	Representative standards (Actin) used for qRT-PCR: (a) Dilution series ($15 \times 10-1$ to $15 \times 10-6$ picograms mL-1) used to produce standard curve; (b) Standard curve used to study gene expression and the calculated qPCR efficiency.	95
5.2:	Diagrammatic representation of reference sequence from NCBI for each gene, a) <i>nifH</i> , b) <i>dnaK</i> , c) <i>GS</i> , d) <i>NR</i> , and e) <i>Actin</i> , used in qPCR along with the region utilized for gene specific primer designing and Sanger sequencing for dry bean (pinto) cultivar-specific amplification.	96
5.3:	Relative normalized expressions of (a) <i>nifH</i> , (b) <i>GS</i> and (c) <i>NR</i> genes in root- nodules of four commercial pinto bean cultivars (La Paz, Lariat, Windbreaker, and ND-307) at two different growth stages (V ₃ and R ₂); (d) Linear regression model between mean amount of N ₂ fixed (g N ₂ per plant) by four cultivars and corresponding normalized expressions of <i>nifH</i> gene in their root-nodules at the R ₂ stage; Values (bars) with overlapped standard error bars are not statistically significantly different (P<0.01); <i>nifH</i> gene expression was normalized against <i>dnaK</i> gene; <i>GS</i> and <i>NR</i> gene expression was normalized against the <i>Actin</i> gene; P ₁ : La Paz, P ₂ : Lariat, P ₃ : Windbreaker, and P ₄ : ND-307; 1 denotes V ₃ stage and 2 denotes R ₂ stage	99
5.4:	Relative normalized expression levels of the <i>GS</i> gene in the leaves of (a) Rhizobia inoculated plants and (b) control (non-inoculated) plants of four commercial pinto bean cultivars (La Paz, Lariat, Windbreaker, and ND-307) at two different growth stages (V_3 and R_2); *Values (bars) with overlapped standard error bars are not statistically significantly different (P<0.01); Gene expression was normalized against the <i>Actin</i> gene; P ₁ : La Paz, P ₂ : Lariat, P ₃ : Windbreaker, and P ₄ : ND-307; 1 denotes V ₃ stage and 2 denotes R ₂ stage.	100
5.5:	Relative normalized expressions of the <i>NR</i> gene in the leaves of (a) Rhizobia inoculated plants and (b) control (non-inoculated) plants of four commercial pinto bean cultivars (La Paz, Lariat, Windbreaker, and ND-307) at two different growth stages (V ₃ and R ₂); Values (bars) with overlapped standard error bars are not statistically significantly different (P<0.01); Gene expression was normalized against the <i>Actin</i> gene; P ₁ : La Paz, P ₂ : Lariat, P ₃ : Windbreaker, and P ₄ : ND-307; 1 denotes V ₃ stage and 2 denotes R ₂ stage.	101

5.6:	A conceptual model depicting estimated and predicted expression dynamics of the	
	Rhizobium phaseoli nifH gene and dry bean (Phaseolus vulgaris L.) NR and GS	
	genes at different growth stages (G: germination, V ₃ : third trifoliate stage, R ₂ : late	
	flowering stage, R ₅ : pod-filling stage, M: maturity)	108

LIST OF APPENDIX TABLES

<u>Table</u>		Page
A1:	Variations in mean plant dry matter yield and relative ureide N (%) of twelve dry bean cultivars under Pinto, Navy, Kidney and Black bean market classes at two growth stages	116
A2:	Monthly distribution of temperature (°C) and rainfall (mm) during crop growing seasons in Prosper, ND (2016) and Felton, MN (2017)	117
A3:	Variations in mean percent nitrogen derived from atmosphere (%Ndfa) at third trifoliate (V ₃) stage among different inoculation treatments at Prosper, ND in 2016 and at Felton, MN in 2017	117
A4:	Variations in mean dry matter yield (kg ha-1) among different inoculation treatments at Prosper, ND in 2016 and at Felton, MN in 2017	118
A5:	Variations in mean seed yield (kg ha ⁻¹) among different inoculation treatments at Prosper, ND in 2016 and at Felton, MN in 2017	118
A6:	Variations in mean percent nitrogen derived from atmosphere (%Ndfa) at third trifoliate (V ₃) and seed yield (kg ha ⁻¹) among kidney cultivars at Felton, MN in 2017.	119
A7:	Effect of interactions between market classes and inoculation treatments on variations in mean seed yield (kg ha ⁻¹) at Prosper, ND in 2016 and Felton, MN in 2017.	119
A8:	Effect of interactions between cultivars within market classes and inoculation treatments on variations in mean percent nitrogen derived from atmosphere (%Ndfa) at third trifoliate (V ₃) stage at Felton, MN in 2017	120
A9:	Effect of interactions between kidney cultivars and inoculation treatments on variations in mean seed yield (kg ha ⁻¹) at Felton, MN in 2017	120
A10:	Effect of interactions between cultivars within market classes and inoculation treatments on variations in mean dry matter yield (kg ha ⁻¹) after combined analysis	121
A11:	Effect of interactions between cultivars within market classes and inoculation treatments on variations in mean N_2 fixed (kg ha ⁻¹) after combined analysis	121

CHAPTER I: GENERAL INTRODUCTION

Nitrogen (N) or 'azote' (means without life) is an integral part of amino acids that make proteins (Zahran, 1999). Plants need N for their optimal growth and metabolism; but the available forms of N in soil, nitrate (NO_3^-) and ammonium (NH_4^+), which can be absorbed by the plants, are deficient in most of the soil under agroecosystems (Novoa and Loomis, 1981). Therefore, dependency on chemical fertilizers in crop production is increasing exponentially, and the cost of fertilizers input has also increased in last few decades (Lassaletta et al., 2014). Symbiotic nitrogen fixation (SNF), a biochemical process carried out by a specific class of bacteria (*Rhizobium*) in symbiosis with a specific class of plants (legumes), can add significant amount of N₂ into the global agro-ecosystems and reduce the use of chemical N fertilizers.

The atmosphere contains about 10^{15} tons of dinitrogen (N₂) gas, but this gas is highly inert and can only be transformed into usable forms of N by 'diazotrophs', a class of prokaryotes, mostly Bacteria and Archaea (Postgate, 1982; Ludden, 2001). These diazotrophs can fix N₂ gas as free-living organisms or symbiotically with legumes. *Rhizobium*, a genus of bacteria, can colonize legumes and fix N₂, which can be utilized in plant N metabolism (Hong et al., 2012). Population of *Rhizobia* in soils can vary depending on environmental factors such as climate, soil physicochemical parameters, and biotic-abiotic stresses (Singleton et al., 1991; Farid et al., 2017). Inoculation of legume crops with *Rhizobium* ensures symbiosis and increases probability of increased nodulation and subsequent SNF in the agricultural systems (Samudin and Kuswantoro, 2018).

Dry bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.), the second-most important grain legume after soybean [*Glycine max* L. (Merrill)], is a great source of protein, fiber, and nutrition (Yonts et al., 2018). USA ranks fourth among dry bean producing countries in the world and North Dakota

(ND) ranks first among dry bean producing states in the USA (National Agricultural Statistics Service, 2016). Dry bean is a major crop in the Red River Valley (RRV) and ND shared 39% of total area in USA under dry bean production in 2016 (USDA-ERS, 2016). Dry beans add about 6 $\times 10^5$ Mg N annually in the agricultural systems worldwide, but fixes less amount of N₂ compared to other grain legumes such as soybeans (Farid and Navabi, 2015). *Rhizobium* inoculation in dry bean production is not popular in ND and only 14% dry bean growers in ND use inoculation in their fields (Knodel et al., 2017). Along with non-significant yield responses with *Rhizobium* inoculation, the commercially available peat-based inoculant for dry bean plugs the precision air seeder mostly used for planting in the RRV, which discourages the adoption of inoculation in the region. In this project, a new liquid inoculant was used as seed inoculant for dry beans.

In this project, determining the SNF potential of dry bean cultivars of two common market classes was the main goal. Use of stable isotope techniques is the most reliable approach to quantify the N_2 fixation, and these techniques have been reviewed extensively in earlier literature (Witty et al., 1988; Unkovich et al., 2008). Among all the stable techniques, isotope dilution was reported as the most efficient technique in quantifying SNF, but this method is costly and requires an IRMS (isotope ratio mass spectrometry) to analyze samples.

On the other hand, the ureide method is an alternative to stable isotope techniques to determine SNF activities in legumes under the Phaseolae and Desmodiae tribes such as soybean and dry bean, which export ureides (allantoin and allantoic acid) during SNF (Sprent, 2001; Coleto et al., 2014). Studies reported that ureide concentration in xylem sap when measured spectrophotometrically could be used as a measure of SNF successfully, and showed linear

correlation with the symbiotic dependence of the legume (Herridge, 1982; Goos et al., 2015). In this project, these two methods were first compared in a greenhouse study to choose between these two methods to estimate SNF in dry bean cultivars in our subsequent studies.

The *nifH* gene, a marker for biological nitrogen fixation (BNF), encodes nitrogenase enzyme responsible for N_2 fixation and is highly conserved in diazotrophs (Farnelid et al., 2011). Expression of this gene was studied in different environments (Mehta et al., 2003; Turk-Kubo et al., 2012; Warshan et al., 2016), but not in a symbiotic system. Bürgmann et al. (2003) studied *nifH* gene expression in free-living diazotrophs in soil and found linear correlation between the gene expression and amount of N_2 fixed. In this project, expressions of *nifH* gene and the genes that encode nitrate reductase (*NR*) and glutamine synthetase (*GS*) enzymes involved in N assimilation were studied in *Rhizobium*-dry bean symbiotic system.

Our study was designed to determine the effectiveness of rhizobia inoculation in increasing SNF with molecular evidence of *nifH* gene expression in the dry bean-rhizobia symbiotic system. This dissertation is comprised of three objectives, presented in three chapters: first, compare the efficiency of ureide method with stable isotope dilution technique in estimating SNF; second, determine the N_2 fixing potential of commercial dry bean cultivars under field condition, third, the expression dynamics of N_2 fixing (*nifH*) and N-assimilatory genes to find the correlation between the genotypic expression and biological function.

References

- Bürgmann, H., F. Widmer, W. V. Sigler, and J. Zeyer. 2003. mRNA extraction and reverse transcription-PCR protocol for detection of *nifH* gene expression by *Azotobacter vinelandii* in soil. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 69(4): 1928–1935.
- Coleto, I., M. Pineda, A.P. Rodiño, A.M. De Ron, and J.M. Alamillo. 2014. Comparison of inhibition of N₂ fixation and ureide accumulation under water deficit in four common bean genotypes of contrasting drought tolerance. Ann. Bot. 113(6): 1071–1082.

- Farid, M., H.J. Earl, K.P. Pauls, and A. Navabi. 2017. Response to selection for improved nitrogen fixation in common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.). Euphytica 213(4): 1–13.
- Farid, M., and A. Navabi. 2015. N₂ fixation ability of different dry bean genotypes. Can. J. Plant Sci. 95(6): 1243–1257.
- Farnelid, H., A.F. Andersson, S. Bertilsson, W.A. Al-Soud, L.H. Hansen, S. Sørensen, G.F. Steward, Å. Hagström, and L. Riemann. 2011. Nitrogenase gene amplicons from global marine surface waters are dominated by genes of non-cyanobacteria. PLoS One 6(4).
- Goos, R.J., N. Abdraimova, and B.E. Johnson. 2015. Method for Determination of Ureides in Soybean Tissues. Commun. Soil Sci. Plant Anal. 46(4): 424–429.
- Herridge, D.F. 1982. Use of the Ureide Technique to Describe the Nitrogen Economy of Field-Grown Soybeans. Plant Physiol. 70(1): 7–11.
- Hong, Y., Y. Ma, L. Wu, M. Maki, W. Qin, and S. Chen. 2012. Characterization and analysis of nifH genes from Paenibacillus sabinae T27. Microbiol. Res. 167(10): 596–601.
- Knodel, J.J., P.B. Beauzay, D.W. Franzen, H.J. Kandel, S.G. Markell, and J.M. Osorno. 2017. 2016 dry bean grower survey of pest problems and pesticide use in Minnesota and North Dakota. North Dakota State Univ. Ext. Serv.: 1–32.
- Lassaletta, L., G. Billen, B. Grizzetti, J. Anglade, and J. Garnier. 2014. 50 year trends in nitrogen use efficiency of world cropping systems: The relationship between yield and nitrogen input to cropland. Environ. Res. Lett. 9(10): 1-9.
- Ludden, P.W. 2001. Nitrogenase Complex. Encycl. Life Sci. 1-8.
- Mehta, M.P., D. a Butterfield, and J. a Baross. 2003. Phylogenetic Diversity of Nitrogenase (*nifH*) Genes in Deep-Sea and Hydrothermal Vent Environments of the Juan de Fuca Ridge Phylogenetic Diversity of Nitrogenase (*nifH*) Genes in Deep-Sea and Hydrothermal Vent Environments of the Juan de Fuca Ridge. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 69(2): 960–970.
- National Agricultural Statistics Service (NASS). 2016. Agricultural Statistics Board. (Accessed 17th December, 2018)
- Novoa, R., and R.S. Loomis. 1981. Nitrogen and plant production. Plant Soil 58(1): 177–204.
- Postgate, J.R. 1982. The fundamentals of nitrogen fixation. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom.
- Samudin, S., and H. Kuswantoro. 2018. Effect of Rhizobium inoculation to nodulation and growth of soybean [*Glycine max* (L.) Merrill] Germplasm. Legum. Res. 385: 1-8.

- Singleton, P.W., J.E. Thies, and B.B.E.N. Bohlool. 1991. Influence of the Size of Indigenous Rhizobial Populations on Establishment and Symbiotic Performance of Introduced Rhizobia on Field- Grown Legumes. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 57: 19–28.
- Sprent, J.I. 2001. Nodulation in legumes. Royal Botanic Gardens, Kew.
- Turk-Kubo, K.A., K.M. Achilles, T.R.C. Serros, M. Ochiai, J.P. Montoya, and J.P. Zehr. 2012. Nitrogenase (*nifH*) gene expression in diazotrophic cyanobacteria in the Tropical North Atlantic in response to nutrient amendments. Front. Microbiol. 3(NOV): 1–17.
- Unkovich, M., D. Herridge, M. Peoples, G. Cadisch, B. Boddey, K. Giller, B. Alves, P. Chalk, and others. 2008. Measuring plant-associated nitrogen fixation in agricultural systems. Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research (ACIAR).
- USDA-ERS. 2016. Dry Beans. United States Dep. Agric. Econ. Res. Serv.Available at https://www.ers.usda.gov/topics/crops/vegetables-pulses/dry-beans/ (verified 20th February 2018).
- Warshan, D., G. Bay, N. Nahar, D.A. Wardle, M.C. Nilsson, and U. Rasmussen. 2016. Seasonal variation in *nifH* abundance and expression of cyanobacterial communities associated with boreal feather mosses. ISME J. 10(9): 2198–2208.
- Witty, J.F., R.J. Rennie, and C.A. Atkins. 1988. 15N addition methods for assessing N₂ fixation under field conditions. p. 715–730. *In* Summerfield, R.J. (ed.), World crops: Cool season food legumes: A global perspective of the problems and prospects for crop improvement in pea, lentil, faba bean and chickpea. Springer Netherlands, Dordrecht.
- Yonts, C.D., A. Haghverdi, D.L. Reichert, and S. Irmak. 2018. Deficit irrigation and surface residue cover effects on dry bean yield, in-season soil water content and irrigation water use efficiency in western Nebraska high plains. Agric. Water Manag. 199: 138–147.
- Zahran, H.H. 1999. Rhizobium-legume symbiosis and nitrogen fixation under severe conditions and in an arid climate. Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev. 63(4): 968–89.

CHAPTER II: LITERATURE REVIEW

Dry bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) is an important food crop due its high contents of proteins, vitamins, phosphorus. According to a report by ICRISAT (2015), dry beans share largest area after soybeans, about 27 million ha during 2008-2010 globally. The production has increased at an annual rate of 1.9%, though the production had touched a lowest yield of 793 kg ha⁻¹ during this period (Nedumaran et al., 2015). The low yields were mostly due to poor yield performance by developing countries that contributes almost 95 percent of global dry bean production. The disease intensity was also high in dry beans, which indicated that more research should be done on biotic-stress management (Beebe, 2006). Also there lies a gap between the potential yield of improved commercial varieties and actual yields by farmers which implies that input management is needed to narrow the gap (Graf et al., 1991). Almost 60 percent area under bean was accounted by four countries: India, Brazil, Myanmar and Mexico and produced $11 \times$ 10^{6} Mg of dry beans. India has the highest area under dry beans with 8.3 million ha that produces 3.4 million ton, whereas Brazil produces almost similar quantity in only 3.8 million hectares. USA had the highest yield of 2 tons per hectare, followed by China, Myanmar, Argentina and Indonesia producing more than 1 ton per hectare. A positive trends in production was found in Latin America, South Asia and South-East Asia. In Sub-Saharan Africa, the production has increaseed 4.4 percent during the period from 1994 to 2010, mostly due to more areas that came under dry bean cultivation; the yield increased only a little. The scenario is different in east Asia and developed countries. A fluctuating trend in production, decline in the area under cultivation and an increasing trend for yield was observed between 1990 and 2010. On an average, dry bean yield increased globally except for Africa and South and South-East Asia, but the area under cultivation is showing a declining trend worldwide. During 1994-2010,

the yield has increased at a rate of 0.9 percent annually in the developed countries, while the area under cultivation decreased at a rate of 1.6 percent annually. As a result, a reduction of eighty thousand tons in bean production was reported.

The composition of beans and the importance of dry beans are different in highest dry bean producing countries (Akibonde and Maredia, 2011). In India, Myanmar and Pakistan, *Vigna mungo*, *Vigna radiate* and *V. aconitifolius* are the major pulses; while in China, mung beans are the major type of beans. In Africa, Latin America and carribean region, *Phaseolus* is the major bean grown or may be the only bean grown.

According to a report by USDA-ERS (2016), the total area under dry edible bean cultivation in the United States was 714, 160 ha in 2015 and 672,590 ha in 2016 . The area under cultivation was down 4 percent in 2016 from the previous year. North Dakota alone shared 37 percent area in 2015 and 39 percent in 2016 of the total areas planted under dry beans in United States, followed by Michigan and Idaho in both the years. The US dry bean production was 1,363,360 metric tons in 2015 and 1,302,350 metric tons; the productivity was 1.97 metric tons per hectare in 2015 and 2.06 metric tons per hectare in 2016.

Among the dry bean market classes, Pinto bean was planted in maximum area under cultivation in US; 246,453 ha in 2014; 234,960 ha in 2015 and 251,593 ha in 2016, followed by Navy and Great Northern beans. Dry bean production in US during 2016 under different market classes also followed the similar trend. Pinto bean production was 539,728 tons, followed by Navy and Dark red kidney beans that produced 196,896 and 63056 tons respectively in 2016. The bean production decreased in all the market classes, significant decrease in production by 17.7% in 2016 from that of in 2014 (239,288 tons) was found in Navy beans. The highest dry bean productivity in 2016 was found in Great northern beans (2602 kg ha⁻¹), followed by light

red kideny (2577 kg ha⁻¹) and Dark red kidney beans (2456 kg ha⁻¹). The productivity in 2016 was higher than the previous years, except only for Navy beans that showed a slight decline in productivity. US also exports a large amount of dry bean produced in the country. In 2015, US exported almost 34% of total dry bean production. According to 2015 Bean Market Summary (USDA), US exported 463,299 netric tons of dry beans worldwide, mostly to Europe (134,086 metric tons) and Canada (101,179 metric tons) (National Agricultural Statistics Service (NASS), 2016).

Nitrogen metabolism in legumes

Plants can synthesize amino acids, subsequently proteins, from organic and inorganic sources of nitrogenous compounds. The most abundant source of N is the atmosphere, but the inertness of N₂ restricts its direct uptake and assimilation into amino acids. Legume plants can take part in symbiosis and can convert the dinitrogen into simple nitrogenous compounds like ammonia that can further be utilized to synthesize more complex molecules like glutamine through a process known as assimilation (Cherkasov et al., 2015).

Plants mostly uptake N as nitrate (NO₃⁻) from the soil; otherwise they uptake ammonium (NH₄⁺). Nitrate in plant body gets assimilated in a two-step process. First NO₃⁻ gets transformed into nitrite (NO₂⁻) with the help of the enzyme nitrate reductase (NR 1.6.6.1) and nitrite reductase reduces the NO₂⁻ to NH₄⁺. NH₄⁺ is assimilated into amino acids and proteins are synthesized. Plants can also produce ammonium through other metabolic processes like photorespiration, amino acid catabolism or from symbiotic N₂ fixation (Cren and Hirel, 1999).

Nitrates are primarily assimilated in the roots and influenced by age and limited root growth due to space (Márquez et al., 2007). Nitrate reductase reduces the nitrates taken up by the plant to nitrite with pyridine nucleotide, which is highly reactive. Nitrites are then readily

transported to the chloroplasts in leaves and plastids in roots where it further reduced to NH_4^+ in a reaction catalyzed by nitrite reductase (Rosales et al., 2011).

N₂ fixation

Biological N fixation (BNF), the reduction of atmospheric dinitrogen (N₂) gas into bioavailable NH₄⁺, constitutes an important source of nitrogen input in many natural ecosystems, both terrestrial and aquatic habitats (Wartiainen et al., 2008). It contributes around half of annual N inputs into the biosphere (Vitousek et al., 1997). The report of BNF was traced back to 1888 that involved fixation of N₂ by legumes (Bazhenova and Shilov, 1995). Later, this biochemical process was reported for many other prokaryotes and symbiotic systems.

In the center of this process lies an enzyme, nitrogenase, includes a family of proteins that reduce N_2 to ammonia (NH₃). The enzyme system consists of two proteins: i) 'dinitrogenase or nitrogenase' that binds the N_2 , helps in its subsequent reduction and consists of Molybdenum (Mo) and Iron (Fe); and ii) Mo-dependent 'dinitrogenase or nitrogenase reductase' that reduces the dinitrogenase proteins (Burris and Robert, 1993). Einsle et al. (2002) described central unit structure of the FeMo-protein, but its reaction mechanism is still not yet been established completely (Hoffman et al., 2013; Li et al., 2013). It is believed that the Mo-center binds N_2 and reduces it (Yandulov and Schrock, 2003; Arashiba et al., 2013), recent researches discovered that the Fe-containing complexes can also catalyze the N_2 reduction (Anderson et al., 2013).

According to the most documented mechanism of dinitrogenase-based nitrogen fixation, ATP (adenosine triphosphate) hydrolysis transfers electrons to the dinitrogenase protein that helps in stepwise reduction of N_2 to NH_3 . Two ATP molecules are needed to transfer one electron which accounts to at least 16 ATP per N_2 molecule fixed (Igarashi and Seefeldt, 2003). The reaction is given as:

$$N_2 + 8H^+ + 8e^- = 2NH_3 + H_2$$

It is evident from the above discussion that the process of N fixation requires energy to be consumed. Kammermeier et al. (1982) calculated the energy expenditure and found the values to be between 48-63 kJ mol⁻¹. Alberty (2001) did the energy calculation more precisely considering the apparent reduction potentials of biochemical reactions and the Gibb's free energy of ammonia formation was estimated to be between 63.2 and 180 kJ mol⁻¹.

Nodules are produced as the effect of symbiosis between legumes and symbiotic bacteria (rhizobia). The bacteria gets nutrient as carbonaceous substrates from the legume partner and supplies nitrogenous compounds produced from BNF back to the host- this beneficial effect is termed as 'partner fidelity feedback' and considered as an important factor for strong mutualistic relationship (Fujita et al., 2014). The root-nodule system consumes about 15-30% or more of the photosynthates produced by the plant that is used mainly for reduction of N₂ and subsequent assimilation of the NH₄⁺ product, maintenance and growth of nodules, biosynthesis and transport of nitrogenous organic compounds (Minchin et al., 1981). However, recently fixed N₂ is used to meet the N demand of nodule, approximately the half of the N need is contributed from soluble pool of N (Pate et al., 1979).

The nitrogenous solutes produced from BNF are transported to other vegetative and reproductive parts via xylem and remain as soluble N pool (Atkins et al., 1980; Pate and Atkins, 1983). If N is required by the plant, these compounds are degraded to release NH_4^+ and other by-products and reassimilated as specific complement of amino acids to synthesize other needed metabolites and macromolecules. On the other hand, insoluble pool of nitrogenous products act as reserve N and mobilized whenever the N is needed. Macromolecules (like proteins) are fed

into soluble N pool for recycling through various processes like catabolism, reassimilation and resynthesis of nitrogenous metabolites (Lea and Miflin, 1980).



Figure 2.1: Biological Nitrogen Fixation: reaction sequence of reduction of N_2 to NH_3 ; compiled from Mengel et al. (2001)

Ammonium is the first stable product of BNF, released in the host cell cytoplasm in the nodules of leguminous plants and quickly assimilated into organic N compounds for transport (Bergersen, 1965). Depending on these compounds, the legumes can be classified into amide-exporters that transport asparagine (ASN), glutamine (GLN) or 4-methyleneglutamine (MeGln); or ureide transporters that transport N as allantoin (ALN), allantoic acid (ALC) or citrulline (CIT) (Schubert, 1986). The ureides are less soluble than the amides and found in higher amounts only in tropical legumes (Sprent and Embrapa, 1980). Patterson and Larue (1983) revealed that presence of nitrate and NH₄⁺ in the rooting media influences a shift from ureide synthesis to amide synthesis, but the reverse process was not found.

N-assimilation

The inorganic N is first reduced to NH₃ before it can be assimilated as organic nitrogenous compounds in the plant system (Crawford and Arnst, 1993). Glutamine (GLN) and glutamate are the primary compounds in which the ammonia is assimilated in legumes. The N derived from the growth medium (like soil) through roots is mostly in the NO₃⁻ form, which is reduced to NH₄⁺ in two-step process. The NO₃⁻ is first reduced to NO₂⁻ in the cytosol in a reaction catalyzed by plant nitrate reductase (NR) enzyme, depending on the NO₃⁻ and light availability (Solomonson and Barber, 1990; Campbell, 1999). The NO₂⁻ is then reduced to NH₄⁺ with the help of the enzyme NR.

The major enzymes regulates NH_3 assimilation are glutamine synthetase (GS), glutamate synthase or glutaimine-2-oxoglutarate aminotransferase (GOGAT) and glutamate dehydrogenase (GDH) and present as isoenzymes encoded by distinct genes (Lam et al., 1996). Glutamine synthetase (GS; EC 6.3.1.2) is the key enzyme involved in the very first step of NH_4^+ assimilation, where it catalyzes the condensation of NH_4^+ and glutamate into glutamine with the help of another enzyme glutamate synthase in an ATP-dependent reaction (McGrath and Coruzzi, 1991; Cullimore and Bennett, 1992). There are three major sources of NH_3 in the plant and GS genes help plants to assimilate them into amino acids: NH_4^+ derived from soil solution in roots, NH_4^+ released through breakdown of the nitrogenous reserves in cotyledons during germination and NH_4^+ in the roots and cotyledons, while the NH_4^+ produced from photorespiration is assimilated by the chloroplastic GS (Lea and Joy, 1983; Gebhardt et al., 1986). In N₂-fixing plants, GS in root nodules rapidly assimilates the NH_4^+ excreted into the cytosol of the infected plant tissue before it reaches the toxic level (Atkins, 1987; Hardarson and Atkins, 2003).

There are two different types of glutamate synthase (GOGAT) in the plants: Fd-GOGAT that use ferredoxin as electron donors and NADH-GOGAT that use NADH as electron donors (Vanoni et al., 2005). Fd-GOGAT is mostly found in the chloroplasts, while NADH-GOGAT is present in the plastidic cells of non-photosynthetic tissues (like roots). The regulatory activities were extensively reviewed by Suzuki and Knaff (2005).



Figure 2.2: Nitrate and nitrite reduction; compiled from Mengel et al. (2001); NAD = Nicotinamide Adenine Dinucleotide

When Franco et al. (1979) studied N-assimilation in *Phaseolus vulgaris* L. plants, a relationship between nitrate assimilation and BNF was found. They reported that both the process benefited the plant, but maximum contribution of these two processes occur at different stages of growth. According to this report, peak nitrate reductase activity in plants followed by

maximal nitrogenase activity in common bean that differed from the phenomenon observed in soybean plants (Franco, 1977). Higher levels of NR activity in leaves after flowering was described as the ability of plants to absorb nitrates during this period. Addition of fertilizer N at flowering was also reported to be beneficial for common bean cultivars.



Figure 2.3: Nitrogen assimilation in legume plants; compiled from Hirel et al. (2011); NR: Nitrate reductase, NIR: nitrite reductase, TCA: tricarboxylic acid cycle

There was a large increase in the GS activities during nodulation along with the increased activity of nitrogenase when *Phaseolus vulgaris* L. was inoculated with *Rhizobium* (Lara et al., 1983). They stated that the increase in the activity is mostly due to a new form of enzyme in the root nodules, which was more or less similar to GS present in the roots. Robert and Wong (1986) analyzed GS isozymes in plant fractions in the root nodule extracts of 62 cultivars of common bean using polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (PAGE). The result indicated that common beans generated isozymes of GS continuously during the nodule development. Robert (1989) reported that these multiple GS isozymes were not restricted to *Phaseolus* in a similar study in tropical legumes, *Vigna unguiculata* L. and *Glycine max* L. (Merrill) inoculated with *Bradyrhizobium* spp. and *Rhizobium fredii*.

Nitrogen demand for dry bean

Dry beans can fix atmospheric dinitrogen (N_2) symbiotically, but the relationship is not too strong and mineral N fertilization is often recommended for dry beans (Dow et al., 1973). With the efficient use of nitrogenous fertilizers, potential yield can be obtained. Dry bean cultivars vary in their ability of N2 fixation, a starter N application is generally recommended as the N₂ fixed during early growth stages mostly utilized for nodule growth instead of plant growth (Sprent and Thomas, 1984). Brown and Westermann (2000) suggested that if dry bean crop follows a highly fertilized crop, generally N fertilization is not needed. Excessive N in the soil was reported to inhibit the nodulation, stimulate heavy vine growth, delay maturity, provide conditions favorable to insect activity, and enhance white mold and bacterial diseases. Dry beans are also grown following alfalfa, N fertilization is not needed as alfalfa residues release N that should fulfil dry bean N requirement. In a three-year long study, Gillard (2000) suggested that pre-plant or side banded N application increased yield in two of the years, but the yield increase was too small to pay for the cost of fertilizer N, but in the years with root rot stress, the yield response should increase. Where high amount of cereal residues are incorporated, fertilizer N should be applied either late fall after soil temperatures fall below 10°C or pre-plant in the spring as was shown for corn and sugar beets (Brown, 1988).

Dry bean cultivars differ in their response to N fertilization; cultivars with vigorous vegetative growth have higher N use efficiency as well as greater N fixation potential (Westermann et al., 1981). Early maturing cultivars were reported to be more responsive to the N fertilization than late-maturing varieties (Piha and Munns, 1987). The variability among the cultivar response due to N fertilization can be attributed to i) variable symbiotic efficiency; ii) dependence on starter N fertilizer; iii) variability in the amount and pattern of N requirement; iv)

variability in the availability of soil mineral N; v) lesser energy is needed to uptake mineral N than fix N₂ symbiotically (McKenzie et al., 2001).

Previous studies reported that dry beans can fix as much as 125 kg ha⁻¹ (Rennie and Kemp, 1982, 1984). Under irrigated conditions, Davis and Brick (2014) recommended 70 kg N ha⁻¹ for Colorado soils when inoculated for a target dry bean yield of 2800 kg ha⁻¹. They also suggested nitrogen rates for irrigated dry beans according to the concentration of ppm NO₃⁻-N in soil: 73 kg N ha⁻¹ for 0-10 ppm, 50kg N ha⁻¹ for 11-20 ppm, 28 kg N ha⁻¹ for 21-30 ppm and no N fertilization in soils having more than 30 ppm nitrate N in soil. Long et al. 2010 stated that dry bean seed has 24 percent protein and 4 percent N on an average. They calculated the N demand by the crop in a practical way. According to their calculation, to get a yield of 2250 kg ha⁻¹, the dry bean crops need at least 90 kg N ha⁻¹. Also, the plants need 25 to 45 kg N per ha for its own growth. The plants can get about 20-40% of N through symbiotic N₂ fixation, but the plants should get the rest from other sources (like from soil or fertilizer). The calculation is most appropriate for the early maturing bush varieties that need a readily available source of N to achieve the potential yield. They also suggested that residual N levels in the soils (upto 24 inches) should also be accounted while calculating the side-dressed amount of fertilizer.

Fertilizer-N rates can reduced in the irrigated dry bean growing areas if the irrigation water contains dissolved nitrates. The following equation can be helpful in calculating added N from irrigation (Hergert and Schild, 2007)

N (lbs per foot of irrigation water) = ppm nitrate-N in irrigation water $\times 2.72$

Soil NO₃⁻–N content in combination with target or expected yield, previous crop and soil organic matter (SOM) content can be used as N fertilization guide. University of Minnesota

Extension came up with an equation for N recommendation using these parameters (Kaiser et al., 2011):

$$N_{rec} = 0.06 EY - STN_{(0-24 inches)} - N_{Pc}$$

EY = expected yield (kg ha⁻¹); STN = NO₃⁻⁻N measured to a depth of 61cm (kg ha⁻¹); N_{Pc} = amount of N supplied by the previous legume crop like alfalfa or red clover (kg ha⁻¹). The authors also mentioned that these suggestions were appropriate for non-irrigated fine textured soils, but might not be appropriate for irrigated sandy soils.

Under dryland conditions in North Dakota and Minnesota, 45 kg N ha⁻¹ for inoculated crops and 80 kg ha⁻¹ for uninoculated crops considering the soil test N were recommended by Franzen (2006). According to the report, due to dry, hot weather, short periods of saturated soil conditions and cold weather results in weak symbiosis between dry bean and rhizobia. It was also reported that fertilization at a rate more than the recommended dose did not benefit the crop yield, instead, increased disease and pest insurgence and plants matured late. The author concluded that no yield potential scale was reported due to the fact that the most economic N rate was not related to yield potential; when the environmental conditions were favorable, the crop yields were higher as the soil organic matter mineralization added more N to the plant available N pool in the soils.

Potential of Rhizobium inoculation to increase yield, N uptake and N use efficiency

Legumes (order Leguminosae) can only fix N_2 in a symbiotic association of specific bacteria genera like *Rhizobium* or *Bradyrhizobium* and their population in different environments may vary (Hellriegel and Wilfarth, 1888). Only a specific *Rhizobium* species can take part in the symbiosis with a specific legume species. The specificity of bacteria and legume species for effective symbiosis is known as cross-inoculation group (Lieberman et al., 1985). Lectins, sugar

binding proteins present in the cell wall of the root cell, play a major role in recognizing the specific bacteria and then, the infection process starts (Long and Ehrhardt, 1989). Some crops may be nodulated by a number of bacteria, but the nodules become ineffective due to non-specific infection (Mhamdi et al., 2002). Through inoculation, the specific rhizobia are supplied to the soil. Many soil and environmental factors influence symbiosis like temperature, moisture, redox status etc. and the success of inoculation also depends on these factors (Mohammadi et al., 2012).

Rhizobia population and strains vary spatially; soils with higher population of rhizobia do not need inoculation, but in soils with low population density, the additional supply of viable and effective rhizobia through inoculation can result in the successful symbiosis between legumes and rhizobia (Brockwell and Bottomley, 1995; Deaker et al., 2004). However, poor symbiosis or nodulation does not always lead to poor yield as the plant can take up N from soil reserve, which in turn exploits the soil-N reserve is not sustainable (Herridge et al., 1984).

Inoculation helps in higher N₂ fixation, but N₂ fixation does not always correlate well with the seed yield (Rennie and Kemp, 1982). There are variations among the crops, their cultivars, their symbiotic efficiency and their interaction with rhizobia strains. In addition, the amount of N₂ fixed varies depending on the method of determining the N₂ fixation or the crop used as reference. Bremer et al. (1988) reported that inoculation increased dry matter yield, total plant N and BNF of all the cultivars of grain legumes under study, though the proportion of N derived from the atmosphere declined with increasing soil nitrate levels and drought stress. This study also reported that indigenous rhizobia were incapable of supporting adequate N₂ fixation, which was a major factor influencing inoculation response. However, inoculation effect on N₂ fixation in the dryland condition was also influenced by moisture availability. Singh et al. (1998)

reported that pigeon pea (Cajanus cajan) responded favorably to N fertilization and Rhizobium inoculation for grain yield when grown in a soil with low organic carbon and available N and remained statistically similar when 0, 15 or 30 kg N ha⁻¹ were added. Erman et al. (2009) showed that inoculation had significant effect on improvement in yield of field pea and the maximum yield was observed when 60 kg P₂O₅ per ha was applied along with the *Rhizobium* inoculation. Bengtsson (1991) found that inoculation and fertilizer N improved seed yield, protein content of common beans in the field where beans were never grown before. Nodule numbers decreased with N fertilization but improved significantly with inoculation. Denton et al. (2013) reported that inoculation increased nitrogen fixation in faba bean, but the increment was higher in the soils with low-N. Hynes et al. (1995) found that a liquid inoculant improved seed yields of soybean plants; and resulted in equal or better yield in pea and lentil than commercial peat based inoculants. Addition of cover inoculation with *Bradyrhizobium* in soybean during sowing or at V_3 stage improved seed yield by 50 to 90 g m⁻² as revealed in a study by Ciafardini and Lombardo (1991), but in one-month delayed sown soybeans yield increment was absent. Nleya et al. (2001) observed the response of common ban to a granular inoculant and concluded that inoculation resulted in greater nodule mass, fixed N2, and seed yield. Variable responses were found depending on the dry bean cultivars with percent N derived from atmosphere (%Ndfa) values ranged from 51 percent to 78 percent. They also reported that side-banded application of inoculation resulted in delayed maturity, which can potentially limit the feasibility of this treatment when early maturity is a required trait. Sogut (2006) showed that inoculation improved plant N content, dry matter, and seed yield compared to a fertilizer dose of 75 kg N ha⁻¹ in soybeans. His study also indicated that inoculation was more effective in late-maturing cultivars. Abi-Ghanem et al. (2011) studied the inoculation effect of commercially available strains of

rhizobia on lentils and peas. This study reported that percent of N₂ fixed was significantly correlated with number of nodules and crop variety in both lentils and peas. The authors suggested that developing varieties with high rhizobial infection rates could be a rational strategy in enhancing crop N₂ fixation. In addition, rhizobia strains affected differentially to N₂ fixation in lentils but not in peas. Rudresh et al. (2005) tested the effect of combined inoculation with Rhizobium, Trichoderma spp. and phosphate solubilizing bacteria (PSB) in chickpea for growth, nutrient use, and yield of chickpea (*Cicer arietinum*). The study revealed that this combined inoculation improved germination, nutrient uptake, vegetative growth, nodulation, dry matter and pea yield than individual inoculation and control. They also concluded that no significant inhibition was found between the introduced organisms. Afzal et al. (2010) showed that coinoculation with Bradyrhizobium and PSB increased the grain yield by 38 percent in the pot experiments and 12 percent in the field experiments. Survival efficiency was upto 48 percent higher for *Bradyrhizobium* when inoculated with PSB compared to its individual inoculation. Wang et al. (2011) reported complementary relationship between root architecture and Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi (AMF) colonization under low P status in the soil. This study indicated that co inoculation with rhizobia and AMF improved soybean dry matter and root architecture under low N and low P conditions that helped better N use efficiency.

More efficient of *Rhizobium* strains have been selected for use in crops, less effort was given to select the lines. Pereira et al. (2015) investigated common bean lines for their interaction with *Rhizobium* and ability to utilize N fertilization. They conducted eight field trials in the Brazilian savanna using 17 'carioca' elite lines. The authors reported that environmental factors influenced the symbiotic interaction and modified the elite lines' responses to N fertilization, mostly when mineral N was added.

Commercially, inoculants are specific *Rhizobium* strains in a carrier material. Peat is the most commonly used carrier material for commercial inoculants of *Rhizobium* spp., but is not available in suitable forms in many countries (Halliday and Graham, 1978). Other carrier materials include peanut-hulls, ground corn-cob, hardwood charcoal or extender polymers (Sparrow and Ham, 1983). Survival of the bacteria depends on these carrier materials. A synthetic material is advantageous over natural substances due to less variability (Dommergues et al., 1979). The quality parameters of inoculants like number of rhizobia delivered to seed is essential as quality check procedures vary with countries (Thompson, 1980; Lupwayi et al., 2000). Concentration of commercial inoculum is also an important factor for optimum N₂ fixation in different soil moisture conditions (Dean and Clark, 1977).

Wolf et al. (1982) concluded that at least ten million viable rhizobial cells per gram of peat inoculant could be considered as good quality inoculant, though it varies with the condition. Singleton and Tavares (1986) reported that native *Rhizobium* population were effective in limiting nodule dry weight as well as N₂ fixation when the indigenous rhizobia population was over certain threshold level. (Singleton et al., 1991) studied the effect of indigenous *Rhizobium* population size on the symbiotic performance of field-grown legumes under inoculation. They studied seven legume species namely soybean (*Glycine max*), lima bean (*Phaseolus lunatus*), cowpea (*Vigna unguiculata*), bush bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris*), peanut (*Arachis hypogaea*), *Leucaena leucocephala*, tinga pea (*Lathyrus tingeatus*), alfalfa (*Medicago sativa*), and clover (*Trifolium repens*) inoculated with three effective strains of homologous *rhizobia*. It was found that soybean responded more efficiently to inoculation, while cowpea failed to respond in all the trials. Lack of inoculation reported even when most of the nodules harbored the inoculation strains that indicated a necessary improvement of inoculation technology.

McKenzie et al. (2001) showed that *Rhizobia* inoculation was unable to increase seed yield and did not reduce plants response to added fertilizer N. However, inoculation improved early season plant growth. Native *Rhizobia* were reported to be more efficient in increasing seed yield and N₂ fixation for one cultivar under the study, but not for the other cultivar (Tajini et al., 2008). Evaluating *Rhizobium* viability in commercial inoculum, they also found that inoculation in one year was able to maintain *Rhizobia* population in the soil.

The main objective of farming is to get higher yield and earn more money. Inoculation does not always increase yield which is a major factor that farmers are not interested in it (Graham, 1981; Sparrow and Ham, 1983). Sometimes the seed inoculation is not feasible with the planters or other planting instruments (like air-seeder). Sometimes methods are not efficient enough to supply large number of viable bacteria (Gemmell et al., 2002).

Use of stable isotope signatures in understanding legume N metabolism

Stable isotopes are elements with different numbers of neutrons in their atoms, but they do not show radioactive properties. There are two isotopes of N, ¹⁴N and ¹⁵N, the lighter one (¹⁴N) is dominant in occurrence in the environment naturally. The ¹⁵N occurs in the atmospheric air as ¹⁵N₂ at a more or less constant abundance of 0.3663 atom % (Mariotti et al., 1983). In order to investigate the N metabolism and distribution in higher plants, scientists started using ¹⁵N isotopes. Emission spectrometer was used initially to determine the abundance of ¹⁵N but only for small-size samples such as separating individual amino acids with thin-layer chromatography (Yoneyama and Kumazawa, 1972). Subsequently, the use of Isotope-Ratio Mass Spectrometers (IRMS) became popular to analyze ¹⁵N abundance at low-enrichment and natural abundance levels precisely and more efficiently (Yoneyama et al., 2003).

The percent N derived from atmosphere (%Ndfa) or SNF by legumes can be precisely quantified under field condition only using the ¹⁵N stable isotope technique (Rennie et al., 1982). The isotope dilution technique efficiently discriminate the N derived from atmosphere through fixation and the plant available N from soil or other growing medium when an appropriate nonfixing reference plant is used in the study (Danso, 1986; Barrie, 1991a) as the estimate vary depending on the non-fixing control crop (Wagner and Zapata, 1982)). The technique is most appropriate if the %Ndfa value is more than 70 percent, but less efficient for %Ndfa values less than 30 percent (Hardarson, 1985). McAuliffe et al. (1958) used the 'Isotope dilution technique' to estimate the SNF by legume (Ladino clover) grown in association with a grass (fescue), used as a non-fixing reference plants for the first time. The major assumption was that the legume under study and the non-fixing reference plants should extract isotopically identical N from the growing medium. However, studies reported that plants of different species vary in their root growth, rate and timing of N uptake (Boller and Nösberger, 1988; Peoples et al., 1989) and as a result, there will be dilution effect triggered by mineralization of non-labelled soil N (Witty, 1983). To avoid these limitations, several precautions like use of more than one reference plant, monitoring the chemical form and the amount of ¹⁵N fertilizer applied, choosing the type and time of fertilizer application were reported (Reiter et al., 2002).

In a two-year long study, Rennie (1986) compared soil ¹⁵N labelling technique and found out that post-emergence injection of ¹⁵N tagged fertilizer in the rooting zone improves experimental precision more than pre-emergence broadcast or banded application of liquid ¹⁵N avoiding loss of fertilizers during the spring. The use of ¹⁵N natural abundance method in soils with more than 7 per mille δ^{15} N content provide better N₂ fixation estimates as they are more 'operationally uniformly' labelled with ¹⁵N. Variations in the natural abundance of ¹⁵N in the
plant tissues are good indicators of plant N uptake as natural substances have specific isotope signatures (Handley and Raven, 1992). Nodulated legumes showed negative δ^{15} N value, which indicated significant fractionation of ¹⁵N over ¹⁴N during N₂ fixation (Yoneyama, 1987). δ^{15} N values of soybean and cowpeas were found variable, sometimes up to +8.8 per mille, first observed only in ureide-exporting nodules or actively N_2 fixing nodules and the highest enrichment was found in the bacteroids (Shearer et al., 1982). Later, a study on asparagineexporting pea and broad bean reported values between +0.9 per mille and +10.4 per mille in the nodule cytosol (Yoneyama, 1988). Unkovich et al. (1994) studied clovers, pea, and lupin under south-west Australian condition to determine the precision of estimating %Ndfa. They suggested that estimates of %Ndfa were erroneous when is correct $\delta^{15}N$ values (or B-values) were chosen. They also predicted the precisions of %Ndfa estimations for situations ranging from where a legume obtained 10 to 90 percent of its total N from SNF using δ^{15} N values of reference plants in the same study, and concluded that very high δ^{15} N values in reference plants when the legume is minimally dependent on fixation. Chalk (1996) concluded that there was no evidence that 'Avalue' approach of estimating N₂ fixation was more precise or accurate than classical methods like ¹⁵N dilution method. On a contrary, erroneous results were predicted when the symbiotic dependency of the plants was low. Authors suggested that modification of simpler classical techniques with A-value approach is not justified.

The non-fixing reference plants are of much importance estimating the N_2 fixation by legume plants using isotope dilution technique. Rennie et al. (1982) reported that uninoculated plants of nodulating legumes or legumes inoculated with an ineffective strain of *Rhizobia* were best to be used as reference plants in an isotope dilution study. The non-nodulating isogenic lines reported to overestimate the %Ndfa (percent nitrogen derived from atmosphere) values and

considered as an improper reference plant while studying soybean plants. Barley (*Hordeum vulgare*) was also found to be useful as reference plant. Bremer et al. (1988) suggested that wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) also performed similarly as a reference plant in N₂ fixation studies.

Methods involving ¹⁵N were the most recommendable techniques to understand N dynamics in the plant system, although no method is precise as they are influenced by several factors that influence their efficiencies (Valles et al., 2003). Initial stable isotope studies involving ¹⁵N₂ suggested that NH₄⁺ was assimilated by the reaction catalyzed by an enzyme glutamate dehydrogenase, but a study on soybean using ¹³N₂, a short lived radioisotope of N, proved that NH₄⁺ is first attached to the amide position of glutamine synthetase (Meeks et al., 1978). When fed with ¹⁵NO₃⁻ from petioles in soybean leaves, results from SIMS (Secondary Ion Mass Spectrometry) analysis suggested that first transported to epidermis and then to bundle sheath and mesophyll cells by symplasmic transport for the synthesis of amino acids (Grigron et al., 1999). Biological effects and toxicological hazards of chemicals and contaminated samples on plant metabolism were assessed by a stable isotope method known as ESIMA (Ecotoxicological Stable Isotope Metabolic Assay) using ¹⁵N stable isotope in epicotyl tissues of *Pisum arvense* (Jung et al., 1999). The test is reproducible and very sensitive, hence can be a promising toxicity indicator test.

The primary organic compounds produced from N assimilation pathways are glutamine (GLN) and glutamate (GLU). A study reported that when ¹⁵NO₃⁻ was supplied to the plant leaves, GLN and GLU, NH₄⁺, aspartate (ASP) and asparagine (ASN) were produced as main products (Yoneyama et al., 2003). Labelling of GLN was found to be stronger and quicker than GLU, which indicates that GLU is produced from GLN (Thorpe et al., 1989). Respiration provides carbon skeleton for GLU synthesis, NADH for the nitrate reductase (NR) and ATP for

Glutamine synthetase. Relative ¹³C-depletion of glutamate compared to asparagine that originated from oxaloacetate (OAA) synthesized from phosphoenolpyruvate carboxylase (PEPC) activity was reported in another study (Tcherkez and Farquhar, 2006). The report suggested that during GLU synthesis, 2-oxoglutarate molecules were provided via Krebs cycle, as earlier proposed by Gálvez et al. (1999). Yoneyama and Ishizuka (1982) studied soybean plants for primary distribution of N using the ${}^{15}NH_4^+$ and ${}^{15}NO_3^-$ in culture solution and ${}^{15}N_2$ from atmosphere. They reported that ¹⁵N₂ was fixed in the root nodules and quickly transported to the developing leaves and petioles; while the NH4⁺ was retained in the roots after its absorption and later transported to the developing leaves and petioles; ¹⁵NO₃⁻ was distributed in a similar way. They concluded that the difference in the distribution in the soybean plants might be due to the differences in the major forms of ¹⁵N transported in the xylem. Ureides that produced in the nodules containing the fixed N₂, were the major N-transporting forms in N₂ fixing soybean plants. Nitrates were mostly transported to the shoot as nitrate and asparagine; and ammonium as glutamine and asparagine. These results were confirmed as ¹⁵N-labelled asparagine, allantoin and NO₃⁻ were fed to detached shoots at the vegetative and pod-filling stage. It was found that 85 percent and 88 percent of the plant fixed N₂ was distributed in the plants during vegetative stage and grain-filling stage respectively, the rest amount remained in the nodules where it incorporated in insoluble N compounds. The study also revealed that the fixed N₂ in roots were mostly recycled while the root protein N fraction that originated from the NO₃⁻-N came through two different processes; either through direct assimilation in the roots or through retransfer from the shoots. Pausch et al. (1996) used ¹⁵N isotope to study effects of O₃ on N uptake, fixation and partitioning in soybeans. They found that exposure of plants to the O₃ at R₂ growth stage

decreased N₂ fixation and increased soil N uptake due to reduced photosynthate translocation to the nodules, but the total N and N% in organs were not affected.

Molecular tools to understand and improve legume N metabolism and inoculation response

The N₂ fixing microorganisms contain a special enzyme called nitrogenase that catalyzes the BNF, which has two components: MoFe protein (nitrogenase) and iron protein (nitrogenase reductase). Nitrogenase is a complex enzyme and composed of a heterotetrameric core encoded by *nifD* and *nifK* genes; while nitrogenase reductase is encoded by the *nifH* gene, a marker for biological N₂ fixation (Stacey et al. 1992; Peters et al., 1995) and used for studying the ecology and evolution of N₂ fixing bacteria (Raymond et al., 2004).

The *nifH* gene product (the polypeptide of the nitrogenase Fe protein) was found to have a molecular weight of 33,000 (Fuhrmann and Hennecke, 1984). The complete nucleotide sequence of the *nifH* gene was established, and the amino acid sequence of its gene product was deduced. The reading frame is 882 nucleotides long, corresponding to 294 amino acids, which add up to a polypeptide with a molecular weight of 31,525. There was extensive sequence homology with *nifH* genes or gene products from other N₂ fixing bacteria. Hong et al. (2012) did phylogenetic analysis of three *nifH* gene clusters in *Paenibacillus sabinae* T27 and revealed that all the three genes were expressed when N₂ fixation is going on.

It was reported that nitrogenase genes and 16S rRNA evolved parallel within a bacterium and subsequently proposed that *nifH*, *nifD* and *nifK* genes have evolved with the N₂ fixing bacteria harbored them (Hennecke et al., 1985). This theory argued that *nifH* genes might have evolved mostly depending on the bacterial evolution that carried them instead of horizontal *nif* genes transfer at the early stages of the prokaryotic evolution. Eardly et al. (1995) reported that *R. leguminoserum* 16S rRNA allele occurred in three distantly related group of strains, but could

not come up with a satisfactory explanation. However, they concluded that the theory of full or partial recombination of genes and their horizontal transfer can be a reasonable explanation, but additional genetic evidence is needed to explain the evolutionary relationships of symbiotic partners of nodulating plants. Phylogenetic study on Phaseolus symbionts revealed that symbiotic genes are closely related with each other irrespective of their 16S rRNA based classification (Laguerre et al., 2001). This study also supported the fact that lateral gene transfer across rhizobial species, sometimes across *Rhizobium* and *Sinorhizobium* genera, is important in diversification and in structuring natural rhizobia population. Another study on phylogeny and genetic diversity of native rhizobia nodulating common bean plants revealed that symbiotic genes originated from a common ancestor different from the core genome of the species and supported the theory of horizontal gene transfer (Aserse et al., 2012).

The detection of *nifH* amplified from mRNA indicates the presence of N₂ fixing bacteria as well as evidence of N₂ fixation in plants (Young, 1992). Another study proved that N₂-fixation is not a genetic trait for most of the uncultured bacteria (Rösch et al., 2002). A diverse group of bacteria can nodulate the common bean plants and currently classified under three species: *Rhizobium leguminoserum* biovar *phaseoli*, *R. etli* bv. *phaseoli* and *R. tropici* (Jordan, 1984; Martínez-Romero et al., 1991; Segovia et al., 1993). Furthermore, two new *Rhizobium* genomic species (Laguerre et al. 1993) and other unclassified genotypes (Pinero et al. 1988; Martínez-Romero et al. 1991) were isolated from the common bean nodules (Piñero et al., 1988; Martínez-Romero et al., 1991; Laguerre et al., 1993). It has become more and more evident that the plants can be nodulated by more than one *Rhizobium* species and symbiotic performance can no longer be used to differentiate between species. Variations in 16S rRNA of different *Rhizobium* species were studied using RFLP (Restriction Fragment Length polymorphism) analysis amplified by PCR (Polymerase Chain reaction) technique and it was found that PCR-RFLP method can be used as a rapid tool to identify the root-nodule isolates and can detect new taxa of nodulating partners (Laguerre et al., 1994). Furthermore, it was also reported that a modified form of RNA polymerase was involved in recognizing the *nif* promoters (Ow et al., 1983).

The genetic diversity present in a microsymbiont population and factors other than indigenous soil rhizobia population like dominance of few specific bacterial strains play a major role in the selection symbiotic partner by common bean plants (Junier et al., 2014). A study on different cultivars of dry beans revealed the fact that the cultivar showing higher *nifH* gene expression also fixed high amount of N₂ from atmosphere (Akter et al. 2014). This study concluded that the *nifH* gene expression study could be a useful tool to select dry bean cultivars with high N₂ fixing potential.

Plant flavonoids induce *nod* genes in the bacteria that regulates the *nod* factor synthesis (Perret et al., 2000). *Nod* factors are the main nodulation signal molecules; type and quantity of *nod* factors determine the host specificity. Though rhizobia with different *nod* genes produce different *nod* factors can effectively nodulate the same plant as in case of *Rhizobium etli* bv. *phaseoli* and *Rhizobium tropici*; they both effectively nodulate common bean plants (Poupot et al., 1993). The production of flavonoid *nod* gene inducers is influenced by environmental factors like plant fertility, pH and *nod* factors (Schmidt et al., 1994). *nod*ABCD genes are found in all rhizobia and it was found that the *nod* genes were highly conserved among distantly related rhizobia when nod gene sequences were analyzed (Debellé et al., 2001). This result indicated that these genes might have monophyletic origin and through horizontal gene transfer processes, transmitted to non-symbiotic bacteria. The authors also stated that these nodulation genes regulates specific biosynthesis and secretion of lipo-chitooligosaccharides, also known as the nod

factors, which even at a very low concentration can influence the symbiotic responses of a host plant.

Most of the energy for NO_3^- assimilation was derived from the plant photosynthesis, which was postulated to be the reason behind the light regulation of *NR* activity and *NR* gene expression and supported by earlier researchers (Lillo et al., 1996; Provan and Lillo, 1999). The transcription of *NR* is regulated through one or more elements in the promoter as studies identified transduction mutants with abnormal *NR* transcription (Ogawa et al., 2000). NR enzyme activity and *NR* gene expression in cytoplasm was found to be controlled by the electron flow from photosynthesis (Sherameti et al., 2002). This study demonstrated that the *NR* gene was activated by the oxidized state of a component involved in electron transport.

Specific and quantitative abundance of mRNA related to cytosolic and chloroplastic *GS* cDNAs were studied using 'RNase protection technique' during nodulation (Bennett et al., 1989). They also reported the sequence of a full length *GS* gene clone ($pcGS-\gamma 1$) isolated from a root-nodule cDNA library of dry bean. The researchers also suggested that the γ -polypeptide was actually a 'nodulin' protein, like leghemoglobin and other nodule-specific proteins, though the expression is not truly nodule-specific. They concluded that the kinetic properties of the encoded isozymes and their cellular and sub-cellular locations played key role in determining the physiological functions of the GS polypeptides. Roche et al. (1993) found that two different classes of the cytosolic *GS* genes were expressed in soybean nodules: one of them was nodule specific and only expressed in the nodules; but the other one was also expressed in roots, leaves and cotyledons (Roche et al., 1993). Nodule specific *GS* genes have been reported that those nodule specific genes were expressed in other plant organs but at greatly reduced levels (Swarup

et al., 1990). Morey et al., (2002) investigated the cytosolic GS gene in soybean using 'Genomic Southern analysis' and identified three distinct classes of GS genes: α , β , γ . The authors suggested that the α forms were major isoforms in cotyledons and young roots, while the β forms were found to be nodule specific. The γ genes were divided into 2 subclasses; the γ_1 was more nodule specific whereas the γ_2 , although nodule–enhanced, also expressed in cotyledons and flowers. Seabra et al. (2010) reported that Medicago trancatula contains an extra GS gene that encodes a plastid-located isozyme, was functional and expressed in developing seeds. To study the functionality of the genes, RT-PCR was done using specific primers, $elf l - \alpha$ was used as a housekeeping genes for the study. They also concluded that this gene duplication might be exclusive to the legume seed metabolism related to storage protein accumulation. In another study (Seabra et al. 2013), the authors quantified individual GS transcripts using qRT-PCR (quantitative reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction); and GS polypeptides and holoenzymes were evaluated by Western Blots and in-gel native electrophoresis (Seabra et al., 2013). They demonstrated that the GS gene expression are moderated during a diurnal cycle and the glutamine synthetase proteins were incorporated into complexes that assemble into a specific composition in the specific plant organs.

From the above discussion, it is evident that there are several aspects regarding SNF in dry bean that are not well explained. Three specific research objectives were hypothesized i) to compare the efficiency of ureide method and isotope dilution technique in determining SNF in dry bean, ii) to check if rhizobia inoculation can improve SNF in dry bean cultivars commercially grown in the northern great plains, and iii) to understand the expression dynamics of the genes related to SNF and N-assimilation and correlate the genotypic expression with the amount of N_2 fixed.

References

- Abi-Ghanem, R., L. Carpenter-Boggs, and J.L. Smith. 2011. Cultivar effects on nitrogen fixation in peas and lentils. Biol. Fertil. Soils 47(1): 115–120.
- Afzal, A., A. Bano, and M. Fatima. 2010. Higher soybean yield by inoculation with N-fixing and P-solubilizing bacteria. Agron. Sustain. Dev. 30(2): 487–495.
- Akibonde, S., and M. Maredia. 2011. Global and regional trends in production, trade and consumption of food legume crops.
- Alberty, R.A. 2001. Effect of temperature on standard transformed Gibbs energies of formation of reactants at specified pH and ionic strength and apparent equilibrium constants of biochemical reactions. J. Phys. Chem. B 105(32): 7865–7870.
- Anderson, J.S., J. Rittle, and J.C. Peters. 2013. Catalytic conversion of nitrogen to ammonia by an iron model complex. Nature 501(7465): 84–87.
- Arashiba, K., S. Kuriyama, K. Nakajima, and Y. Nishibayashi. 2013. Preparation and reactivity of a dinitrogen-bridged dimolybdenum-tetrachloride complex. Chem. Commun. 49(95): 11215.
- Aserse, A.A., L.A. Räsänen, F. Assefa, A. Hailemariam, and K. Lindström. 2012. Phylogeny and genetic diversity of native rhizobia nodulating common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) in Ethiopia. Syst. Appl. Microbiol. 35(2): 120–131.
- Atkins, C.A. 1987. Metabolism and translocation of fixed nitrogen in the nodulated legume. Plant Soil 100(1): 157–169.
- Atkins, C. a, J.S. Pate, G.J. Griffiths, and S.T. White. 1980. Economy of Carbon and Nitrogen in Nodulated and Non-nodulated (NO₃-grown) Cowpea [*Vigna unguiculata* (L.) Walp.]. Plant Physiol. 66: 978–983.
- Barrie, A. 1991. New methodologies in stable isotope analysis. Vienna, Austria.
- Bazhenova, T.A., and A.E. Shilov. 1995. Nitrogen fixation in solution. Coord. Chem. Rev. 144(C): 69–145.
- Beebe, S. 2006. Successes and Challenges in Improving Common Bean Productivity. Bean Improv. Proj. Int. Cent. Trop. Agric. (CIAT), Colomb.Available at http://www.cgiar.org/pdf/Beebe- Summary-Challenges in Bean improvement.pdf.
- Bengtsson, A. 1991. Field experiments with inoculation and nitrogen fertilization of kidney beans (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.). Swedish J. Agric. Res. 21: 63–66.
- Bennett, M., D. Lightfoot, and J. Cullimore. 1989. cDNA sequence and differential expression of the gene encoding the glutamine synthetase γ polypeptide ofPhaseolus vulgaris L. Plant Mol. Biol. 12: 553–565.

- Bergersen, F.J. 1965. Ammonia-An Early Stable Product of Nitrogen Fixation by Soybean Root Nodules. Aust. J. Biol. Sci 18: 1–9.
- Boller, B.C., and J. Nösberger. 1988. Influence of dissimilarities in temporal and spatial Nuptake patterns on ¹⁵N-based estimates of fixation and transfer of N in ryegrass-clover mixtures. Plant Soil 112(2): 167–175.
- Bremer, E., R.J. Rennie, and D.A. Rennie. 1988. Dinitrogen Fixation of Lentil, Field Pea and Fababean under Dryland Conditions. Can. J. Soil. Sci. 68: 553–562.
- Brown, B.. 1988. Wheat Straw Management And Nitrogen Fertilizer Requirements. Idaho.
- Brown, B., and D. Westermann. 2000. Soil Fertility and Bean Production. Parma, Idaho.
- Burris, R.H., and G.P. Robert. 2015. Biological Nitrogen Fixation. Annu. Rev. Nutr 13: 1–1196.
- Campbell, W.H. 1999. Nitrate Reductase Structure, Function and Regulation: Bridging the Gap between Biochemistry and Physiology. Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol. 50(1): 277–303.
- Chalk, P.M. 1996. Estimation of N₂ fixation by ¹⁵N isotope dilution The A-value approach. Soil Biol. Biochem. 28(9): 1123–1130.
- Cherkasov, N., A.O. Ibhadon, and P. Fitzpatrick. 2015. A review of the existing and alternative methods for greener nitrogen fixation. Chem. Eng. Process. Process Intensif. 90: 24–33.
- Ciafardini, G., and G.M. Lombardo. 1991. Nodulation, Dinitrogen, Fixation, and Yield Improvement in Second-Crop Soybean Cover-Inoculated with *Bradyrhizobium japonicum*. Agron. J. 83: 622–625.
- Crawford, N.M., and H.N. Arnst. 1993. The Molecular Genetics of Nitrate Assimilation. Annu. Rev. Genet. 27: 115–146.
- Cren, M., and B. Hirel. 1999. Glutamine synthetase in higher plants: Regulation of gene and protein expression from the organ to the cell. Plant Cell Physiol. 40(12): 1187–1193.
- Cullimore, J. V., and M.J. Bennett. 1992. Nitrogen assimilation in the legume root nodule: current status of the molecular biology of the plant enzymes. Can. J. Microbiol. 38(6): 461–466.
- Danso, S.K.A. 1986. Estimation of N₂-fixation by isotope dilution: An appraisal of techniques involving 15N enrichment and their application—Comments. Soil Biol. Biochem. 18(3): 243–244.

Davis, J.G., and M.A. Brick. 2014. Fertilizing Dry Beans. 9-11.

- Dean, J.R., and K.W. Clark. 1977. Nodulation, acetylene reduction and yield of faba beans as affected by inoculum concentration and soil nitrate level. Can. J. Plant Sci. 54: 1055–1061.
- Debellé, F., L. Moulin, B. Mangin, J. Dénarié, and C. Boivin. 2001. nod Genes and Nod signals and the evolution of the rhizobium legume symbiosis. Acta Biochim. Pol. 48(2): 359– 365.
- Denton, M.D., D.J. Pearce, and M.B. Peoples. 2013. Nitrogen contributions from faba bean (*Vicia faba* L.) reliant on soil rhizobia or inoculation. Plant Soil 365(1–2): 363–374.
- Dommergues, Y., H.G. Diem, and C. Divies. 1979. Polyacrylamide-Entrapped *Rhizobium* as an Inoculant for Legumes. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 37(4): 779–781.
- Dow, A.I., S. Roberts, and R. Hintze. 1973. 1970 fertilizer trials on irrigated beans in central Washington. Wash Agr Exp Sta Circ: 14.
- Eardly, B.D., F.S. Wang, T.S. Whittam, and R.K. Selander. 1995. Species limits in Rhizobium populations that nodulate the common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris*). These include : Species Limits in *Rhizobium* Populations That Nodulate the Common Bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris*). 61(2): 507–512.
- Einsle, O., F.A. Tezcan, S.A. Andrade, B. Schmid, M. Yoshida, J.B. Howard, and D.C. Rees. 2002. Nitrogenase MoFe-protein at 1.16 A resolution: a central ligand in the FeMocofactor. Science. 297(September): 1696–1701.
- Erman, M., B. Yildirim, N. Togay, and F. Cig. 2009. Effect of phosphorus application and *Rhizobium* inoculation on the yield, nodulation and nutrient uptake in field pea (*Pisum sativum* sp. arvense L.). J. Anim. Vet. Adv. 8(2): 301–304.
- Franco, A. 1977. Nutritional restraints for tropical grain legume symbiosis [Nitrogen fixation, fertilization]. AGRIS: 237–252.
- Franco, a a, J.C. Pereira, and C. a Neyra. 1979. Seasonal Patterns of Nitrate Reductase and Nitrogenase Activities in *Phaseolus vulgaris* L. Plant Physiol. 63(3): 421–4.
- Franzen, D. 2006. Fertilizing Pinto, Navy and other dry edible beans. NDSU extension, Fargo.
- Fuhrmann, M., and H. Hennecke. 1984. Rhizobium japonicum nitrogenase Fe protein gene (*nifH*). J. Bacteriol. 158(3): 1005–1011.
- Fujita, H., S. Aoki, and M. Kawaguchi. 2014. Evolutionary dynamics of nitrogen fixation in the legume-rhizobia symbiosis. PLoS One 9(4).
- Gálvez, S., M. Lancien, and M. Hodges. 1999. Are isocitrate dehydrogenases and 2-oxoglutarate involved in the regulation of glutamate synthesis? Trends Plant Sci. 4(12): 1360-1385.

- Gebhardt, C., J.E. Oliver, B.G. Forde, R. Saarelainen, and B.J. Miflin. 1986. Primary structure and differential expression of glutamine synthetase genes in nodules, roots and leaves of *Phaseolus vulgaris*. EMBO J. 5(7): 1429–35.
- Gemmell, G., E. Hartley., and D. Herridge. 2002. Point of sale evaluation of preinoculated seed. In 13th Australian Nitrogen Fixation Conference. Australian Society for Nitrogen Fixation, Adelaide, Australia.
- Gillard, C.L. 2000. The Response of Five Edible Beans Market Classes to Nitrogen Placement and Timing Final Report - March , 2000.
- Graf, W., J. Voss, and P. Nyabyenda. 1991. Climbing bean introduced in Rwanda. Planned Change in Farming System: Progress in On-Farm Research. John Wiley & Sons, London.
- Graham, P.H. 1981. Some problems of nodulation and symbiotic nitrogen fixation in *Phaseolus* vulgaris L.: A review. F. Crop. Res. 4(C): 93–112.
- Grigron, N., J. Jeusset, E. Lebean, C. Moro, A. Gojon, and P. Eragu. 1999. SIMS localization of nitrogen in the leaf of soybean: basis of quantitative procedures by localized measurements of isotopic ratios. J. Trace Microprobe Tech. 17: 477–490.
- Halliday, J., and P.H. Graham. 1978. Coal compared to peat as a carrier of rhizobia. Turrialba 28: 348–349.
- Handley, L.L., and J.A. Raven. 1992. The use of natural abundance of nitrogen isotopes in plant physiology and ecology. Plant. Cell Environ. 15(9): 965–985.
- Hardarson, G. 1985. Biological Nitrogen Fixation of Grain Legumes. The Use of ¹⁵N Methodology to Assess N₂ Fixation and Guidelines for Improvement of N₂ Fixation in Grain Legumes. FAO/IAEA Agric. Biotech. Lab, Seibersdorf.
- Hardarson, G., and C. Atkins. 2003. Optimising biological N₂ fixation by legumes in farming systems. Plant Soil 252(1): 41–54.
- Hellriegel, H., and H. Wilfarth. 1888. Untersuchungen über die Stickstoffnahrung der Gramineen und Leguminosen. Buchdruckerei der "Post" Kayssler, Berlin.
- Hennecke, H., K. Kaluza, B. Thöny, M. Fuhrmann, W. Ludwig, and E. Stackebrandt. 1985. Concurrent evolution of nitrogenase genes and 16S rRNA in *Rhizobium* species and other nitrogen fixing bacteria. Arch. Microbiol. 142(4): 342–348.
- Hergert, G.W., and J.A. Schild. 2007. Fertilizer Management for Dry Edible Beans. Lincoln.
- Hoffman, B.M., D. Lukoyanov, D.R. Dean, and L.C. Seefeldt. 2013. Nitrogenase: A draft mechanism. Acc. Chem. Res. 46(2): 587–595.
- Hong, Y., Y. Ma, L. Wu, M. Maki, W. Qin, and S. Chen. 2012. Characterization and analysis of nifH genes from Paenibacillus sabinae T27. Microbiol. Res. 167(10): 596–601.

- Hynes, R.K., K.A. Craig, D. Covert, R.J. Rennie, and R.S. Smith. 1995. Liquid Rhizobia Inoculants for Lentil and Field Pea. J. Prod. Agric. 8(4): 547–552.
- Igarashi, R.Y., and L.C. Seefeldt. 2003. Nitrogen Fixation: The Mechanism of the Mo-Dependent Nitrogenase. Crit. Rev. Biochem. Mol. Biol. 38(4): 351–384.
- Jordan, D.C. 1984. Rhizobiaceae. p. 234–242. *In* Krieg, N., Holt, J. (eds.), Bergey's Manual of Systematic Bacteriology. 1st ed. Williams and Wilkins, Baltimore.
- Jung, K., K. Kaletta, H. Segner, and G. Schüürmann. 1999. 15N Metabolic test for the determination of phytotoxic effects of chemicals and contaminated environmental samples. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 6(2): 72–76.
- Junier, P., M. Alfaro, R. Guevara, K.P. Witzel, and M. Carú. 2014. Genetic diversity of Rhizobium present in nodules of Phaseolus vulgaris L. cultivated in two soils of the central region in Chile. Appl. Soil Ecol. 80: 60–66.
- Kaiser, D.E., J.A. Lamb, and R. Eliason. 2011. Fertilizer Recommendations for Agronomic Crops in Minnesota-Dried Edible Beans, University of Minnesota Extension, Twin Cities.
- Kammermeier, H., P. Schmidt, and E. Jüngling. 1982. Free energy change of ATP-hydrolysis: a causal factor of early hypoxic failure of the myocardium? J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 14(5): 267–277.
- Laguerre, G., M.-R. Allard, F. Revoy, and N. Amarger. 1994. Rapid Identification of Rhizobia by Restriction Fragment Length Polymorphism Analysis of PCR-Amplified 16S rRNA Genes. Appl. Envir. Microbiol. 60(1): 56–63.
- Laguerre, G., M.P. Fernandez., V. Edel., P. Normand., and N. Amarger. 1993. Genomic heterogeneity among French Rhizobium strains isolated from Phaseolus vulgaris L. Int. J. Syst. Bacteriol. 43: 761–767.
- Laguerre, G., G. Laguerre, S.M. Nour, S.M. Nour, V. Macheret, V. Macheret, J. Sanjuan, J. Sanjuan, P. Drouin, P. Drouin, N. Amarger, and N. Amarger. 2001. Classification of rhizobia based on *nodC* and *nifH* gene analysis reveals a close phylogenetic relationship among *Phaseolus vulgaris* symbionts. Microbiology 147(2001): 981–993.
- Lam, H.-M., K.T. Coschigano, I.C. Oliveira, R. Melo-Oliveira, and G.M. Coruzzi. 1996. the Molecular-Genetics of Nitrogen Assimilation Into Amino Acids in Higher Plants. Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol. 47(1): 569–593.
- Lara, M., J. V. Cullimore, P.J. Lea, B.J. Miflin, A.W.B. Johnston, and J.W. Lamb. 1983. Appearance of a novel form of plant glutamine synthetase during nodule development in *Phaseolus vulgaris* L. Planta 157(3): 254–258.

- Lea, P.J., and K.W. Joy. 1983. Amino Acid Interconversion in Germinating Seeds. p. 77–109. In Nozzolillo, C., Lea, P.J., Loewus, F.A. (eds.), Mobilization of Reserves in Germination. Springer US, Boston, MA.
- Lea, P.J., and B.J. Miflin. 1980. Transport and Metabolism of Asparagine and Other Nitrogen Compounds within the Plant. p. 569–607. *In* Amino Acids and Derivatives. Elsevier.
- Li, Y., Y. Li, B. Wang, Y. Luo, D. Yang, P. Tong, J. Zhao, L. Luo, Y. Zhou, S. Chen, F. Cheng, and J. Qu. 2013. Ammonia formation by a thiolate-bridged diiron amide complex as a nitrogenase mimic. Nat. Chem. 5: 320.
- Lieberman, M.T., L.M. Mallory, S. Simkins, and M. Alexander. 1985. Numerical taxonomic analysis of cross-inoculation patterns of legumes and *Rhizobium*. Plant Soil 84(2): 225– 244.
- Lillo, C., L.H. Smith, H.G. Nimmo, and M.B. Wilkins. 1996. Regulation of nitrate reductase and phosphoenolpyruvate carboxylase activities in barley leaf protoplasts. Planta 200(2): 181–185.
- Long, S.R., and D.W. Ehrhardt. 1989. New route to a sticky subject. Nature 338: 545.
- Long, R., S. Temple, J. Schmierer, M. Canevari, and R.D. Meyer. 2010. Common dry bean production in California. Univ. Calif. Veg. Res. Inf. Cent. 8402(February): 16.
- Lupwayi, N.Z., P.E. Olsen, E.S. Sande, H.H. Keyser, M.M. Collins, P.W. Singleton, and W.A. Rice. 2000. Inoculant quality and its evaluation. F. Crop. Res. 65(2–3): 259–270.
- Mariotti, A.J., F. Mariotti, and N. Amarger. 1983. Use of natural ¹⁵N abundance in the measurement of symbiotic fixation. In: Nuclear techniques in improving pasture management. Vienna, Austria.
- Márquez, A.J., M. Betti, A. Credali, P. Díaz, O. Borsani, and J. Monza. 2007. Nitrogen metabolism in *Lotus japonicus* and the relationship with drought stress. 37(October): 99–101.
- Martínez-Romero, E., L. Segovia, F.M. Mercante, a a Franco, P. Graham, and M. a Pardo. 1991. Rhizobium tropici, a novel species nodulating *Phaseolus vulgaris* L. beans and Leucaena sp. trees. Int. J. Syst. Bacteriol. 41(3): 417–426.
- McAuliffe, C., D.S. Chamblee, H. Uribe-Arango, and W.W. Woodhouse. 1958. Influence of Inorganic Nitrogen on Nitrogen Fixation by Legumes as Revealed by N¹⁵. Agron. J. 50(6): 334–337.
- McGrath, R.B., and G.M. Coruzzi. 1991. A gene network controlling glutamine and asparagine biosynthesis in plants. Plant J. 1(3): 275–280.
- McKenzie, R.H., A.B. Middleton, K.W. Seward, R. Gaudiel, C. Wildschut, and E. Bremer. 2001. Fertilizer responses of dry bean in southern Alberta. Can. J. Plant Sci. 81(2): 343–350.

- Meeks, J.C., C.P. Wolk, N. Schilling, P.W. Shaffer, Y. Avissar, and W.S. Chien. 1978. Initial organic products of fixation of ¹³N dinitrogen by root nodules of soybean (*Glycine max*). Plant Physiol. 61(6): 980.
- Mengel, K., E.A. Kirkby, H. Kosegarten, and T. Appel. 2001. Nitrogen. p. 397–434. In Mengel, K., Kirkby, E.A., Kosegarten, H., Appel, T. (eds.), Principles of Plant Nutrition. Springer Netherlands, Dordrecht.
- Mhamdi, R., G. Laguerre, M.E. Aouani, M. Mars, and N. Amarger. 2002. Different species and symbiotic genotypes of field rhizobia can nodulate *Phaseolus vulgaris* in Tunisian soils. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 41(1): 77–84.
- Minchin, F.R., R.J. Summerfield, P. Hadley, E.H. Roberts, and S. Rawsthorne. 1981. Carbon and nitrogen nutrition of nodulated roots of grain legumes. Plant. Cell Environ. 4(1): 5–26.
- Mohammadi, K., Y. Sohrabi, G. Heidari, S. Khalesro, and M. Majidi. 2012. Effective factors on biological nitrogen fixation. African J. Agric. Res. 7(12): 1782–1788.
- Morey, K.J., J.L. Ortega, and C. Sengupta-Gopalan. 2002. Cytosolic glutamine synthetase in soybean is encoded by a multigene family, and the members are regulated in an organ-specific and developmental manner. Plant Physiol. 128(1): 182–193.
- National Agricultural Statistics Service (NASS). 2016. Agricultural Statistics Board.(accessed 17th December, 2017)
- Nedumaran, S., P. Abinaya, P. Jyosthnaa, B. Shraavya, P. Rao, and C. Bantilan. 2015. Grain Legumes Production, Consumption and Trade Trends in Developing Countries. ICRISAT Res. Program, Mark. Institutions Policies Work. Pap. Ser. 502(60): 4–7.
- Nleya, T., F. Walley, and a. Vandenberg. 2001. Response of four common bean cultivars to granular inoculant in a short-season dryland production system. Can. J. Plant Sci. 81(3): 385–390.
- Ogawa, K., R. Soutome, K. Hiroyama, T. Hagio, S. Ida, H. Nakagawa, and A. Komamines. 2000. Co-regulation of nitrate reductase and nitrite reductase in cultured spinach cells. J. Plant Physiol. 157(3): 299–306.
- Ow, D.W., V. Sundaresan, D.M. Rothstein, S.E. Brown, and F.M. Ausubel. 1983. Promoters regulated by the *glnG* (*ntrC*) and *nifA* gene products share a heptameric consensus sequence in the -15 region. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 80(9): 2524–8.
- Pate, J.S., and C. a Atkins. 1983. Xylem and Phloem Transport and the Functional Economy of Carbon and Nitrogen of a Legume Leaf. Plant Physiol 71(4): 835–840.
- Pate, J.S., D.B. Layzell, and C. a Atkins. 1979. Economy of Carbon and Nitrogen in a Nodulated and Nonnodulated (NO₃-grown) Legume. Plant Physiol. 64(6): 1083–1088.

- Patterson, T.G., and T.A. Larue. 1983. N₂ Fixation (C₂H₂) and Ureide Content of Soybeans: Environmental Effects and Source-Sink Manipulations. Crop Sci. 23(5): 819–824.
- Pausch, R.C., C.L. Mulchi, E.H. Lee, I.N. Forseth, and L.H. Slaughter. 1996. Use of C-13 and N-15 isotopes to investigate O-3 effects on C and N metabolism in soybeans .1. C fixation and translocation. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 59(1–2): 69–80.
- Peoples, M.B., A.W. Faizah, B. Rerkasem, and D.F. Herridge (Eds). 1989. Methods for Evaluating Nitrogen Fixation by Nodulated Legumes in the Field. Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research, Canberra.
- Pereira, H.S., L.C. Melo, L.C. Faria, E.P.B. Ferreira, F.M. Mercante, A. Wendland, and T.L.P.O. Souza. 2015. Common bean elite lines cultivated under nitrogen fertilization and inoculation with Rhizobium tropici. Ciência Rural 45(12): 2168–2173.
- Perret, X., C. Staehelin, and W.J. Broughton. 2000. Molecular Basis of Symbiotic Promiscuity. Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev. 64(1): 180–201.
- Peters, J.W., K. Fisher, and D.R. Dean. 1995. Nitrogenase structure and function: a biochemicalgenetic perspective. Annu. Rev. Microbiol. 49: 335–366.
- Piha, M.I., and D.N. Munns. 1987. Nitrogen fixation potential of beans (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) compared with other grain legumes under controlled conditions. Plant Soil 98(2): 169– 182.
- Piñero, D., D. Piñero, E. Martinez, E. Martinez, R.K. Selander, and R.K. Selander. 1988. Genetic diversity and relationship among isolates of *Rhizobium leguminosarum* biovar phaseoli. 54(11): 2825–2832.
- Poupot, R., E. Martinez-Romero., and J.C. Prome. 1993. Nodulation factors from *Rhizobium* tropici are sulfated or nonsulfated chitopentasaccharides containing an N-methyl-Nacylglucosamine terminus. Biochemistry 32: 10430–10435.
- Provan, F., and C. Lillo. 1999. Photosynthetic Post-Translational Activation of Nitrate Reductase. J. Plant Physiol. 154(5–6): 605–609.
- Raymond, J., J.L. Siefert, C.R. Staples, and R.E. Blankenship. 2004. The natural history of nitrogen fixation. Mol. Biol. Evol. 21: 541–554.
- Reiter, K., K. Schmidtke, and R. Rauber. 2002. Estimation of symbiotic N₂ fixation by a low-level, large-scale ¹⁵N application technique. Soil Biol. Biochem. 34(3): 303–314.
- Rennie, R.J. 1986. Comparison of methods of enriching a soil with nitrogen-15 to estimate dinitrogen fixation by isotope dilution. Agron. J. 78(1): 158–163.
- Rennie, R., S. Bole, J. Muendel, and others. 1982. Dinitrogen Fixation Measured by ¹⁵N Isotope Dilution in Two Canadian Soybean Cultivars. Agron. J. 74(4): 725.

- Rennie, R.J., and G.A. Kemp. 1982. N₂-Fixation in Field Beans Quantified by ¹⁵N Isotope Dilution. II. Effect of Cultivars of Beans. Agron. J. 75(4): 645–649.
- Rennie, R.J., and G.A. Kemp. 1984. ¹⁵N-determined time course for N₂ fixation in two cultivars of field bean. Agron. J. 76(1): 146–154.
- Robert, F.M. 1989. Multiple forms of glutamine synthetase in nodules of tropical legumes inoculated with Bradyrhizobium SPP. and Rhizobium fredii. Plant Sci. 65(1): 33–38.
- Robert, F.M., and P.P. Wong. 1986. Isozymes of Glutamine Synthetase in *Phaseolus vulgaris* L. and *Phaseolus lunatus* L. Root Nodules. Plant Physiol. 4: 142–148.
- Roche, D., S.J. Temple., and C. Sengupta-Gopalan. 1993. Two classes of differentially regulated glutamine synthetase genes are expressed in the soybean nodule: a nodule-specific class and a constitutively expressed class. Plant Mol. Biol. 22: 971–983.
- Rosales, E.P., M.F. Iannone, M.D. Groppa, and M.P. Benavides. 2011. Nitric oxide inhibits nitrate reductase activity in wheat leaves. Plant Physiol. Biochem. 49(2): 124–130.
- Rösch, C., A. Mergel, H. Bothe, and C. Ro. 2002. Biodiversity of Denitrifying and Dinitrogen-Fixing Bacteria in an Acid Forest Soil Biodiversity of Denitrifying and Dinitrogen-Fixing Bacteria in an Acid Forest Soil. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 68(8): 3818–3829.
- Rudresh, D.L., M.K. Shivaprakash, and R.D. Prasad. 2005. Effect of combined application of *Rhizobium*, phosphate solubilizing bacterium and Trichoderma spp. on growth, nutrient uptake and yield of chickpea (*Cicer aritenium* L.). Appl. Soil Ecol. 28(2): 139–146.
- Schmidt, P.E., W.J. Broughton, and D. Werner. 1994. Nod Factors of *Bradyrhizobium japonicum* and *Rhizobium* Sp. Ngr234 Induce Flavonoid Accumulation in Soybean Root Exudate. Mol. Plant-Microbe Interact. 7(3): 384–390.
- Schubert, K.R. 1986. Products of Biological Nitrogen Fixation in Higher Plants: Synthesis, Transport, and Metabolism. Ann. Rev. Plant Physiol. 37: 539–574.
- Seabra, A.R., L.S. Silva, and H.G. Carvalho. 2013. Novel aspects of glutamine synthetase (GS) regulation revealed by a detailed expression analysis of the entire GS gene family of Medicago truncatula under different physiological conditions. BMC Plant Biol. 13(1): 1-15.
- Seabra, A.R., C.P. Vieira, J. V. Cullimore, and H.G. Carvalho. 2010. *Medicago truncatula* contains a second gene encoding a plastid located glutamine synthetase exclusively expressed in developing seeds. BMC Plant Biol. 10: 1–16.
- Segovia, L., J.P.W. Young, and E. Martinez-Romero. 1993. Reclassification of American *Rhizobium leguminosarum* Biovar Phaseoli Type I Strains as *Rhizobium etli* sp. nov. Int. J. Syst. Bacteriol. 43(2): 374–377.

- Shearer, G., L. Feldman, B. a Bryan, J.L. Skeeters, D.H. Kohl, N. Amarger, F. Mariotti, and a Mariotti. 1982. N abundance of nodules as an indicator of N metabolism in N₂-fixing plants. Plant Physiol. 70(2): 465–468.
- Sherameti, I., S.K. Sopory, A. Trebicka, T. Pfannschmidt, and R. Oelmüller. 2002. Photosynthetic electron transport determines nitrate reductase gene expression and activity in higher plants. J. Biol. Chem. 277(48): 46594–46600.
- Singh, G.V., N.S. Rana., and I.P.S. Ahlawat. 1998. Effect of nitrogen, *Rhizobium* inoculation and phosphorus on growth and yield of pigeon pea. Indian J. Agron. 43: 358–361.
- Singleton, P.W., and J.W. Tavares. 1986. Inoculation response of legumes in relation to the number and effectiveness of indigenous *Rhizobium* populations. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 51(5): 1013–1018.
- Singleton, P.W., J.E. Thies, and B.B.E.N. Bohlool. 1991. Influence of the Size of Indigenous Rhizobial Populations on Establishment and Symbiotic Performance of Introduced Rhizobia on Field-Grown Legumes. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 57: 19–28.
- Sogut, T. 2006. *Rhizobium* inoculation improves yield and nitrogen accumulation in soybean (*Glycine max*) cultivars better than fertiliser. New Zeal. J. Crop Hortic. Sci. 34(2): 115–120.
- Solomonson, L.P., and M.. J. Barber. 1990. Assimilatory Nitrate Reductase: Functional Properties and Regulation. Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol. 41(1): 225–253.
- Sparrow, S.D., and G.E. Ham. 1983. Survival of *Rhizobium phaseoli* in Six Carrier Materials1. Agron. J. 75(2): 181.
- Sprent, J.I., and R.J. Thomas. 1984. Nitrogen nutrition of seedling grain legumes: some taxonomic, morphological and physiological constraints. Plant. Cell Environ. 7(9): 637–645.
- Suzuki, A., and D.B. Knaff. 2005. Glutamate synthase: structural, mechanistic and regulatory properties, and role in the amino acid metabolism. Photosynth. Res. 83(2): 191–217.
- Swarup, R., M.J. Bennett., and J.V. Cullimore. 1990. Expression of glutamine synthetase genes in cotyledons of germinating *Phaseolus vulgaris* L. Planta 183: 51–56.
- Tajini, F., J.J. Drevon, L. Lamouchi, M.E. Aouani, and M. Trabelsi. 2008. Response of common bean lines to inoculation: Comparison between the *Rhizobium tropici* CIAT899 and the native *Rhizobium etli* 12a3 and their persistence in Tunisian soils. World J. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 24(3): 407–417.
- Tcherkez, G., and G.D. Farquhar. 2006. Isotopic fractionation by plant nitrate reductase, twenty years later. Funct. Plant Biol. 33(6): 531–537.

- Thompson, J. 1980. Production and quality control of legume inoculants. Methods Eval. Biol. nitrogen Fixat. (17): 489–533.
- Thorpe, T.A., K. Bagh, A.J. Cutler, D.I. Dunstan, D.D. McIntyre, and H.J. Vogel. 1989. A ¹⁴N and ¹⁵N Nuclear Magnetic Resonance Study of Nitrogen Metabolism in Shoot-Forming Cultures of White Spruce (*Picea glauca*) Buds. Plant Physiol. 91(1): 193–202.
- Unkovich, M.J., J.S. Pate, P. Sanford, and E.L. Armstrong. 1994. Potential precision of the δ^{15} N natural abundance method in field estimates of nitrogen fixation by crop and pasture legumes in south-west Australia. Aust. J. Agric. Res. 45(1): 119–132.
- USDA-ERS. 2016. Dry Beans. United States Dep. Agric. Econ. Res. Serv.Available at https://www.ers.usda.gov/topics/crops/vegetables-pulses/dry-beans/ (verified 20th February, 2018).
- Valles, B., G. Cadisch., and A.A. Schenemann. 2003. Comparison of Isotope Methodologies To Assess N₂ Fixation and Its. Agrociencia 37(January): 117–128.
- Vanoni, M.A., L. Dossena, R.H.H. Van Den Heuvel, and B. Curti. 2005. Structure-function studies on the complex iron-sulfur flavoprotein glutamate synthase: The key enzyme of ammonia assimilation. Photosynth. Res. 83(2): 219–238.
- Vitousek, P.M., J.D. Aber, R.W. Howarth, G.E. Likens, P.A. Matson, D.W. Schindler, W.H. Schlesinger, and D.G. Tilman. 1997. Human alteration of the global nitrogen cycle: Sources and consequences. Ecol. Appl. 7(3): 737–750.
- Wagner, G.H., and F. Zapata. 1982. Field Evaluation of Reference Crops in the Study of Nitrogen Fixation by Legumes Using Isotope Techniques'. Agron. J. 74: 607-612.
- Wang, X., Q. Pan, F. Chen, X. Yan, and H. Liao. 2011. Effects of co-inoculation with arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi and rhizobia on soybean growth as related to root architecture and availability of N and P. Mycorrhiza 21(3): 173–181.
- Wartiainen, I., T. Eriksson, W. Zheng, and U. Rasmussen. 2008. Variation in the active diazotrophic community in rice paddy-*nifH* PCR-DGGE analysis of rhizosphere and bulk soil. Appl. Soil Ecol. 39(1): 65–75.
- Westermann, D.T., G.E. Kleinkopf, L.K. Porter, and G.E. Leggett. 1981. 1981 N sources for bean seed production Weterman D T Kleinkpf GE pORter AGRON. (June 1980).
- Witty, J.F. 1983. Estimating N2-fixation in the field using 15N -labeled fertilizer: some problems and solutions. Soil Biol. Biochem. 15(6): 631–639.
- Wolf, D.D., R.D. Morse, and J.L. Neal. 1982. Evaluating *Rhizobium* Viability In Commercial Inoculum. : 1–4.
- Yandulov, D. V, and R.R. Schrock. 2003. Catalytic Reduction of Dinitrogen to Ammonia at a Single Molybdenum Center. Science. 301(5629): 76–78.

- Yoneyama, T. 1987. N₂ fixation and natural ¹⁵N abundance of leguminous plants and Azolla. Bull. Natl. Inst. Agrobiol. Res. 3: 59–87.
- Yoneyama, T. 1988. Natural Abundance of ¹⁵N in Root Nodules of Pea and Broad Bean. J. Plant Physiol. 132(1): 59–62.
- Yoneyama, T., and J. Ishizuka. 1982. ¹⁵N Study on the Partitioning of the Nitrogen Taken By Soybeans From Atmospheric Dinitrogen, Medium Nitrate or Ammonium. Soil Sci. Plant Nutr. 28(4): 451–461.
- Yoneyama, T., O. Ito, and W.M.H.G. Engelaar. 2003. Uptake, metabolism and distribution of nitrogen in crop plants traced by enriched and natural ¹⁵N: Progress over the last 30 years. Phytochem. Rev. 2(1–2): 121–132.
- Yoneyama, T., and K. Kumazawa. 1972. Determination of ¹⁵N enrichment of amino acids separated by thin-layer chromatography. Jap. J. Soil Sci. Plant Nutr. 43: 262–263.
- Young, J.P.W. 1992. Phylogenetic classification of nitrogen fixing organisms. p. 43–86. *In* Stacey, G., Burris, R.H., Evans, H.J. (eds.), Biological nitrogen fixation. 1st ed. Chapman and Hall, New York.

CHAPTER III: DETERMINING SYMBIOTIC NITROGEN FIXATION IN COMMERCIAL DRY BEAN (*PHASEOLUS VULGARIS* L.) CULTIVARS USING UREIDE METHOD AND STABLE ISOTOPE DILUTION TECHNIQUE Abstract

Symbiotic Nitrogen Fixation (SNF) is an environmentally-safe source of N to the crop plants. Twelve dry bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) cultivars from pinto, navy, black, and kidney market classes were inoculated with rhizobia and grown in a greenhouse. SNF was estimated using isotope dilution technique and 'ureide' method. Amount of SNF ranged between 33 and 68 mg N plant⁻¹ when determined using ¹⁵N isotope dilution and followed the order: pinto>navy>black>kidney. Percent N derived from atmosphere (%Ndfa) significantly varied between 49% and 90% at V₃, and between 71% and 98% at R₂ stage. Outcomes of the experiment suggested that dry bean cultivars from different market classes have variable N₂ fixing ability and fertilizer N required should be calculated according to their SNF potentials and N need of a specific market class or cultivar. Stable isotope dilution should be used as the standard procedure to estimate the SNF in dry bean.

Keywords: Symbiotic Nitrogen Fixation; Dry Bean.; Rhizobium; ureide, isotope dilution; ¹⁵N

Introduction

Symbiotic Nitrogen Fixation (SNF) has the potential to improve soil fertility, enhancing the nitrogen (N) balance in soil and N availability to the subsequent, or accompanying crops (Hardarson and Atkins, 2003; Triboi and Triboi-Blondel, 2014; Ronner et al., 2016). Globally, legumes can fix about 20×10^6 Mg of N per year to the agricultural systems (Herridge et al., 2008). *Rhizobium* spp. inoculations to leguminous crops are considered to increase N availability to the plant. However, legume cultivars respond variably to rhizobia inoculation, depending on

their symbiotic compatibility with the bacterial strain and environment conditions (Rennie and Kemp, 1982; Akter et al., 2014; Heilig et al., 2017; Youseif et al., 2017).

Dry bean, the most important food-legume crop, is the largest source of plant protein for direct global food-sufficiency (Tajini et al., 2008). Even though dry beans are poor N₂ fixer (fix 30-50 kg N ha⁻¹) as compared to other grain legumes (fix 80-100 kg N ha⁻¹), dry beans add about 6×10^5 Mg N annually in the agricultural systems globally (Kipe-Nolt et al., 1993; Herridge et al., 2008; Farid and Navabi, 2015). When inoculated with rhizobia, few dry bean cultivars were reported to fix N₂ (40-125 kg N ha⁻¹) equal to the amount that found in soybeans, but the inoculation effect is not consistent globally (Rennie, 1982; Rennie and Kemp, 1982). Reports of poor nodulation and lack of response to rhizobia inoculation in the field pose a serious concern regarding the benefits of inoculation in dry beans (Graham, 1981; Buttery et al., 1987). Along with environmental factors like extreme pH (both acidic and alkaline conditions), water stress and salinity, presence of native rhizobia in the soil is a major factor influencing the response of inoculation (Singleton & Tavares 1986; Thies et al. 1991; Farid et al. 2017). However, in dry bean growing areas of North Dakota and Minnesota, environmental stresses such as heavy rainfall and flooding, heavy wind, and biotic stresses such as weeds and disease such as white mold, bacterial blight, root rot severity, are the potential factors that limit nodulation and N₂ fixation (Knodel et al., 2017). Ultimately, the positive inoculation response depends on the genotype, genotype \times *Rhizobia* strain interaction, inoculant formulation, and the application method (Thilakarathna and Raizada, 2017).

United States (USA) is the fourth–largest producer of dry beans, and produced 1.3×10^5 Mt of dry beans in 672, 590 ha of area in 2016 (FAOSTAT, 2014; USDA ERS 2016). Among the dry bean producing states in US, North Dakota is the largest producer of dry beans and alone

shared 39% of area under dry beans in 2016, followed by Michigan (13%), Minnesota (10%), and Nebraska (9%) (NASS, 2016). According to a grower's survey in 2016, only 14% dry bean growers in North Dakota use the rhizobia inoculants (Knodel et al., 2016). In addition to poor seed yield-response of the crop to rhizobia inoculation, the available common peat-based inoculants plug the precision air-seeder and increase planting time and labor (for seed inoculation). This discourages dry bean growers to adopt inoculation (Singleton et al., 2002). Liquid rhizobia inoculation resulted in comparable or better seed yields of soybean (*Glycine max* L. Merr.), field pea (*Pisum sativum* L.) and lentil (*Lens culinaris* Medik.) than peat-based inoculation (Ciafardini and Barbieri, 1984; Hynes et al., 1995). Liquid rhizobia inoculants for dry beans can be a potential alternative for peat-based or granular inoculants as seed treatment or through in-furrow application.

The use of ¹⁵N, a stable isotope of N, is the most reliable and most accurate approach to quantify N_2 fixation and it has been extensively reviewed (Chalk, 1985; Witty et al., 1988). Among several ¹⁵N-isotopic methods, the 'isotope dilution technique' has high efficiency in discriminating the N_2 fixed from the atmosphere and the N taken up from the soil, though this technique is most accurate when the 'percent N derived from atmosphere' %Ndfa exceeds 70% and less suitable when N_2 fixation values are less than 30% (Danso, 1986; Barrie, 1991). A non-fixing reference plant is needed to estimate %Ndfa and both the fixing and reference plants should uptake N from the soil with same ¹⁵N isotopic composition (Boddey et al., 1984).

The 'ureide method' is an alternative method to estimate SNF only in legumes exporting ureides during N_2 fixation. Ureides (allantoin and allantoic acid) are synthesized from purine biosynthesis and purine oxidation pathways in the legumes within the Phaseolae and Desmodiae tribes such as soybean and dry bean (Sprent, 2001; Boldt and Zrenner, 2003; Zrenner et al.,

2006; Coleto et al., 2014). Studies on soybean and cowpea (*Vigna unguiculata* L.) have confirmed that these plants export fixed N₂ predominantly as ureides from the nodules to the shoot tissues through xylem stream (Matsumoto et al., 1977; Herridge et al., 1978). Concentration of ureides in the xylem-sap or aqueous extracts of dried plant tissues of these legumes can be used as a measure of N₂ fixation, irrespective of legume genotype or strains of rhizobia (Herridge and Peoples, 1990; Unkovich et al., 2008; Goos et al., 2015). Relative abundance of ureides with respect to nitrate in the plant shoots also showed linear relationships with the symbiotic dependence of the legume (Herridge, 1982).

Low N or N-free conditions force the plants to depend on seed and atmospheric– N_2 and can be used as a screening tool of cultivars for SNF (Rennie and Kemp, 1982; Miranda and Bliss, 1991). As genotypic variation exists for SNF in dry beans, cultivars should be screened to choose the most efficient genotypes for commercial and breeding purpose (Chaverra and Graham, 1992; Agoyi et al., 2017). We planned this study to identify the most efficient cultivars commonly grown in North Dakota based on their N₂ fixation potential as estimated through ureide method and isotope dilution techniques. Our objectives were i) to verify the ureide method in quantifying N₂ fixation in dry bean cultivars, ii) to determine the N₂ fixation potential of different dry bean cultivars within four popular dry bean market classes, and iii) to check the potential of the new liquid inoculant.

Materials and methods

Greenhouse study design and environment

A greenhouse study was conducted at North Dakota State University (NDSU) during spring 2016 to check the potential of the liquid inoculant and SNF of dry bean cultivars. The greenhouse temperature was maintained at 30°-35°C during day and 19°-23°C during the night.

Sixteen hours of light and eight hours of dark period was maintained in the greenhouse. Twelve cultivars, three from each of four dry bean market classes (pinto, navy, black, and kidney) were selected (Table 3.1). Cultivars were selected based on their higher acreage in North Dakota and Minnesota area as reported in 2014 Dry bean growers' survey (Knodel et al., 2015). Plants were grown in a sand-vermiculite (3:1 v/v) medium in 2500 cm³ closed bottom pots and watered regularly to maintain water content at 50% water holding capacity (WHC). The pots were laid out in a completely randomized design (CRD) with factorial arrangement of twelve dry bean cultivars × two growth stages (V₃ and R₂) × five replications.

Planting and rhizobia inoculation

A liquid rhizobia inoculant (Excalibre SA^{TM} for Dry bean, ABM^{TM}) was used in this study to supply specific group of rhizobia in the growth media. Dry bean seeds were washed with non-chlorinated water, and pinched for better germination in the greenhouse. Then, the seeds were soaked in the liquid inoculant containing *Rhizobium phaseoli* strain (rhizobia of specific cross-inoculation group for *P. vulgaris*) just before sowing and air-dried for five minutes. Four seeds were planted in each pot and one week after germination, plants were thinned to two plants per pot, and maintained.

Fertilization

Dry bean plants were fertilized with $K^{15}NO_3$ (enriched with 99.2 atom % ^{15}N) @ 1.75 mg N pot⁻¹ in three split doses (7, 14 and 21 days after germination) for subsequent analysis following the isotope dilution technique. The plants were grown in N-stress initially assuming that it would force them to fix more atmospheric N₂. For other macro and micronutrients, the plants were supplied with N-free modified Hoagland Solution (Caisson Laboratories, Inc.) 200 ml pot⁻¹ as basal dose, 100 ml pot⁻¹ 7 days after germination, 70 ml pot⁻¹ after 25 days after

germination (DAG) and 40 ml after 1^{st} sampling at V₃ stage. However, to help them survive, plants were fertilized with NH₄NO₃ @ 25 mg N pot⁻¹ after the second plant sampling at 45 days after planting (DAP).

Market Class	Cultivars	Origin	Dry bean plant type	PVP #
	La Paz	Provita	USV (II)	200500219
Pinto	Lariat	NDSU	USV (II)	200800305
	Windbreaker	Seminis	UV (IIb)	200500105
	Medalist	Provita	USV (II)	200700330
Navy	T9905	Hyland	USV (II)	N/A
	Ensign	ADM/Seedwest	UV (III)	9900273
	Red hawk	Mich. AES	B (I)	200000264
Kidney	Pink Panther	Seminis	B (I)	200300266
	Foxfire	ADM/Seedwest	B (I)	9200069
	Loreto	Provita	USV (II)	200700297
Black	Zorro	Mich. AES	USV (II)	201000268
	Eclipse	NDSU	USV (II)	200500293

Table 3.1: Description of 12 cultivars of drybeans selected in the study

UV: Upright Vine, USV: Upright short Vine, B: Bush; I: Bush- Determinate, II: Upright – Indeterminate; IIb: Upright indeterminate, but prostrated/ decumbent in some environments; III: prostrated/ Decumbent – Indeterminate; PVP #: Plant Variety Protection Number; Source: Drybean Production Guide, Edited by H. Kandel, NDSU Extension Service (2013)

Plant sampling and data collection

Plant samplings were done twice at third trifoliate or V_3 stage (35 DAP) and late flowering stage or R_2 (45 DAP). These two growth stages for sampling were selected as N_2 fixing activity is higher in these two stages of growth; V_3 is representative stage for vegetative growth and R_2 for reproductive growth (Franco et al., 1979). Both non-fixing and N_2 fixing legume plant samples were collected on the same day. Fresh plant samples were weighed, and then dried at 55-60°C for 4 days. Only plant axis (stem and petioles) of one plant in each pot was used for ureide-N analysis, but for isotopic dilution measurements, the whole shoot (stem + petioles + leaves) of the other plant were used.

Ureide-N analysis

Dried plant axes were ground to pass a 0.1 mm screen. The plant tissue extracts were prepared by taking 0.2 g of ground-tissue into a screw-cap test tube with 20 mL of water. Then, the tubes were sealed and placed in water-bath at 90°C for 30 minutes. The tubes were then cooled down to the room temperature, shaken in a mechanical shaker for 30 minutes, and subsequently filtered to get clear extracts. Extracts were then stored in a refrigerator until analyzed for the ureide concentration.

The ureide concentration of dry bean shoot tissue was determined using the method proposed by Goos et al. (2015). The relative ureide-N (RUN) values were calculated using the following formula:

Relative Ureide –
$$N(\%) = \frac{a \times 100}{(a+b)}$$

where, a and b are, respectively, the concentrations of ureide-N and nitrate in the plant axes (Herridge, 1982). Concentration of nitrate (NO_3^-) in the plants axes was determined using a rapid colorimetric (at 410 nm wavelength) method (Cataldo et al. 1975).

Isotope dilution technique

Dried plant shoot tissues were ground to pass 0.02 mm screen, and about 3 mg of ground samples was encapsulated into tin (Sn) capsules. Encapsulated samples were packed in 96-well trays and sent to UC Davis Stable Isotope facility. Samples were analyzed for isotopic ratio (i.e. ¹⁵N: ¹⁴N) using a continuous flow Isotope Ratio Mass Spectrometer (PDZ Europa ANCA-GSL elemental analyzer interfaced to a PDZ Europa 20-20 IRMS). Percent N derived from atmosphere (%Ndfa) was used as an indicator of SNF and was calculated from 'atom% ¹⁵N' values of plant samples using the following formula (McAuliffe et al., 1958):

$$\% Ndfa = \left(1 - \frac{atom\% 15_N \ excess \ in \ N_2 - fixing \ plant}{atom\% 15_N \ excess \ in \ reference \ plant}\right) \times 100$$

The 'atom % excess ¹⁵N' is the ¹⁵N enrichment above the background. i.e. atmosphere (the value is 0.3663%). A non-nodulating dry bean white navy mutant line, 'R99', was used as non-fixing reference (Park and Buttery, 2006). The ¹⁵N atom% excess of these plants were used to calculate the %Ndfa values of the cultivars under study.

Statistical analyses

The data of plant dry matter, RUN, %Ndfa and N₂ fixed at the two sampling stages were analyzed for analysis of variance (ANOVA) in generalized linear model using 'Proc GLM' procedure in SAS 9.4 software (SAS Institute, 2013). For statistical analysis, all the factors, growth stages, market classes, cultivars nested within each market classes, and the interactions (growth stages × market class and growth stages × cultivars within market class) were considered as fixed factors. Least squared means were computed using LSMEANS statement, standard errors of least squared means were estimated, and pairwise significant difference tests were performed using the TUKEY statement at 95% significance level in SAS 9.4. Pearson correlation coefficients among plant dry matter, RUN, %Ndfa and N₂ fixed were also computed using 'correlation analysis' in SAS Enterprise Guide 6.1 software (SAS Institute, 2013).

Result and discussion

Plant dry matter

Plant dry matter varied significantly among the bean market classes, cultivars within market classes and between the two growth stages, V_3 and R_2 (Table 3.2). Among the dry bean market classes, navy (2.45 g plant⁻¹ at V_3 and 2.48 g plant⁻¹ at R_2) produced significantly lower plant dry matter than the other three market classes at both the growth stages (Table 3.2). Highest mean plant dry matter was produced by kidney (3.04 g plant⁻¹) at V_3 and pinto (3.01 g plant⁻¹) at

 R_2 stage (Table 3.2). Pinto cultivars showed significant variation in plant dry matter production at V₃ stage, and 'Windbreaker' (2.86 g plant⁻¹) produced significantly higher plant dry matter than 'Lariat' (2.33 g plant⁻¹) and 'La Paz' (2.36 g plant⁻¹). Pinto market class had significant improvement in plant dry matter at R_2 (3.01 g plant⁻¹) stage from V₃ stage (2.52 g plant⁻¹). Among cultivars within pinto market class, 'Lariat' had significantly higher plant dry matter at R_2 (3.18 g plant⁻¹) than V₃ (2.33 g plant⁻¹) growth stage (Table 3.2).

All the cultivars produced lower plant dry matter than values reported earlier which was in the range between 4.67 and 7.73 g plant⁻¹ (Andraus et al. 2016). One probable reason was low amount of N supplied from the growth media; also, weak symbiosis between the plant and the rhizobia could not fix enough atmospheric N_2 to support the N requirement of the plants for optimum vegetative growth. Nitrogen is indispensable for dry bean growth and dry matter production. The lack of N reduced the leaf growth and numbers, and in turn reduced the photosynthetic efficiency and overall plant growth.

Significant variation in plant dry matter among the dry bean market classes can be attributed to their differences in growth habit. Also, the N stored in the seeds might have played a vital role as N supply. As the total available N supply was very less, variation in the seed size and amount of N stored in the seeds could be a reason for variation in plant dry matter, as more N should produce higher plant dry matter. As the kidney and pinto market classes produce larger seeds, the plant dry matter contents were also found higher than black and navy beans at both the growth stages (Table 3.2).

Relative Ureide-N

The RUN values differed significantly among the market classes, cultivars within market classes, and between two growth stages (Table 2). Significant variation in RUN values were

found between dry bean market classes at V₃ stage. Kidney beans (66%) had significantly lower RUN values than the other three market classes, pinto (81%), navy (80%) and black (80%) at V₃ (Table 2). However, at R₂ stage, all the dry bean market classes had statistically similar RUN values. Black market class had the highest mean RUN values at both V₃ and R₂ (88%) stages, while pinto had the lowest mean RUN value at R₂ (84%). Except 'pinto', all the other market classes under study (i.e. navy, kidney and black) had significantly higher RUN values in R₂ than V₃ stage (Table 2).

The pinto cultivars showed significant variation in RUN values at both growth stages, while the kidney cultivars showed significant variation only at the V₃ stage (Table 2). Pinto cultivar 'La Paz' had significantly lower RUN values at both V₃ (64%) and R₂ (70%) stage than 'Lariat' (89% at V₃ and 92% at R₂) and 'Windbreaker' (88% at V₃ and 91% at R₂). Kidney cultivar 'Foxfire' (60%) had significantly lower RUN than 'Pink Panther' (69%) and 'Red hawk' (69%) at V₃ stage. Higher RUN values implied relatively higher amount of ureide-N concentration than NO₃⁻-N in the plant axes, and indicated higher fixed N₂ transport from nodules to shoots. Kidney cultivars had significant increment in RUN values at R₂ stage from V₃ stage; and the increments in RUN values were 42% 'Foxfire', 26% in 'Pink Panther' and 16% in 'Red hawk' (Table 2).

The interactions between growth stages and market class, and growth stages and cultivars within market class were also found statistically significant, but the effect of growth stages on market class or cultivars within market classes were same (Table 2). If there was a significant difference, the RUN values were found higher at R_2 stage.

The dry bean plants could get only a little amount of N from the growing media and seed, and for the rest amount of N, N_2 fixation was the only source. As a result, the plants produced

higher amounts of ureides compared to the amount of NO_3^--N available from the growing media, which yielded higher RUN values. The RUN values for different cultivars in this study were in the range similar to the RUN values reported (80% to 100%) in an earlier study on soybean cultivars conducted by Herridge and Peoples (1990) under a similar growing condition with little or no N.

Percent N derived from atmosphere (%Ndfa)

Statistically significant differences were found between mean %Ndfa values at two growth stages and among the dry bean market classes (Table 3). Navy (90.4) had the highest %Ndfa value at both the growth stages followed by pinto (80.6), kidney (59.6), and black (48.8) at V₃ stage; and pinto (92.3), black (75.5), and kidney (70.6) at R₂ stage. The %Ndfa values significantly improved at R₂ stage from the V₃ stage (Table 3.3); highest increment was found in the black (55 percent) market class followed by kidney (19 percent), pinto (15 percent), and navy (8 percent). Significant differences were also found for growth stage and market class interactions, but the ranking of market classes for %Ndfa at both the stages were found same, and higher values were found at R₂ stage.

Navy and pinto cultivars were found to have higher %Ndfa values than earlier reported values (between 9 to 79 percent), but the black and kidney cultivars had %Ndfa values in the range reported in earlier studies (Kipe-Nolt et al., 1993; Müller and Pereira, 1995; Farid and Navabi, 2015). The main reason was the source of N. The dry bean plants got almost its entire assimilated N through N₂ fixation, which resulted in higher isotopic dilution. Rennie (1982) also reported that using non-nodulating mutant of plant under study (here, R99, a white navy mutant line) tended to overestimate the N₂ fixation.

Market Class	Cultivar	Plant dry matter (g plant ⁻¹)		Relative Ureide N (%)		
		V ₃ stage	R ₂ stage	V ₃ stage	R ₂ stage	
Pinto	La Paz	2.36b (0.14)	2.85 (0.18)	63.8b (3.3)	70.2b (1.7)	
	Lariat	2.33b (0.20)	3.18† (0.47)	88.8a (2.9)	92.3a (3.3)	
	Windbreaker	2.86a (0.31)	3.01 (0.25)	88.3a (1.9)	90.5a (5.1)	
	Mean	2.52A (0.34)	3.01A‡ (0.35)	80.3A (11)	84.4 (11)	
	Ensign	2.48 (0.09)	2.60 (0.36)	80.8 (3.7)	88.1 (3.2)	
Navy	Medalist	2.39 (0.07)	2.23 (0.15)	78.8 (4.7)	87.8 (3.4)	
5	T9905	2.49 (0.19)	2.61 (0.24)	80.3 (4.3)	86.9 (3.1)	
	Mean	2.45B (0.13)	2.48B (0.31)	80.0A (4.3)	87.6ŧ (3.2)	
Kidney	Foxfire	3.05 (0.08)	2.91 (0.07)	60.0b (5.8)	85.1† (1.1)	
	Pink Panther	3.13 (0.13)	3.05 (0.21)	68.8a (3.7)	86.6† (1.7)	
	Red hawk	2.94 (0.13)	2.88 (0.17)	69.2a (5.9)	80.2† (1.9)	
	Mean	3.04A (0.12)	2.94A (0.18)	66.0B (6.8)	84.0‡(3.2)	
Black	Eclipse	2.68 (0.08)	2.63 (0.16)	78.9 (2.6)	87.0 (1.1)	
	Loreto	2.60 (0.06)	2.78 (0.11)	78.2 (3.4)	87.0 (1.3)	
	Zorro	2.77 (0.14)	2.93 (0.12)	83.7 (3.7)	89.7(1.0)	
	Mean	2.68A (0.14)	2.73A (0.31)	94.2A (3.2)	96.7ŧ(0.5)	
Growth stage		**		**		
Market class		**		**		
Cultivar (Market class)			**		**	
Growth stage * Market class			**		**	
Growth stage*Cultivar (Market Class)			*		**	

Table 3.2: Variations in mean plant dry matter yield and relative ureide N (%) of twelve dry bean cultivars under Pinto, Navy, Kidney and Black bean market classes at two growth stages

Means followed by same lowercase letter(s) are not statistically significant among the cultivars within a market class at $P \le 0.05$ under a specific growth stage; Means followed by same uppercase letter are not statistically significant among market classes at $P \le 0.05$ under a specific growth stage; Means with \dagger are statistically dissimilar at $P \le 0.05$ among the cultivars within the market classes between two growth stages; Means with \ddagger are statistically dissimilar at $P \le 0.05$ among the cultivars within the parenthesis; * Treatment main effect statistically significant at $P \le 0.05$; ** treatment main effect statistically significant;

Market Class	%Ndfa		N ₂ fixed	
Market Class	V_3 stage R_2 stage		(mg N plant ⁻¹)	
Pinto	80.6b (9.7)	92.3a† (4.8)	68.0a (26)	
Navy	90.4a (8.5)	97.4a† (2.8)	58.8a (25)	
Kidney	59.6c (6.0)	70.6b† (2.9)	33.4b (6.2)	
Black	48.8d (7.5)	75.5b† (3.5)	34.7b (13)	
Growth stages		**		
Market Class		**	**	
Growth Stage × Market Class	**		NS	

Table 3.3: Variations in mean percent N derived from atmosphere (%Ndfa) and N_2 fixed (mg N plant⁻¹) of twelve dry bean cultivars under Pinto, Navy, Kidney and Black bean market classes at two growth stages

Means followed by same lowercase letter(s) are not statistically significant among the cultivars within a market class at $P \le 0.05$ under a specific growth stage; Means with † are statistically dissimilar at $P \le 0.05$ among the market classes between two growth stages; Standard deviations are given in the parenthesis

* Treatment main effect statistically significant at $P \le 0.05$; ** treatment main effect statistically significant at $P \le 0.01$; NS: treatment main effect statistically non-significant;

Variations in the %Ndfa can also be attributed to the differences in the symbiotic

efficiencies between the dry bean plant of a specific market class and the specific rhizobia

strain(s) in the added through commercial liquid inoculant. Better symbiotic compatibility results

in higher %Ndfa values, and it was reported earlier that cultivars exhibit differences in their

compatibility with a rhizobia strain (Weiser et al., 1985).

N₂ fixation

Nitrogen fixed by different dry bean market classes varied significantly (Table 3.3). The black and kidney bean classes fixed significantly lower amounts of N₂ than pinto and navy classes. Pinto (68.0 mg N plant⁻¹) market class fixed highest amount of N₂, followed by navy (58.8 mg N plant⁻¹), black (34.7 mg N plant⁻¹), and kidney (33.4 mg N plant⁻¹) market class (Table 3.3). These values of N₂ fixed were in the range of earlier reported values for dry bean

cultivars. Rennie and Kemp (1982) reported values in the range between 17 mg N plant⁻¹ to 166 mg N plant⁻¹ for N₂ fixed, while Akter et al. (2014) reported values between 4 mg N plant⁻¹ and 129 mg N plant⁻¹.

The dry bean cultivars exhibit differences in the growth habit, duration of the growth stages, plant architecture, seed size and more importantly, their requirement for N (Table 3.1). Cultivars with indeterminate growth habit were found to fix more atmospheric N₂ than determinate cultivars due to longer period of N₂ fixation in earlier studies (Piha and Munns, 1987; Farid and Navabi, 2015). In our study, we found that kidney bean cultivars with determinate growth habit had the lowest mean amount of N₂ fixed, and other market classes with indeterminate growth habit fixed higher amount of N₂ (Table 3.3).

Limited supply of mineral N from the growth medium forced the plants to fix more N_2 from atmosphere, but the plants were unable to fix enough N_2 to support optimum plant growth in the later growth stages. The duration of growth stages was shortened; plants switched to reproductive stage earlier than normal growing conditions, and showed symptoms of senescence early. Similar observations were also reported earlier (Ohyama, 2010). Moreover, poor plant growth and functioning resulted in limited supply of soluble carbohydrates (malate, succinate etc.) to the root nodule impeded the normal functioning of the bacteria inside the bacteroid tissue, and ultimately disrupted the N_2 fixation (Mengel et al., 2001).

Correlation

Significant correlation ($P \le 0.01$) was found in between the %Ndfa and N₂ fixed (r = 0.65) (Table 3.4). The plants that could derive higher amount of atmospheric N₂ had better vegetative growth, and fixed higher amount of N₂. The RUN values were significantly ($P \le 0.01$) correlated with %Ndfa, but the correlation was found weak (r = 0.376). As reported in a previous

study, remobilized N from older leaves increases the ureide concentration in the shoots and leaves during the early pod filling in N_2 fixing plants (Díaz-Leal et al., 2012). Therefore, the ureide concentration and %Ndfa data from stable isotope dilution study did not correlate well at the later growth stages, and gave low correlation values.

Table 3.4: Pearson correlation coefficients (r) between plant dry matter, relative ureide N, percent N derived from atmosphere (%Ndfa) and N₂ fixed by dry bean cultivars

	Plant dry matter	Relative Ureide N	%Ndfa	N ₂ fixed
Plant dry matter	-	-0.033 ^{NS}	-0.228*	0.079 ^{NS}
Relative Ureide N	-0.033 ^{NS}	-	0.376**	0.311**
%Ndfa	-0.228*	0.376**	-	0.645**
N ₂ fixed	0.079^{NS}	0.311**	0.645**	-

* Correlation statistically significant at $p \le 0.05$; ** statistically significant at $p \le 0.01$; NS: Non-significant;

Conclusion

The new liquid *Rhizobium* inoculant helped in nodulation in dry bean roots and can be used as an alternative of existing peat-inoculant. This inoculant should further be thoroughly tested against other available inoculant formulations, and under different environmental conditions.

Severe N stress during early growth stages found to be irrecoverable for all the dry bean cultivars within market classes even through later addition of mineral N. The market classes varied in their potential for SNF. Among the dry bean market classes, the pinto and navy bean classes fixed significantly higher amount of N₂ compared to black and kidney market classes. Therefore, to get higher amount of N₂ fixed, pinto and navy bean cultivars should be opted, for both breeding and cultivation.

The RUN values were not well correlated with %Ndfa or N₂ fixed, and did not show significant variation among market classes at R₂ stage, when there was significant variation for

SNF among dry bean market classes. Therefore, the ureide method could not assess the SNF by dry bean cultivars as it did for soybean. This method should be calibrated for dry beans in order to consider it as a reliable tool to quantify N_2 fixation ability of dry bean cultivars. The %Ndfa calculated from isotope dilution was significantly correlated with the N_2 fixed by different dry bean market classes. Isotope dilution method using ¹⁵N is the most preferable technique to estimate the N_2 fixation by dry bean.

References

- Agoyi, E.E., E. Afutu, F.J. Chadare, J.B. Tumuhairwe, G. Chigeza, and P. Tukamuhabwa. 2017. Ureide Essay to Assess N₂ fixation Abilities of Soybean (*Glycine Max*) Genotypes under Different Bradyrhizobium Strains. 2017(10): 65–72.
- Akter, Z., B.B. Pageni, N.Z. Lupwayi, and P.M. Balasubramanian. 2014. Biological nitrogen fixation and *nif*H gene expression in dry beans (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.). Can. J. Plant Sci. 94(2): 203–212.
- Barrie, A. 1991. New methodologies in stable isotope analysis. Vienna, Austria.
- Boddey, R.M., M. Phillip, R.L. Victoria, and E. Matswi. 1984. Nitrogen Fixation by Nodulated Soybean Under Tropical Field Condotions Estimated by the ¹⁵N Isotope Dilution Technique. Adv. Agron. 16(6): 583–588.
- Boldt, R., and R. Zrenner. 2003. Purine and pyrimidine biosynthesis in higher plants. Physiol. Plant. 117(3): 297–304.
- Buttery, B.R., S.J. Park, and W.I. Findlay. 1987. Growth and yield of white bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) in response to nitrogen, phosphorus and potassium fertilizer and to inoculation with *Rhizobium*. Can. J. Plant Sci. 67(2): 425–432.
- Chalk, P.M. 1985. Estimation of N₂ fixation by isotope dilution. Soil Biol. Biochem. 17(4): 389–410.
- Chaverra, M.H., and P.H. Graham. 1992. Cultivar variation in traits affecting early nodulations on common bean. Crop Sci. 32(6): 1432–1436.
- Ciafardini, G., and C. Barbieri. 1984. A new soybean inoculation system: The distribution of the symbiont in coverage. Inf. Agr. 19: 63–65.
- Coleto, I., M. Pineda, A.P. Rodiño, A.M. De Ron, and J.M. Alamillo. 2014. Comparison of inhibition of N₂ fixation and ureide accumulation under water deficit in four common bean genotypes of contrasting drought tolerance. Ann. Bot. 113(6): 1071–1082.
- Danso, S.K.A. 1986. Estimation of N₂-fixation by isotope dilution: An appraisal of techniques involving 15N enrichment and their application—Comments. Soil Biol. Biochem. 18(3): 243–244.
- Díaz-Leal, J.L., G. Gálvez-Valdivieso, J. Fernández, M. Pineda, and J.M. Alamillo. 2012. Developmental effects on ureide levels are mediated by tissue-specific regulation of allantoinase in *Phaseolus vulgaris* L. J. Exp. Bot. 63(11): 4095–4106.
- Farid, M., H.J. Earl, K.P. Pauls, and A. Navabi. 2017. Response to selection for improved nitrogen fixation in common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.). Euphytica 213(4): 1–13.
- Farid, M., and A. Navabi. 2015. N₂ fixation ability of different dry bean genotypes. Can. J. Plant Sci. 95(6): 1243–1257.
- Franco, A.A, J.C. Pereira, and C.A. Neyra. 1979. Seasonal Patterns of Nitrate Reductase and Nitrogenase Activities in *Phaseolus vulgaris* L. Plant Physiol. 63(3): 421–4.
- Goos, R.J., N. Abdraimova, and B.E. Johnson. 2015. Method for Determination of Ureides in Soybean Tissues. Commun. Soil Sci. Plant Anal. 46(4): 424–429.
- Graham, P.H. 1981. Some problems of nodulation and symbiotic nitrogen fixation in *Phaseolus* vulgaris L.: A review. F. Crop. Res. 4(C): 93–112.
- Hardarson, G., and C. Atkins. 2003. Optimising biological N₂ fixation by legumes in farming systems. Plant Soil 252(1): 41–54.
- Heilig, J.A., J.S. Beaver, E.M. Wright, Q. Song, and J.D. Kelly. 2017. QTL analysis of symbiotic nitrogen fixation in a black bean population. Crop Sci. 57(1): 118–129.
- Herridge, D.F. 1982. Use of the Ureide Technique to Describe the Nitrogen Economy of Field-Grown Soybeans. Plant Physiol. 70(1): 7–11.
- Herridge, D.F., C.A. Atkins, J.S. Pate, and R.M. Rainbird. 1978. Allantoin and Allantoic Acid in the Nitrogen Economy of the Cowpea (*Vigna unguiculata* [L.] Walp.). Plant Physiol. 62(4): 495–498.
- Herridge, D.F., and M.B. Peoples. 1990. Ureide assay for measuring nitrogen fixation by nodulated soybean calibrated by N methods. Plant Physiol. 93(2): 495–503.
- Herridge, D.F., M.B. Peoples, and R.M. Boddey. 2008. Global inputs of biological nitrogen fixation in agricultural systems. Plant Soil 311(1–2): 1–18.
- Hynes, R.K., K.A. Craig, D. Covert, R.J. Rennie, and R.S. Smith. 1995. Liquid Rhizobia Inoculants for Lentil and Field Pea. J. Prod. Agric. 8(4): 547–552.
- Kipe-Nolt, J.A., H. Vargas, and K.E. Giller. 1993. Nitrogen fixation in breeding lines of Phaseolus vulgaris L. p. 103–106. *In* Bliss, F.A., Hardarson, G. (eds.), Enhancement of Biological Nitrogen Fixation of Common Bean in Latin America: Results from an

FAO/IAEA Co-ordinated Research Programme, 1986--1991. Springer Netherlands, Dordrecht.

- Knodel, J.J., P.B. Beauzay, D.W. Franzen, H.J. Kandel, S.G. Markell, and J.M. Osorno. 2015. 2014 dry bean grower survey of pest problems and pesticide use in Minnesota and North Dakota.
- Matsumoto, T., M. Yatazawa, and Y. Yamamoto. 1977. Incorporation of ¹⁵N into allantoin in nodulated soybean plants supplied with ¹⁵N₂. Plant Cell Physiol. 18(2): 459–462.
- McAuliffe, C., D.S. Chamblee, H. Uribe-Arango, and W.W. Woodhouse. 1958. Influence of Inorganic Nitrogen on Nitrogen Fixation by Legumes as Revealed by N¹⁵. Agron. J. 50(6): 334–337.
- Mengel, K., E.A. Kirkby, H. Kosegarten, and T. Appel. 2001. Nitrogen. p. 397–434. In Mengel, K., Kirkby, E.A., Kosegarten, H., Appel, T. (eds.), Principles of Plant Nutrition. Springer Netherlands, Dordrecht.
- Miranda, B.D., and F.A. Bliss. 1991. Selection for Increased Seed Nitrogen Accumulation in Common Bean: Implications for Improving Dinitrogen Fixation and Seed Yield. Plant Breed. 106(4): 301–311.
- Müller, S.H., and P.A.A. Pereira. 1995. Nitrogen fixation of common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) as affected by mineral nitrogen supply at different growth stages. Plant Soil 177(1): 55–61.
- Ohyama, T. 2010. Nitrogen as a major essential element of plants. Nitrogen Assim. plants. Signpost, Trivandrum, Kerala, India.
- P. Andraus, M., A.A. Cardoso, and E.P.B. Ferreira. 2016. Differences in Nodulation and Grain Yield on Common Bean Cultivars with Different Growth Cycles. Commun. Soil Sci. Plant Anal. 47(9): 1148–1161.
- Park, S.J., and B.R. Buttery. 2006. Registration of Ineffective Nodulation Mutant R69 And Nonnodulation Mutant R99 Common Bean Genetic Stocks. Crop Sci. 46(3): 1415–1416.
- Piha, M.I., and D.N. Munns. 1987. Nitrogen fixation potential of beans (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) compared with other grain legumes under controlled conditions. Plant Soil 98(2): 169–182.
- Rennie, R.J. 1982. Quantifying dinitrogen (N₂) fixation in soybeans by ¹⁵N isotope dilution: The question of the nonfixing control plant. Can. J. Bot. 60(6): 856–861.
- Rennie, R.J., and G.A. Kemp. 1982. N₂-Fixation in Field Beans Quantified by ¹⁵N Isotope Dilution. II. Effect of Cultivars of Beans. Agron. J. 75(4): 645–649.
- Ronner, E., A.C. Franke, B. Vanlauwe, M. Dianda, E. Edeh, B. Ukem, A. Bala, J. van Heerwaarden, and K.E. Giller. 2016. Understanding variability in soybean yield and

response to P-fertilizer and rhizobium inoculants on farmers' fields in northern Nigeria. F. Crop. Res. 186: 133–145.

- Singleton, P., H. Keyser, and E. Sande. 2002. Development and evaluation of liquid inoculants. p. 52–66. *In* Inoculants and nitrogen fixation of legumes in vietnam.
- Singleton, P.W., and J.W. Tavares. 1986. Inoculation response of legumes in relation to the number and effectiveness of indigenous *Rhizobium* populations. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 51(5): 1013–1018.
- Singleton, P.W., J.E. Thies, and B.B.E.N. Bohlool. 1991. Influence of the Size of Indigenous Rhizobial Populations on Establishment and Symbiotic Performance of Introduced Rhizobia on Field- Grown Legumes. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 57: 19–28.
- Sprent, J.I. 2001. Nodulation in legumes. Royal Botanic Gardens, Kew.
- Tajini, F., J.J. Drevon, L. Lamouchi, M.E. Aouani, and M. Trabelsi. 2008. Response of common bean lines to inoculation: Comparison between the *Rhizobium tropici* CIAT899 and the native *Rhizobium etli* 12a3 and their persistence in Tunisian soils. World J. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 24(3): 407–417.
- Thilakarathna, M.S., and M.N. Raizada. 2017. A meta-analysis of the effectiveness of diverse rhizobia inoculants on soybean traits under field conditions. Soil Biol. Biochem. 105: 177–196.
- Triboi, E., and A.-M. Triboi-Blondel. 2014. Towards Sustainable, Self-Supporting Agriculture: Biological Nitrogen Factories as a Key for Future Cropping Systems. p. 329–342. *In* Dent, D. (ed.), Soil as World Heritage. Springer Netherlands, Dordrecht.
- Unkovich, M., D. Herridge, M. Peoples, G. Cadisch, B. Boddey, K. Giller, B. Alves, P. Chalk, and others. 2008. Measuring plant-associated nitrogen fixation in agricultural systems. Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research (ACIAR).
- Weiser, G.C., K.F. Grafton, and D.L. Berryhill. 1985. Nodulation of Dry Beans by Commercial and Indigenous Strains of *Rhizobium phaseoli*. Agron. J. 859: 1983–1986.
- Witty, J.F., R.J. Rennie, and C.A. Atkins. 1988. ¹⁵N addition methods for assessing N₂ fixation under field conditions. p. 715–730. *In* Summerfield, R.J. (ed.), World crops: Cool season food legumes: A global perspective of the problems and prospects for crop improvement in pea, lentil, faba bean and chickpea. Springer Netherlands, Dordrecht.
- Youseif, S., F. Abd El-Megeed, and S. Saleh. 2017. Improvement of Faba Bean Yield Using *Rhizobium/Agrobacterium* Inoculant in Low-Fertility Sandy Soil. Agronomy 7(1): 2.
- Zrenner, R., M. Stitt, U. Sonnewald, and R. Boldt. 2006. Pyrimidine and Purine Biosynthesis and Degradation in Plants. Annu. Rev. Plant Biol. 57(1): 805–836.

CHAPTER IV: SYMBIOTIC NITROGEN FIXATION IN DRY BEAN (*PHASEOLUS VULGARIS* L.) CULTIVARS INOCULATED WITH *RHIZOBIA* IN THE NORTHERN GREAT PLAINS

Abstract

Symbiotic Nitrogen Fixation (SNF) is an environmentally safe source of N to the crop plants and is carried out by rhizobia in symbiosis with a specific legume such as dry beans (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.). SNF potentials of eight dry bean cultivars from pinto and kidney market classes were studied in a field experiment using a split plot randomized complete block design at Prosper, ND in 2016 and Felton, MN in 2017. Dry bean seeds were inoculated with liquid and peat-based Rhizobia inoculants prior to sowing in the field. Plant tissue samples were collected at the third trifoliate stage (V_3) and late flowering stage (R_2) to determine percent N derived from atmosphere (%Ndfa) using the stable isotope dilution technique. Control (non-inoculated) treatment (1.63 Mg ha⁻¹) had significantly higher seed yield than the inoculation treatments (1.38 Mg ha⁻¹) across the years. Overall, after combined analysis, peat inoculation resulted into 14% higher %Ndfa at V₃ stage than liquid inoculation. Between market classes, pinto had 12% higher %Ndfa than kidney, and probably translated into higher seed yield in pinto. Significant differences in seed yield was found among kidney cultivars [Montcalm $(1.43 \text{ Mg ha}^{-1})$ > Pink Panther $(1.18 \text{ Mg ha}^{-1}) > \text{Foxfire } (0.91 \text{ Mg ha}^{-1}) > \text{Redhawk } (0.80 \text{ Mg ha}^{-1})]$ irrespective of inoculation treatments, but not among pinto cultivars. Also, kidney had significant interaction with inoculation treatments and had 4% higher seed yield under liquid inoculation compared to peat. Our results suggest that pinto cultivars had higher N_2 fixing potential (%Ndfa) compared to kidney and performance of rhizobia inoculant is market class specific.

Keywords: Symbiotic Nitrogen Fixation; Rhizobia; Dry bean; Inoculation; Isotope dilution; %Ndfa

Introduction

Nitrogen (N) is a structural constituent protein, one of the most important structural components of any living organism. Symbiotic nitrogen fixation (SNF) is the prime source of environment-friendly N to the agronomic crops. SNF also improves soil fertility, maintains N-balance in soil, and regulates N availability to the crops (Triboi and Triboi-Blondel, 2014; Ronner et al., 2016). Legumes take part in symbiosis with rhizobia (*Rhizobia*, *Bradyrhizobia*, *Sinorhizobia*) and are reported to fix about 20×10^6 Mg of N in soils per year into the world agricultural systems (Herridge et al., 2008). Thus, in order to increase SNF, inoculation of legume seeds with rhizobia can be beneficial. Legume species and genotypes respond variably to rhizobia inoculation, depending on their symbiotic compatibility with rhizobial strain in symbiosis and environmental conditions (Heilig et al., 2017; Youseif et al., 2017).

Dry bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) is the most important food-legume crop and the largest source of plant proteins along with low-fat carbohydrates, fiber, folates, minerals, thiamine and riboflavins; that contributes directly to global food-sufficiency (Farid et al., 2016). Dry beans have been generally reported as 'poor N₂ fixers' (30-50 kg N ha⁻¹) compared to other grain legumes such as soybean (*Glycine max* L. Merr.) and lentil (*Lens culinaris* Medik.), which fix around 80-100 kg N ha⁻¹; still, dry beans add about 6×10^5 Mg N annually in the agricultural systems globally (Herridge et al., 2008; Farid and Navabi, 2015). Earlier studies reported that when dry bean seeds were inoculated with rhizobia, dry bean cultivars fixed higher amounts of N₂ (as high as 124 kg N ha⁻¹) (Rennie and Kemp, 1984); however, the inoculation effect is not consistent globally. Poor nodulation and non-significant response of dry bean under rhizobia

inoculation for SNF and seed yield in the field trials are well-reported globally (Buttery et al., 1987; Buetow et al., 2017; Denton et al., 2017).

Along with environmental factors like extreme pH (both acidic and alkaline conditions), water stress and salinity, native rhizobia population in soil influences the response of rhizobia inoculation (Singleton and Tavares, 1986; Farid et al., 2017). However, in dry bean growing areas of North Dakota (ND) and Minnesota (MN), environmental stresses such as heavy rainfall with subsequent flooding, heavy wind, and biotic stresses such as weeds and diseases such as white mold (*Sclerotinia sclerotiorum*), common bacterial blight (*Xanthomonas axonopodis* pv. *phaseoli*), anthracnose (*Colletotrichum lindemuthianum*), root rot (*Fusarium solani* f. sp. *phaseoli* or *Rhizoctonia solani*) severity, are the potential factors that limit nodulation and N₂ fixation as well (*Knodel et al.*, 2017). Ultimately, the positive inoculation responses depend on the genotype, genotype × rhizobia strain interaction, inoculant formulation, environmental conditions, and the application method (Thilakarathna and Raizada, 2017).

Among all the dry bean producing countries, United States (US) ranks fourth and produced 1.3×10^5 Mt of dry beans in 672, 590 ha of area in 2016 (*FAOSTAT*, 2014; *USDA ERS* 2016). In the US, ND is the largest producer (38% of the national production) of dry beans followed by Michigan (13%), MN (10%), and Nebraska (9%) (NASS, 2016). Unfortunately, only 14% dry bean growers in ND and 16% growers in MN used rhizobia inoculants in their field (Knodel et al., 2017). In addition, the available peat-based rhizobia inoculants for dry beans clog the pores of precision air-seeder planters commonly used in these dry bean growing areas, which increases planting time and labor (for seed inoculation), thus discourages dry bean growers to adopt inoculation (Singleton et al., 2002). In recent years, liquid rhizobia inoculation has resulted in seed yields either comparable with or higher than peat-based inoculation in some

grain legumes such as soybean, field pea (*Pisum sativum* L.) and lentil (Ciafardini and Barbieri, 1984; Hynes et al., 1995), but no liquid rhizobia inoculant is commercially available for dry bean in the Northern Great Plains.

The use of ¹⁵N, a stable isotope of N, is the most reliable and most accurate approach to quantify N_2 fixation and it has been extensively reviewed (Chalk, 1985; Witty et al., 1988). Among several ¹⁵N-isotopic methods, the 'Isotope dilution technique' has high efficiency in discriminating the N_2 fixed from the atmosphere and the N taken up from the soil as reported several published literatures (Danso, 1986; Barrie, 1991). A non-fixing reference plant is needed to quantify %Ndfa and both the fixing and reference plants should uptake N from the soil with same ¹⁵N isotopic composition (Boddey et al., 1984).

As genotypic variation exists for SNF in dry beans, this study was designed to estimate the N_2 fixation ability of different cultivars. Our objectives were i) to determine %Ndfa of different dry bean cultivars at two different growth stages, V_3 and R_2 stage, ii) quantify SNF for different dry bean cultivars, and iii) compare different rhizobia inoculants based on SNF and seed yields.

Materials and methods

Study site, design, and environment

A two-year field study was conducted during the growing seasons of 2016 and 2017 to check the potential of the *Rhizobia* inoculant and SNF of dry bean cultivars. In 2016, the experiment was carried out at the NDSU Research Experimental Station at Prosper, ND (47.02, - 97.15). In 2017, the experiment was in a farmer's field with no dry bean history at Felton, MN (47.14, -96.57). The initial soil parameters for both the fields are reported in the Table 1. The monthly mean air temperatures during the crop-growing season (from May to October) were

15.7°C in 2016 and 8.9°C in 2017; the amounts of total precipitation received during the growing season were 366 mm in 2016 and 335 mm in 2017 (Table 2). The experimental plots were laid out using a split-plot design where inoculant treatments were considered as main-plot treatment and dry bean cultivars as sub-plot treatments with four replications. Individual plot dimensions were $4*3 \text{ m}^2$ with four rows in 2016 and 7.6*3.4 m² with six rows in 2017.

Treatments

Three rhizobia inoculation treatments including a non-inoculated 'control', a commercial peat (N-DureTM, VerdesianTM) and a commercial liquid (Excalibre SATM, ABMTM) inoculants were used as pre-sowing seed inoculation in both years. The seeds were treated with rhizobia inoculant rate as per instructions in the manufacturers' protocol. Seeds with a single inoculation treatment were sown at a time and the planter was washed with 95% ethanol after application each inoculation treatment to avoid contamination. Seeds were planted at a depth between 2.5-3.8 cm.

Eight cultivars, four from pinto and kidney market classes (Table 2) were selected based on their popularity among dry bean growers in North Dakota and Minnesota area (most areas planted under the specific cultivar) as reported in 2014 Dry bean growers' survey (Knodel et al., 2015). No additional fertilizers were applied to the soil. Herbicides (Basagran[®] and Raptor[®]) were applied once and hand weeding at regular interval was done to control weeds until harvesting.

Initial rhizobia population

Soil samples were collected from the experimental fields before sowing of dry bean seeds each year using a clean soil probe that has been washed with soap and water, and then dried in air. Ten soil cores were taken randomly from the experimental plots at a 6-inch depth, broken up

with hands and then screened through a 2 mm sieve. From this sample, subsamples were taken for the rhizobia count. Background rhizobia populations in both the fields were estimated using these sub samples using most probable number (MPN) method (Brockwell, 1963). Rhizobia population in 2016 was estimated to be 19 rhizobia per g of soil, but in 2017, the rhizobia population could not be estimated and considered as zero.

	2016	2017
Location (Latitude, Longitude)	Prosper, ND (47.02, -97.15)	Felton, MN (47.14, -96.57)
Soil Series	Glyndon-Tiffany silt loam	Colvin silty clay loam
Previous crop	Wheat	Corn
pН	6.61	7.87
Electrical Conductivity (dS m ⁻¹)	1.03	0.98
Bulk density (g cm ⁻³)	1.34	1.21
Organic Carbon (%)	4.00	4.77
Sand (%)	11.4	3.70
Silt (%)	51.9	55.0
Clay (%)	36.7	41.3
Nitrate-N (Kg ha ⁻¹) (top 30 cm)	16.8	52.3
Olsen-P (ppm)	37.0	42.8
Available K (ppm)	312	441
Background ¹⁵ N (atom%)	0.37	0.37
Planting Date	18 th May	25 th May
Harvesting Date	7 th September	15 th September

Table 4.1: Location and initial soil parameters of the experimental fields in 2016 and 2017

Stable isotope enrichment and reference plant

Dry bean plants were supplied with K¹⁵NO₃ (enriched with 99.2 atom % ¹⁵N) for 5 atom% ¹⁵N enrichment and the solution was applied uniformly to the soil near the plants at 21 days after planting (DAP) for subsequent stable isotopic analysis following the isotope dilution technique (McAuliffe et al., 1958; Chalk, 1985). A non-nodulating navy dry bean mutant cultivar 'R99' (Shirtliffe and Vessey, 1996) was selected as the 'non-fixing' reference plant and maintained along with the dry bean cultivars in the field.

Table 4.2: Description of cultivars within pinto and kidney market classes of dry bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) selected in the study

Market Class	Cultivars	Origin	Dry bean plant type	PVP #
	Redhawk	Mich. AES	B (I)	200000264
Kidney	Pink Panther	Seminis	B (I)	200300266
	Foxfire	ADM/Seedwest	B (I)	9200069
	Montcalm	Mich. AES	B (I)	PVP 94 Protected
	La Paz	Provita	USV (II)	200500219
Pinto	Lariat	NDSU	USV (II)	200800305
	Windbreaker	Seminis	UV (IIb)	200500105
	ND-307	NDSU	UV (IIb)	200900009

UV: Upright Vine, USV: Upright short Vine, B: Bush; I: Bush- Determinate, II: Upright – Indeterminate; IIb: Upright indeterminate, but prostrated/ decumbent in some environments; III: prostrated/ Decumbent – Indeterminate; PVP #: Plant Variety Protection Number; Source: Drybean Production Guide, Edited by H. Kandel, NDSU Extension Service (2013)

Plant sampling and data collection

Plant samples were collected twice, one at third trifoliate (V_3) stage and another one at late flowering stage (R_2) . These two growth stages for sampling were selected as N_2 fixing activity has been reported to be higher in these two stages of growth (Franco et al., 1979). Both non-fixing and N_2 fixing legume plant samples were collected on the same day. Plant shoots were collected and root nodules were counted at both the growth stages. Fresh plant-shoot samples were weighed, and then dried at 55-60°C for 4 days.

Isotope dilution technique

Dried plant shoot tissues were ground to pass 0.02 mm screen, and about 3-4 mg of ground samples were encapsulated into tin (Sn) capsules. Encapsulated samples were packed in 96-well trays, and sent to UC Davis Stable Isotope facility. Samples were analyzed for isotopic ratio (i.e. ¹⁵N: ¹⁴N) using a continuous flow Isotope Ratio Mass Spectrometer (PDZ Europa ANCA-GSL elemental analyzer interfaced to a PDZ Europa 20-20 IRMS). Percent N derived from atmosphere (%Ndfa) was used as an indicator of SNF and was calculated from 'atom% ¹⁵N' values of plant samples using the following formula

% Ndfa =
$$\left(1 - \frac{atom\% 15_N excess in N_2 - fixing plant}{atom\% 15_N excess in reference plant}\right) \times 100$$

The 'atom % excess ¹⁵N' is the ¹⁵N enrichment above the background. i.e. atmosphere (the value is 0.3663%). The %Ndfa was calculated from ¹⁵N atom% excess of plant shoot tissue of the dry bean cultivars. N₂ fixation was calculated using the following formula:

 N_2 fixed (kg ha⁻¹) = Dry matter yield (kg ha⁻¹) * %Ndfa * N in plant tissue (%) Statistical analysis

The data of %Ndfa, N₂ fixed, and seed yield at the two sampling stages across two years were analyzed for analysis of variance (ANOVA) using generalized linear model using 'proc glm' procedure in SAS 9.4 software (SAS Institute, 2013). Environments (study year and location combined effect), inoculation treatments, market classes, cultivars nested in market class, were fixed factors, and the replications in each study site along with the interaction effects (growth stages × market class and growth stages × cultivars nested in market class) were considered as random factors. Combined analyses were also done pooling the data across two years together as the mean square error values for each attribute were in the permissible range for combined analyses. Generalized Linear Model was used to analyze the pooled data using 'proc glm' procedure. Least square means were computed using 'Ismeans' statement, standard errors of least squared means were estimated, and pairwise significant difference tests were performed using the 'adjust=TUKEY' statement at 95% significance level in SAS 9.4 software (SAS Institute, 2013).

Results and discussion

Significant differences were found among the different inoculation treatments and market classes for %Ndfa at V₃ stage, but at R₂, only market classes were significantly different across both environments (Table 3). Among the inoculation treatments, liquid (56%) had significantly lower %Ndfa at V₃ stage than peat (65%) and control (66%), and no significant difference was found between the latter two treatments (Table 4).

In this study, rhizobia inoculation did not significantly increase %Ndfa compared to control. Similar observations were reported in a multi-site trial where significant increase in %Ndfa was found in some of the sites, but not in the other sites (Denton et al., 2017). Another study reported that the N derived from N_2 fixation was not significantly different for all the inoculation treatments including control across all study conditions even when there were differences in the number of native rhizobia and the soil available N levels (Peoples et al., 1992).

	Ndfa at V ₃ (%)	Ndfa at R ₂ (%)	Dry matter (kg ha ⁻¹)	Seed yield (kg ha ⁻¹)
Environment	<.0001**	<.0001**	< 0.0001**	<.0001**
Inoculation	<.0001**	0.2589 ^{NS}	0.0259*	0.0009**
Market Class	<.0001**	0.0121*	0.0065**	<.0001**
Cultivar (MC)	<.0001**	0.3254 ^{NS}	0.0924 ^{NS}	<.0001**
Inoculation*Market Class	0.0041**	0.2362 ^{NS}	0.3777 ^{NS}	0.0045**
Inoculation*Cultivar (MC)	0.0465*	0.4687 ^{NS}	0.7620^{NS}	0.9685 ^{NS}
Environment *Inoculation	0.7190 ^{NS}	0.0564 ^{NS}	0.3848 ^{NS}	0.0930 ^{NS}
Environment *Market class	0.0029**	0.9448 ^{NS}	0.0811 ^{NS}	0.3504 ^{NS}
Environment *Cultivar (MC)	0.0001**	0.0864 ^{NS}	0.3603 ^{NS}	0.0170*
Environment *Inoculation*Market Class	0.2395 ^{NS}	0.0025**	0.2824^{NS}	0.0258*
Environment *Inoculation*Cultivar (MC)	0.0291^{*}	0.4092 ^{NS}	0.9825 ^{NS}	0.1686 ^{NS}

Table 4.3: Probability levels for significant factors for percent nitrogen derived from atmosphere (%Ndfa) at third trifoliate (V₃) and late flowering (R₂) stage, N₂ fixed (kg ha⁻¹), and seed yield (kg ha⁻¹) after combined analyses

* Treatment main effect statistically significant at P < 0.05; ** treatment main effect statistically significant at P < 0.01; NS: treatment main effect statistically non-significant

Table 4.4: Variation in mean percent N derived from atmosphere (%Ndfa) at V_3 stage and seed yield (kg ha⁻¹) among inoculation treatments after combined analysis

Inoculation	%Ndfa (V ₃)	Seed Yield (kg ha ⁻¹)
Control	65.7a (4.1)	1632a (69.5)
Liquid	55.7b (3.8)	1336b (86.1)
Peat	65.0a (3.5)	1411b (105)

Standard errors are given in parenthesis below mean values for the significant effects; Treatment means followed by same lowercase letter(s) are not significantly different at P < 0.05

Table 4.5: Variation in mean percent N derived from atmosphere (%Ndfa) at V_3 and R_2 stage and seed yield (kg ha⁻¹) between market classes after combined analysis

Market Class	%Ndfa (V ₃)	%Ndfa (R ₂)	Seed yield (Mg ha ⁻¹)
Kidney	55.6b (2.4)	73.5b (1.5)	1.08b (0.06)
Pinto	67.8a (1.9)	78.0a (1.4)	1.84a (0.05)

Standard errors are given in parenthesis below mean values for the significant effects; Treatment means followed by same lowercase letter(s) are not significantly different at P < 0.05

Table 4.6: Variation in mean seed yield (kg ha⁻¹) among kidney cultivars after combined analysis

Cultivar	Seed Yield (Mg ha ⁻¹)
Foxfire	0.91b (0.12)
Montcalm	1.43a (0.12)
Pink Panther	1.18ab (0.15)
Redhawk	0.80b (0.08)

Standard errors are given in parenthesis below mean values for the significant effects; Treatment means followed by same lowercase letter(s) are not significantly different at P < 0.05

There might be several reasons behind this outcome as reported in earlier studies. The native rhizobia that reside in soil are also capable of producing nodules in dry bean roots and take part in the SNF. There are several studies reported earlier that mentioned that native rhizobia are capable of fixing substantial amount of N_2 from atmosphere (Martins et al., 2003; Koskey et al., 2017). In our study, we found 19 rhizobia g⁻¹ of soil in 2016, which indicates there was a high chance that in control plots, dry bean plants would be nodulated by the native rhizobia strains, and the native strains would have helped in SNF. Although, we could not estimate the initial rhizobia population in 2017, but nodulation was found in the control plots too. In addition, rhizobia strains that are chosen for commercial inoculants not only based their symbiotic efficiency, instead, mostly based on their high reproducing ability, high growth rate or surviving ability in variable conditions (Bergersen et al., 1971). There are several other factors

such as competitive ability with other strains, speed of nodule production, ability to fix N_2 under wide range of soil thermal and moisture conditions, resistance to chemicals and acidic conditions in soils, which may not correlate well with N_2 fixation or seed yield (Date, 2000). Thus, in the inoculated plots, no significant increase in %Ndfa was found.

Table 4.7: Variation in mean seed yield (kg ha⁻¹) among inoculation and market class interactions after combined analysis

Market Class	Inoculation			
Market Class -	Control	Liquid	Peat	
Kidney	1.40bA (0.07)	0.94bB (0.07)	0.91bC (0.08)	
Pinto	1.87a (0.05)	1.74a (0.06)	1.92a (0.08)	

Standard errors are given in parenthesis below mean values for the significant effects; Treatment means followed by same lowercase letter(s) are not significantly different between cultivars and treatment means followed by same uppercase letter(s) are not significantly different among inoculation treatments at P < 0.05

N₂ fixation activity depends on the symbiotic efficiency between the rhizobium strain and the legume genotype (Thilakarathna and Raizada, 2017). Higher %Ndfa at V₃ stage was obtained with peat inoculation compared to liquid inoculation which possibly indicated better symbiotic efficiency of rhizobia strains of peat inoculant with the dry bean genotypes compared to liquid inoculant strains (Table 4). It is long known that different *R. phaseoli* strains produced significantly different number and amount of nodules in different dry bean genotypes (Weiser et al., 1985). Also, there is always a possibility that the liquid inoculant probably did not adhere to the dry bean seed coat properly during application through the seeder and carried lesser number of rhizobia per seed than the peat inoculants as less number of rhizobia adhering to the seeds may limit nodulation (Date, 2000; Deaker et al., 2004). In addition, the carrier material influences the longevity of the bacteria, thus influence numbers of viable rhizobia available during nodulation (Deaker et al., 2004); these two different formulations, peat and liquid, might have introduced differences in their supply of viable rhizobia for symbiosis.

In our experiment, control had higher %Ndfa than liquid inoculation and comparable %Ndfa with peat inoculant, which possibly indicated that even native rhizobia were probably more efficient dry bean symbionts than the liquid inoculant strains, which resulted in higher %Ndfa. In the control plots, probably only native rhizobia nodulated dry bean plants and took part in symbiosis as no commercial inoculant was applied , and it was also reported that there are six different genera of rhizobia that can nodulate dry bean (vanBerkum et al., 1996; Herrera-Cervera et al., 1999). Previous studies have also shown that the native rhizobia strains performed better than the inoculant strains (Tajini et al., 2008; Mulas et al., 2015). The influence of native rhizobia population on effectiveness of rhizobia inoculation was reported earlier and it was concluded that N requirements were varied based on native rhizobia population and their effectiveness as it influences symbiotic efficiency and subsequent N₂ fixation (Argaw and Tsigie, 2015), but in this study, the rhizobia species in the nodules of dry bean plants were not determined.

In the liquid inoculated plots, the native and inoculant rhizobia co-existed as it was assumed that native rhizobia population was not restricted by any means such as chemicals and agronomic practices, and competed for symbiosis with the dry beans, for nutrition and habitat (Mengel et al., 2001). As a large population of rhizobia was added as liquid inoculation in the proximity of the seeds during sowing, probably dry bean plants in the liquid inoculated plots were dominantly nodulated by liquid inoculant *Rhizobium* strains. The speed of nodulation, i.e. how fast the rhizobia can nodulate the plant roots, is a major factor that influences competitive ability of rhizobia (de Oliveira and Graham, 1990) and there was higher probability for the liquid

inoculant rhizobia strain to infect and nodulate the plant roots before the native rhizobia strains. Lower %Ndfa and subsequent lower N_2 fixation in these plots might indicate the lower symbiotic efficiency of the liquid inoculant strain with the dry bean cultivars used in these study (Table 4; A8, A11).

Between the two market classes under study, pinto (68 at V_3 and 78 at R_2 stage) had significantly higher %Ndfa at V_3 and R_2 stage compared to kidney (56 at V_3 and 74 at R_2 stage) (Table 5). Differences in %Ndfa between kidney and pinto market classes and among commercial cultivars within each market class (Table A6, A7) can be attributed to their genetic makeup and symbiotic efficiencies with rhizobia strains as reported in earlier studies on dry beans (Rennie and Kemp, 1982; Weiser et al., 1985). The market classes and the cultivars also differ in their growth habits and agronomic performance in different growing conditions, thus acquisition of N from the environment i.e. soil and atmosphere was also different (Table 2) (Hardarson et al., 1993). The market classes and cultivars had differences in their biomass and seed yield (Appendix A9, A10), therefore, their N requirement and N₂ fixation activities were different as concluded in an earlier study (Denton et al., 2017).

Seed yields among inoculation treatments, between the market classes and among the kidney cultivars were significantly different across environments (Table 3). Among the inoculation treatments, peat and liquid had significantly lower seed yield compared to control (Table 4). Rhizobia inoculation did not increase seed yield significantly in our experiments in both years as reported in earlier studies, and specially studies that took place in the northern great plains (Bengtsson, 1989; Vessey, 2003; Denton et al., 2017). Contrastingly, in most of the rhizobia inoculation studies, significantly higher seed yields were obtained with inoculation (Hungria et al., 2003; Zhang et al., 2010). It has been also reported that rhizobia inoculation was

mostly effective to increase in seed yield when applied to a field for the first time (Bengtsson, 1989; Vessey, 2003). Similarly, our field experiment in 2017 were laid out in a field without any dry bean history, but no significant increment in %Ndfa or seed yield was found. Another study reported that rhizobia inoculation increased grain yield of pigeon pea (*Cajanus cajan*) when the N rate was lower (15 kg ha⁻¹), but did not increase yield significantly when the N rate was doubled (Singh et al., 1998). Likewise, in our study, higher initial soil NO₃⁻-N availability was found in 2017 compared to 2016 (Table 1), and lower mean %Ndfa values were found in 2017 than 2016 (Supplementary table 2).

Between the market classes, pinto (1.84 Mg ha⁻¹) had significantly higher yield than kidney (1.08 Mg ha⁻¹) (Table 5). In the dry bean varietal trials organized by NDSU, similar reports of pinto yielding more seeds than kidney were published, but seed yield values reported were higher than the values found in our field trials (Kandel et al., 2016). Cultivars within kidney market class showed significant variation; Montcalm (1.43 Mg ha⁻¹) had highest seed yield followed by Pink Panther (1.18 Mg ha⁻¹), Foxfire (0.91 Mg ha⁻¹), and Redhawk (0.80 Mg ha⁻¹) (Table 6). Seed yield differences among market classes and cultivars could be due to genotypic differences as reported in previous studies, but symbiotic efficiency and acquiring N from atmosphere can be another possibility that influenced seed yield (Hardarson et al., 1993). Similarly, in our study, higher %Ndfa at both the growth stages were found in pinto compared to kidney which might have translated into higher seed yield in pinto compared to kidney (Table 5).

Interaction between inoculation and market class for seed yield was found significant and true (not due to magnitude) (Table 3). Under all the inoculation treatments, pinto had higher seed yield than kidney. On the other hand, kidney had highest seed yield under control (1.4 Mg ha⁻¹), followed by liquid (0.94 Mg ha⁻¹) and peat (0.91 Mg ha⁻¹) inoculation (Table 7). For some

kidney cultivars, a negative interaction was found between inoculant and seed germination in some cultivars, which eventually resulted in poor plant stands and dry matter yield for Pink Panther and Redhawk under inoculation (Supplementary Table 9); poor plant stand due to poor germination was another plausible reason for poor seed yield in specific kidney cultivars.

Most of the previous studies that reported increment in SNF potential of dry bean cultivars with rhizobia inoculation did not consider the effect of market classes, and compared the cultivars irrespective of their market classes (Rennie and Kemp, 1982; Hardarson et al., 1993). However, the phenotypic (growth habit, N uptake and accumulation pattern, root growth, and agronomic behavior in different environmental conditions) and genotypic variations among dry bean market classes are too variable to be considered as similar study system, however in this study, we compared market classes of dry beans and the cultivars within each market classes (Table 2). Future studies should consider different dry bean market classes with variable growth habits and more growth stages to understand the need of rhizobia inoculation and reveal the detailed physiology behind SNF in dry beans.

References

- Argaw, A., and A. Tsigie. 2015. Indigenous rhizobia population influences the effectiveness of *Rhizobium* inoculation and need of inorganic N for common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) production in eastern Ethiopia. Chem. Biol. Technol. Agric. 2(1): 1–13.
- Barrie, A. 1991. New methodologies in stable isotope analysis. Vienna, Austria.
- Bengtsson, A. 1989. Field Experiments with inoculation and Nitrogen Fertilization of Peas. Swedish J. Agric. Res. 19: 3–6.
- Bergersen, F.J., J. Brockwell, E.A. Schwinghamer, and A.H. Gibson. 1971. Studies of Natural Populations and Mutants of *Rhizobium* in The Improvement of Legume Inoculants. Plant Soil 35(1): 3–16.
- Boddey, R.M., M. Phillip, R.L. Victoria, and E. Matswi. 1984. Nitrogen Fixation by Nodulated Soybean Under Tropical Field Condotions Estimated by the ¹⁵N Isotope Dilution Technique. Adv. Agron. 16(6): 583–588.

- Brockwell, J. 1963. Accuracy of a Plant-Infection Technique for Counting Populations of *Rhizobium trifolii*. Appl. Microbiol. 11(5): 377–83.
- Buetow, R., G.H. Mehring, H. Kandel, B. Johnson, and J.M. Osorno. 2017. Nitrogen Fertilization and Inoculation Effects on Dry Bean. Agric. Sci. 08(10): 1065–1081.
- Buttery, B.R., S.J. Park, and W.I. Findlay. 1987. Growth and yield of white bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) in response to nitrogen, phosphorus and potassium fertilizer and to inoculation with *Rhizobium*. Can. J. Plant Sci. 67(2): 425–432.
- Chalk, P.M. 1985. Estimation of N₂ fixation by isotope dilution. Soil Biol. Biochem. 17(4): 389–410.
- Ciafardini, G., and C. Barbieri. 1984. A new soybean inoculation system: The distribution of the symbiont in coverage. Inf. Agr. 19: 63–65.
- Danso, S.K.A. 1986. Estimation of N₂-fixation by isotope dilution: An appraisal of techniques involving ¹⁵N enrichment and their application—Comments. Soil Biol. Biochem. 18(3): 243–244.
- Date, R.A. 2000. Inoculated legumes in cropping systems of the tropics. F. Crop. Res. 65(2–3): 123–136.
- Deaker, R., R.J. Roughley, and I.R. Kennedy. 2004. Legume seed inoculation technology A review. Soil Biol. Biochem. 36(8): 1275–1288.
- Denton, M.D., L.A. Phillips, M.B. Peoples, D.J. Pearce, A.D. Swan, P.M. Mele, and J. Brockwell. 2017. Legume inoculant application methods: effects on nodulation patterns, nitrogen fixation, crop growth and yield in narrow-leaf lupin and faba bean. Plant Soil 419(1–2): 25–39.
- Farid, M., H.J. Earl, and A. Navabi. 2016. Yield stability of dry bean genotypes across nitrogenfixation-dependent and fertilizer-dependent management systems. Crop Sci. 56(1): 173– 182.
- Farid, M., H.J. Earl, K.P. Pauls, and A. Navabi. 2017. Response to selection for improved nitrogen fixation in common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.). Euphytica 213(4): 1–13.
- Farid, M., and A. Navabi. 2015. N₂ fixation ability of different dry bean genotypes. Can. J. Plant Sci. 95(6): 1243–1257.
- Franco, A.A., J.C. Pereira, and C.A. Neyra. 1979. Seasonal Patterns of Nitrate Reductase and Nitrogenase Activities in *Phaseolus vulgaris* L. Plant Physiol. 63(3): 421–4.
- Hardarson, G., F.A. Bliss, M.R. Cigales-Rivero, R.A. Henson, J.A. Kipe-Nolt, L. Longeri, A. Manrique, J.J. Peña-Cabriales, P.A.A. Pereira, C.A. Sanabria, and S.M. Tsai. 1993.
 Genotypic variation in biological nitrogen fixation by common bean. Plant Soil 152(1): 59–70.

- Heilig, J.A., J.S. Beaver, E.M. Wright, Q. Song, and J.D. Kelly. 2017. QTL analysis of symbiotic nitrogen fixation in a black bean population. Crop Sci. 57(1): 118–129.
- Herrera-Cervera, J.A., J. Caballero-Mellado, G. Laguerre, H.V. Tichy, N. Requena, N. Amarger,
 E. Martínez-Romero, J. Olivares, and J. Sanjuan. 1999. At least five rhizobial species nodulate *Phaseolus vulgaris* in a Spanish soil. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 30(1): 87–97.
- Herridge, D.F., M.B. Peoples, and R.M. Boddey. 2008. Global inputs of biological nitrogen fixation in agricultural systems. Plant Soil 311(1–2): 1–18.
- Hungria, M., R.J. Campo, and I.C. Mendes. 2003. Benefits of inoculation of the common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris*) crop with efficient and competitive *Rhizobium tropici* strains. Biol. Fertil. Soils 39(2): 88–93.
- Hynes, R.K., K.A. Craig, D. Covert, R.J. Rennie, and R.S. Smith. 1995. Liquid Rhizobia Inoculants for Lentil and Field Pea. J. Prod. Agric. 8(4): 547–552.
- Kandel, H., J. Osorno, J. Vanderwal, M. Kloberdanz, N. Main, K. Cooper, L. Besemann, H. Eslinger, O. Irrigation, M. Ostlie, and B. Schatz. 2016. North Dakota Dry Bean Variety Trial Results for 2016 and Selection Guide.
- Knodel, J.J., P.B. Beauzay, D.W. Franzen, H.J. Kandel, S.G. Markell, and J.M. Osorno. 2015. 2014 dry bean grower survey of pest problems and pesticide use in Minnesota and North Dakota.
- Koskey, G., S.W. Mburu, E.M. Njeru, J.M. Kimiti, O. Ombori, and J.M. Maingi. 2017. Potential of Native Rhizobia in Enhancing Nitrogen Fixation and Yields of Climbing Beans (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) in Contrasting Environments of Eastern Kenya. Front. Plant Sci. 8(March).
- Martins, L.M. V., G.R. Xavier, F.W. Rangel, J.R.A. Ribeiro, M.C.P. Neves, L.B. Morgado, and N.G. Rumjanek. 2003. Contribution of biological nitrogen fixation to cowpea: a strategy for improving grain yield in the semi-arid region of Brazil. Biol. Fertil. Soils 38(6): 333– 339.
- McAuliffe, C., D.S. Chamblee, H. Uribe-Arango, and W.W. Woodhouse. 1958. Influence of Inorganic Nitrogen on Nitrogen Fixation by Legumes as Revealed by N¹⁵. Agron. J. 50(6): 334–337.
- Mengel, K., E.A. Kirkby, H. Kosegarten, and T. Appel. 2001. Nitrogen. p. 397–434. In Mengel, K., Kirkby, E.A., Kosegarten, H., Appel, T. (eds.), Principles of Plant Nutrition. Springer Netherlands, Dordrecht.
- Mulas, D., V. Seco, P.A. Casquero, E. Velázquez, and F. González-Andrés. 2015. Inoculation with indigenous rhizobium strains increases yields of common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) in northern Spain, although its efficiency is affected by the tillage system. Symbiosis 67(1–3): 113–124.

- de Oliveira, L.A., and P.H. Graham. 1990. Speed of nodulation and competitive ability among strains of *Rhizobium leguminosarum* by *phaseoli*. Arch. Microbiol. 153(4): 311–315.
- Peoples, M.B., M.J. Bell, and H.V.A. Bushby. 1992. Effect of rotation and Inoculation with *Bradyrhizobium* on Nitrogen Fixation and Yield of Peanut. Aust. J. Agric. Res. 43: 595– 607.
- Rennie, R.J., and G.A. Kemp. 1982. N₂-Fixation in Field Beans Quantified by ¹⁵N Isotope Dilution. II. Effect of Cultivars of Beans. Agron. J. 75(4): 645–649.
- Rennie, R.J., and G.A. Kemp. 1984. ¹⁵N-determined time course for N₂ fixation in two cultivars of field bean. Agron. J. 76(1): 146–154.
- Ronner, E., A.C. Franke, B. Vanlauwe, M. Dianda, E. Edeh, B. Ukem, A. Bala, J. van Heerwaarden, and K.E. Giller. 2016. Understanding variability in soybean yield and response to P-fertilizer and rhizobium inoculants on farmers' fields in northern Nigeria. F. Crop. Res. 186: 133–145.
- Shirtliffe, S.J., and J.K. Vessey. 1996. A nodulation (Nod+/Fix-) mutant of Phaseolus vulgaris L. has nodule- like structures lacking peripheral vascular bundles (Pvb-) and is resistant to mycorrhizal infection (Myc-). Plant Sci. 118(2): 209–220.
- Singh, G.V., N.S. Rana, and I.P.S. Ahlawat. 1998. Effect of nitrogen, Rhizobium,inoculation and phosphorus on growth and yield of pigeonpea (*Cajanus cajan*). Indian J. Agron. 43(2): 358–361.
- Singleton, P., H. Keyser, and E. Sande. 2002. Development and evaluation of liquid inoculants. p. 52–66. *In* Inoculants and nitrogen fixation of legumes in vietnam.
- Singleton, P.W., and J.W. Tavares. 1986. Inoculation response of legumes in relation to the number and effectiveness of indigenous *Rhizobium* populations. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 51(5): 1013–1018.
- Tajini, F., J.J. Drevon, L. Lamouchi, M.E. Aouani, and M. Trabelsi. 2008. Response of common bean lines to inoculation: Comparison between the *Rhizobium tropici* CIAT899 and the native *Rhizobium etli* 12a3 and their persistence in Tunisian soils. World J. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 24(3): 407–417.
- Thilakarathna, M.S., and M.N. Raizada. 2017. A meta-analysis of the effectiveness of diverse rhizobia inoculants on soybean traits under field conditions. Soil Biol. Biochem. 105: 177–196.
- Triboi, E., and A.M. Triboi-Blondel. 2014. Towards Sustainable, Self-Supporting Agriculture: Biological Nitrogen Factories as a Key for Future Cropping Systems. p. 329–342. *In* Dent, D. (ed.), Soil as World Heritage. Springer Netherlands, Dordrecht.

- vanBerkum, P., D. Beyene, and B.D. Eardly. 1996. Phylogenetic relationships among *Rhizobium* species nodulating the common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L). Int. J. Syst. Bacteriol. 46(1): 240–244.
- Vessey, J.K. 2003. Benefits of inoculating legume crops with rhizobia in the northern great plains. Proc. Manitoba Agron. Conf. 14-15 December 2003. Univ. Manitoba, Winnipeg, Manitoba, Canada (8): 141–149.
- Weiser, G.C., K.F. Grafton, and D.L. Berryhill. 1985. Nodulation of Dry Beans by Commercial and Indigenous Strains of *Rhizobium phaseoli*. Agron. J. 859: 1983–1986.
- Witty, J.F., R.J. Rennie, and C.A. Atkins. 1988. 15N addition methods for assessing N₂ fixation under field conditions. p. 715–730. *In* Summerfield, R.J. (ed.), World crops: Cool season food legumes: A global perspective of the problems and prospects for crop improvement in pea, lentil, faba bean and chickpea. Springer Netherlands, Dordrecht.
- Youseif, S., F. Abd El-Megeed, and S. Saleh. 2017. Improvement of Faba Bean Yield Using *Rhizobium/Agrobacterium* Inoculant in Low-Fertility Sandy Soil. Agronomy 7(1): 2.
- Zhang, N.N., Y.M. Sun, L. Li, E.T. Wang, W.X. Chen, and H.L. Yuan. 2010. Effects of intercropping and *Rhizobium* inoculation on yield and rhizosphere bacterial community of faba bean (*Vicia faba* L.). Biol. Fertil. Soils 46(6): 625–639.

CHAPTER V: EXPRESSION DYNAMICS OF RHIZOBIAL NIFH AND DRY BEAN (*PHASEOLUS VULGARIS* L.) NR AND GS GENES AT DIFFERENT GROWTH STAGES IS GENOTYPE DEPENDENT AND CORRELATE WITH AMOUNT OF TOTAL NITROGEN FIXED

Abstract

Selection of dry bean (Phaseolus vulgaris L.) cultivars that induce higher levels of symbiotic nitrogen fixation (SNF), an environment-friendly source of nitrogen (N), in association with *Rhizobium phaseoli* could reduce the application rate of N fertilizer. The bacterial *nifH* gene is a 'marker' for SNF, which provides organic N that can be assimilated into plant proteins by the N-assimilatory enzymes nitrate reductase (encoded by the NR gene) and glutamine synthetase (encoded by the GS gene). However, research showing that host-symbiont genotype specific interactions determine *nifH* gene expression levels that correlate with phenotypic expression (i.e. the amount of N₂ fixed by the plant) in legume crops including dry bean is lacking. To fill this knowledge gap, bacterial *nifH* gene expression levels were correlated with the expression of the N-assimilatory plant genes NR and GS, and N assimilation during host-symbiont interaction with different dry bean cultivars at different growth stages. The experiments tested the hypothesis that quantification of bacterial and plant marker genes could predict the amount of total N-assimilation as determined by legume plant genotypes. We studied the expression dynamics of dry bean NR and GS along with the Rhizobium phaseoli nifH gene in four dry bean commercial cultivars La Paz, Lariat, Windbreaker, and ND-307 at the third trifoliate (V_3) and late flowering (R_2) stages using robust gene specific primers that produced reproducible qPCR data. It was determined that ND-307 had higher *nifH* gene expression at both growth stages and fixed more N₂ than all other cultivars. At the R₂ stage, the *nifH* gene

expression was upregulated, whereas, *NR* and *GS* gene expression was downregulated compared to the V₃ stage. The amount of N₂ fixed by the cultivars was significantly correlated ($r^2 = 0.82$) with the relative normalized *nifH* gene expression, validating this molecular assay as a tool to screen N₂ fixation potential of dry bean. The downregulation of N-assimilatory genes at the later stages of growth indicated that SNF could not support plant N demand and supplemental N addition can benefit legume production.

Keywords: Dry bean, *Rhizobium*, symbiotic nitrogen fixation, nitrogen assimilation, *nifH*, nitrate reductase, glutamine synthetase

Introduction

Symbiotic Nitrogen Fixation (SNF), a significant component of the global nitrogen (N) cycle, is carried out by a class of prokaryotes (Bacteria and Archaea) known as 'diazotrophs'(Burns and Hardy, 1975; Ludden, 2001). About half of the N input in the global ecosystem is contributed by SNF (Vitousek et al., 1997). Although, N is abundant in the atmosphere, the dinitrogen (N₂) form is relatively inert and not reactive towards oxidation or reduction, thus, is unavailable to most organisms. Only diazotrophs (e.g. *Rhizobium, Azotobacter* etc.) can fix N₂ as free-living organisms or symbiotically in association with higher plants (Phillips, 1980; Howard and Rees, 1996).

Eukaryotic systems lack the genes to synthesize the nitrogenase enzyme complex that carries out reactions of N₂ fixation (Seefeldt et al., 2017). A class of higher plants in the family Fabaceae has the ability to engage in symbiotic relationships with *Rhizobia* and utilize the fixed N₂. Rhizobia can colonize legumes by forming nodules and live as a N₂ fixing symbiont (Peter et al., 1996; Hong et al., 2012). During SNF, atmospheric N₂ is reduced to ammonium (NH₄⁺) or ammonia (NH₃) through reactions catalyzed by the two-component dinitrogenase-dinitrogenase

reductase complex that form the nitrogenase enzymes (Ludden, 2001). Nitrogenases are encoded by a set of operons that consists of structural genes (*nifH*, *D*, and *K*), regulatory genes (*nifL* and *A*), and a few supplementary genes in diazotrophic bacteria (Cheng, 2008). Nitrogenases have two main subunits: dinitrogenase (molybdenum-iron, Mo-Fe protein), which is the heterotetrameric core encoded by *nifD* and *nifK* and dinitrogenase reductase (Fe protein) encoded by *nifH* (Kim and Rees, 1994). The *nifH* gene is a universally accepted marker for SNF as it is found to be highly conserved among N₂ fixing organisms in natural environments and is widely used to study the ecological and evolutionary aspects of N₂ fixing bacteria (Izquierdo and Nüsslein, 2006; Farnelid et al., 2011).

About a quarter of the total N₂ fixation in the global ecosystem is contributed by rhizobia-legume symbiosis and the symbiotic compatibility between rhizobia and host legumes varies widely (Wang et al., 2018). Therefore, when studying N₂ fixation in this symbiotic system, the dynamics of *nifH* gene expression may provide a robust biomarker to identify host genotypes that are effective at inducing higher levels of N₂ fixation in association with their bacterial counterparts. In free-living diazotrophic communities, the *nifH* gene expression was found to be correlated with the amount of N₂ fixed and phenotypic expression (such as in *Azotobacter vinelandii* the correlation was found to be $r^2 = 0.72$ in soil and $r^2 = 0.84$ in liquid culture; Bürgmann et al., 2003); however, in symbiotic systems, this fact is yet to be discovered.

In a symbiotic system, there are mainly two sources of N available to the plant: available N from the soil as nitrate (NO₃⁻) or NH₄⁺, and NH₃ from SNF. The NO₃⁻ first must be reduced to NH₃ before it can be assimilated as organic nitrogenous compounds in the plant system (Crawford and Arnst, 1993). Reduction of NO₃⁻ is a two-step process: NO₃⁻ is first reduced to nitrite (NO₂⁻) in the cytosol, a reaction catalyzed by the plant enzyme nitrate reductase (encoded

by *NR* gene), and then NO_2^- is reduced to NH₃ with the help of the enzyme nitrite reductase (Lam et al., 1996). NH₃ is assimilated into amino acids in stepwise reactions involving glutamine synthetase (GS), glutamate synthase (also known as glutaimine-2-oxoglutarate aminotransferase or GOGAT), and glutamate dehydrogenase (GDH) present as isoenzymes encoded by distinct genes (Lam et al., 1996; Mengel et al., 2001). Glutamine synthetase (GS; EC 6.3.1.2) is the key enzyme involved in the very first step of NH₃ assimilation, where it catalyzes the condensation of NH₃ and glutamate into glutamine with the help of another enzyme, glutamate synthase, in an ATP- dependent reaction (McGrath and Coruzzi, 1991; Cullimore and Bennett, 1992). Therefore, the genes that encode these enzymes involved in N-assimilation in the plant system are the genes that should be considered when studying gene expression to identify N-assimilation activity.

Dry bean, the second most important grain legume, is a relatively poor N₂ fixing legume plant (Tajini et al., 2008). Earlier studies reported that dry bean fixes approximately 35-40 kg of N ha⁻¹, while other grain legumes were reported to fix more than 70 kg of N ha⁻¹ (Farid and Navabi, 2015). Some studies also reported that few cultivars of dry beans fixed more than 100 kg of N ha⁻¹ (Rennie and Kemp, 1982). From earlier studies it was evident that there is large variation in the ability of dry bean genotypes to induce N₂ fixation, thus, there is potential to identify and utilize dry bean genotypes with higher N₂ fixing potential to facilitate genetic studies to understand the variability or polymorphisms within their genetic make-up that contribute to this positive agronomic attribute. Dry bean is one of the most important crops in the Red River Valley and North Dakota alone shares 39 percent of total dry bean produced in the USA. This information and genetic markers could then be utilized to select for higher N₂ fixing genotypes when developing dry bean cultivars in breeding programs.

The use of ¹⁵N, a stable isotope of N, is the most reliable and accurate approach to quantify N₂ fixation and it has been extensively reviewed (Chalk, 1985; Witty et al., 1988). Among several ¹⁵N-isotopic methods, the 'Isotope dilution technique' has high efficiency in discriminating the N₂ fixed from the atmosphere and the N taken up from the soil, though this technique is most accurate when the 'percent N derived from atmosphere' %Ndfa exceeds 70% and less suitable when N₂ fixation values are less than 30% (Danso, 1986; Barrie, 1991). A nonfixing reference plant is needed to estimate %Ndfa and both the fixing and reference plants should uptake N from the soil with same ¹⁵N isotopic composition (Boddey et al., 1984). Moreover, ¹⁵N enriched fertilizers for media enrichment as well as the analysis of enriched plant tissues in the Isotope Ratio Mass Spectroscope (IRMS) is very costly and sensitive to minimal variations.

Our study was primarily focused on determining if the plant genotype specific induction of rhizobial *nifH* gene expression could be indicative of the potential N₂ fixation potential and N assimilation during host-symbiont interactions. This outcome would also provide strong evidence that *nifH* gene expression correlates to the phenotypic expression in the symbiotic system i.e. amount of N₂ fixation. In addition, we were interested in studying the expression and regulation of the N assimilatory genes *NR* and *GS* during the symbiotic relationship, as there is a knowledge gap regarding the expression of these genes during the host-symbiont interaction. In this study, we report the first molecular evidence correlating *nifH* gene expression with phenotyp expression during the symbiotic relationship.

Materials and methods

Greenhouse condition and study design

Greenhouse experiments to study gene expression in dry bean cultivars were conducted at North Dakota State University (NDSU) during spring 2017. The greenhouse temperature was maintained at 30°-35°C during day and 19°-23°C during the night. A sixteen-hour light and eighthour dark photoperiod was maintained in the greenhouse taking advantage of natural sunlight supplemented with high-pressure 60W artificial sodium artificial lighting.

Four commercial pinto bean cultivars, La Paz, Lariat, Windbreaker, and ND-307 were selected for this study (Table 1). Plants were grown in a 3:1 sand-vermiculite mixture in 2500 cm³ closed bottom opaque pots. Pots were laid out in a completely randomized design (CRD) with factorial arrangement of four dry bean cultivars × two growth stages (V₃ and R₂) × two inoculation treatments (control and inoculated) × five replications.

Planting and fertilization

Non-treated (no fungicide treatment) dry bean seeds were washed with non-chlorinated water and pinched for better germination in the greenhouse. Seeds were then treated with a peatbased *Rhizobium* inoculant slurry following the manufacturer's instruction (N-DureTM, Verdesian), and subsequently air-dried for five minutes just before sowing. Four seeds were planted in each pot and one week after germination, seedlings were thinned to two seedlings per pot, and maintained until sampling. Plants were provided with a minimal amount of N (12.5 mg plant⁻¹) to force nodulation. All other nutrients were supplied through Hoagland's N-free solution (Sigma Aldrich[®]).

Cultivars	Origin	Dry bean plant type	PVP #	Accession#
La Paz	Provita	USV (II)	200500219	PI 639241
Lariat	NDSU	USV (II)	200800305	PI 654383
Windbreaker	Seminis	UV (IIb)	200500105	PI 638525
ND-307	NDSU	UV (IIb)	200900009	PI 655297

Table 5.1: Description, plant variety protection (PVP) numbers, and accession numbers of cultivars pinto cultivars selected for the study

UV: Upright Vine, USV: Upright short Vine, II: Upright – Indeterminate; IIb: Upright indeterminate, but prostrated/ decumbent in some environments; PVP #: Plant Variety Protection Number (USDA-AMS-ST-PVPO, 2017); Source ("U.S. National Plant Germplasm System,"; Osorno et al., 2013; USDA-AMS-ST-PVPO, 2017)

Sample collection

Plant samples were collected twice; first at the third trifoliate or V₃ stage, 35 days after planting (DAP) and second at the late flowering stage or R_2 (45 DAP). The V₃ stage is representative of the vegetative growth period and R₂ stage for reproductive growth. It is also known that nodules lose their ability to fix N₂ during pod filling which occurs during the R₅-R₆ stages (Franco et al., 1979; Flynn and Idowu, 2015). All samples were collected at the same time (between 2 pm and 4 pm) of the day to maintain the homogeneity among the samples since NR gene expression shows circadian rhythm (Cheng et al., 1991). The leaf samples were collected from the youngest trifoliate and only the middle leaflets were collected removing the petiole and leaf edges (~100 mg leaf tissue). Only pink-colored active nodules were collected with the help of sterilized forceps and about 30 nodules were collected from each plant. All the equipment and collected plant tissues were washed with 70 percent ethanol solution and RNaseZap[™] RNase decontamination solution (Thermo Fisher Scientific[™]). The leaf and nodule tissue samples were collected in nuclease free centrifuge tubes and flash frozen in a liquid N2 bath within two minutes after collection (half-life of RNA), which immediately moved from the liquid N₂ bath into -80°C storage until RNA extraction was performed.

Total RNA extraction

Studying specific gene expressions in plant tissues needs a robust, highly efficient protocol to extract the total RNA from tissues, and this knowledge was lacking mainly for dry bean nodule and leaf tissues. In this study, total RNA was extracted from nodule and leaf tissue samples using the 'RNeasy Mini Kit' (QiagenTM) with modifications in the manufacturer's protocol (Qiagen, 2012). The new protocol was standardized and optimized after rigorous quality checks. RLT, RPE, and Lysis buffers were prepared following the manufacturer's instruction. 15 μ l beta-Mercaptoethanol (β -ME) was added to 1 ml RLT buffer each time before use. Lysis buffer (400 μ l) was used to homogenize plant tissue samples with disposable plastic pestles in 1.7 ml Eppendorf tube. For total RNA extraction from nodule tissues, 5-6 nodules (~25 mg) were used, whereas 25-30 mg of leaf tissue was used in the homogenization step. Homogenized samples were centrifuged for seven minutes for nodule tissues and four minutes for leaf tissues at maximum speed. After that \sim 350 µl of supernatant was carefully transferred to a 2 ml collection tube with a pipette to exclude cellular debris in the supernatant and 350 μ l of 70 percent ethanol (made from Decon 200 Proof 100% pure ethanol) was added to it and mixed thoroughly with pipette. Subsequently, \sim 700 µl of the well-mixed sample was transferred to an RNeasy Mini spin column placed in 2 ml collection tube and centrifuged for 15 seconds at $8500 \times g$. The flow through was discarded and ~700 µl of buffer RW1 (QiagenTM) was added to the spin column and centrifuged for 15 seconds at 8500 \times g. Thereafter, the flow through was discarded and ~500 μ l of buffer RPE (QiagenTM) was added to the spin column and centrifuged for 15 seconds at 8500 \times g. Again, the flow through was discarded and \sim 500 µl of buffer RPE was added to the spin column and centrifuged for two minutes at $8500 \times g$. Then the RNeasy Mini spin column was placed in another 2 ml collection tube and centrifuged at full speed for one minute. In the next

step, the RNeasy Mini spin column transferred to a new 1.5 ml collection tube supplied with the kit and 40 µl of warm (60°C) ultrapure nuclease-free water (AmbionTM) was added to the spin column and centrifuged for one minute at 8500 × g for elution. After this elution step, the eluent was passed through the spin column for a second time and centrifuged for 1 minute at 8500 × g. The second elution containing the total RNA was collected in centrifuge tubes and treated with DNase (Sigma-Aldrich[®]) to avoid genomic DNA contamination. The DNase-treated RNA then stored at -80°C in 1.7 ml nuclease free collection tubes (Thermo Fisher ScientificTM) until further analysis. RNA samples were visualized on 0.8% agarose gels stained with gel red (Biotium) to confirm the integrity of samples and quantified before storage using Qubit[®] 2.0 Fluorometer (InvitrogenTM) with a high sensitivity or broad range RNA detection kit (Thermo Fisher ScientificTM). Total RNA concentrations ranged between 40 and 200 ng µl⁻¹ in nodules, 54 and 240 ng µl⁻¹ in the leaves of inoculated plants, and between 45 and 352 ng µl⁻¹ in the leaves of non-inoculated plants.

cDNA synthesis and primer designing

Total RNA (~160 ng) was used as template to synthesize cDNA using the 'GoScript[™] Reverse Transcription System' (Promega[™]) following manufacturers protocol (RevTsc, 2010). Random hexamers, a mixture of oligonucleotides representing all possible sequence, were used instead of oligo-dT primers for cDNA synthesis as bacterial (prokaryote) RNA does not contain polyA tail. To maintain homogeneity in overall qRT-PCR reactions, random hexamers were used for cDNA synthesis from RNA. Resulting 20 µl cDNA was diluted 1:5 with 80 µl ultrapure nuclease-free water (Ambion[™]).

The primer pair reported in a recent *nifH* gene expression study in dry beans (Akter et al., 2014) were initially used in our study, but the primers did not amplify the specified portion of the

nifH gene even after gradient PCR. Other reported *nifH* primer pairs were either degenerate or not specific for rhizobia-dry bean symbiosis, but ultimately, did not amplify the target *nifH* gene (Bürgmann et al., 2003, 2004). Five new primers were designed to amplify different portions of *R. phaseoli nifH* gene and selected the most consistent primer pair after several gradient PCR amplification with these newly designed primers (Table 2). For plant *NR* and *GS* genes, no primers were reported earlier in the literatures for dry bean and the other primers reported in literatures were not specific to the dry bean *NR* and *GS* genes. In this literature, we report first ever gene specific, robust primers for dry bean *NR* and *GS* genes. There are several genes reported in literatures that could be used as reference genes in our study to normalize the gene expressions of the bacterial and plant genes. After several trials with different bacterial housekeeping genes such as *recA*, *dnaK*, *truA*, *dnaK* was selected as the reference gene to study *nifH* gene expression. For bean *NR GS*, *actin* was used as the reference gene in the qPCR study.

Use of degenerate primers in qPCR analysis of functional genes might introduce quantification bias, so degenerate primers were not used in our study (Gaby and Buckley, 2017). In this study, new, highly efficient, robust, gene specific primers were designed to reduce the possibility of off-target amplification, and gradient PCRs (Polymerase Chain reaction) were run using GoTaq® Polymerase (PromegaTM) to identify annealing temperatures that produced specific amplicons for each primer combination (Table 2). Amplicons of each primer pair for all the pinto cultivars at two time points were sequenced (GenScript) to confirm the target amplification and results are schematically shown in figure 2. The amplicons were also separated on 1% agarose gels supplemented with GelRed (Biotium) nucleic acid dye to check expected sizes.

Primer (Gene/ Protein ID)	Location (NCBI)	5'-3' nucleotide sequence	Position*	Amplicon Length (bp)	Annealing Temperature (°C)
nifH	NC 0040412	F: GTGATGTCCGGCGAGATGAT	450	336	56.0
(24297432)	NC_004041.2	R: GGTAATCGGGGGTCGGAATGG	786		
dnaK	NC 007761 1	F: GCCCGAAACATCTGACCCTG	860	377	55.7
(24299536) NC_007761.1	NC_007701.1	R: GGTGGTGTTGCGCTCGATCA	1236		
GS	X04001 1	F: GACACCACCGAGAAGGTCAT	40	112	59.0
(CAA27631.1 X04001.1	R: GGCAGCTCTGAAGGGTTCTTA	152	113	58.0	
<i>NR</i> (CAA37672.1) X53603.1	F: AGCCAAAGAGATTGCGGTGA	2292	265	59.0	
	A33003.1	R: AGTCGTAGACATGGCCGTTG	3333	303	38.0
Actin (18615352) K	VE022666 1	F: GAAGTTCTCTTCCAACCATCC	868	175	58.0
	KFU33006.1	R: TTTCCTTGCTCATTCTGTCCG	1042		58.0

Table 5.2: Primer sequences, their position in cDNA or genomic DNA, amplicon length, and annealing temperatures used for qPCR

* Position of the primer nucleotide sequences in the corresponding gene sequence of specific organisms; *nifH* and *dnaK* in *Rhizobium phaseoli* and *Actin*, *NR* and *GS* in *Phaseolus vulgaris* L. F: Forward primer; R: Reverse Primer; bp: base pairs

qPCR analysis

The qPCR (quantitative PCR) reactions were performed on three technical replicates of each of the three biological replicates using Bio-Rad Sso Advanced Universal SYBR® Green Supermix on a CFX-96 Real Time PCR detection system (Bio-Rad) (Solanki et al., 2016). A 10 µl qPCR reaction was prepared using 0.5 µl of 500 nM of each gene specific forward and reverse primer, 2 µl of diluted cDNA template, 0.1 µl polymerase, 2 µl Sso Advanced supermix, and 4.6 µl qPCR grade ultrapure water (Ambion[®]) in a hard-shell 96 well plate (BioRad) and sealed with Microseal 'B' PCR plate seal (BioRad). qPCR reactions were done following the thermal cycling protocol given below:

Polymerase activation and cDNA denaturation for 30 secs at 95°C, followed by 45 cycles of denaturation at 95°C for 15 sec and annealing at primer specific temperature for 30 sec. Then melt-curve was generated at the temperature from 65°C to 95°C with 0.5°C increment (2-5 sec per step).

For each qPCR plate analyzed, three negative controls (nuclease free water as template) were run for each primer pair. A ten-fold gene specific serial dilution from 15×10^{-1} pg (one pg = 10^{-12} g) to 15×10^{-6} pg was run in parallel to determine the efficiency of each qPCR run. Each qPCR plate contained samples of a specific plant tissue (root or leaves) at a specific growth stage only. Gene expression was normalized against the reference genes, *dnaK* for the *Rhizobium phaseoli nifH* gene, and *Actin* for *P. vulgaris* N-assimilatory *NR* and *GS* genes. Three biological replicates of each time point and treatment were analyzed using three technical replicates.



Figure 5.1: Representative standards (Actin) used for qRT-PCR: (a) Dilution series ($15 \times 10-1$ to $15 \times 10-6$ picograms mL-1) used to produce standard curve; (b) Standard curve used to study gene expression and the calculated qPCR efficiency. *RFU: Relative Fluorescence Units; *Cq is the quantification cycle (baseline-corrected) at which the amplification curve crosses some arbitrary threshold value (where the curvature of the amplification curve is maximal)


Figure 5.2: Diagrammatic representation of reference sequence from NCBI for each gene, a) *nifH*, b) *dnaK*, c) *GS*, d) *NR*, and e) *Actin*, used in qPCR along with the region utilized for gene specific primer designing and Sanger sequencing for dry bean (pinto) cultivarspecific amplification.

The digits denote the positioning of the DNA bases in the reference sequence. Legends: 1. '.' - conserved sequence, 2. '____' - reference sequence, 3. |_____ - Primer designing region

Relative expressions were calculated using comparative C_T method, where fold changes were calculated using the following equation and considering the assumptions (Schmittgen and Livak, 2008):

Fold Change = $2^{-\Delta\Delta C_T}$

Gene expressions of two different samples were also compared using a modified form of this equation. The data analysis was carried out in 'Bio-Rad CFX Manager 3.1' software and Microsoft Excel. For all the studies, the values for cultivar La Paz at V_3 growth stage was utilized to determine the relative expression.

Sample preparation and estimation of N₂ fixation

At physiological maturity, fresh plant samples were weighed, and then dried at 55-60°C for four days to prepare them for SNF estimation. K¹⁵NO₃ was used as an N source to enrich the plant tissue with ¹⁵N for estimation of SNF using the 'Isotope Dilution Technique'. Dried plant shoot tissues were ground and passed through a 0.02 mm screen, and approximately 3 mg of the ground samples were encapsulated into tin (Sn) capsules. Encapsulated samples were packed in 96-well trays, and sent to UC Davis Stable Isotope facility. Samples were analyzed for isotopic ratio (i.e. ¹⁵N: ¹⁴N) using a continuous flow Isotope Ratio Mass Spectrometer (PDZ Europa ANCA-GSL elemental analyzer interfaced to a PDZ Europa 20-20 IRMS). Percent N derived from atmosphere (%Ndfa) was used as an indicator of SNF and was calculated from 'atom% ¹⁵N' values of plant samples using the following formula (McAuliffe et al., 1958):

$$\% Ndfa = \left(1 - \frac{atom\% 15_N excess in N_2 - fixing plant}{atom\% 15_N excess in reference plant}\right) \times 100$$

The 'atom % excess ¹⁵N' is the ¹⁵N enrichment above the background (the value is 0.3663%). A non-nodulating dry bean white navy mutant line, 'R99', was used as the non-fixing

reference (Park and Buttery, 2006). The ¹⁵N atom percent excess of these plant samples was used to calculate the %Ndfa values of the cultivars under investigation.

Results

Validation of primers and reference genes

The primers used in this study are robust and efficient, thus can be used in experiments with high precision. The *nifH* primer pair reported produces a *R. phaseoli* specific amplicon that can be used efficiently in future studies. The primers reported for *NR* and *GS* genes are also specific for dry bean. The primer pair that we developed to produce the dry bean *GS* gene specific amplicon amplifies the *GS* gene that is expressed in all the plant parts (Gebhardt et al., 1986), including leaves and nodules as we were interested in expression dynamics of *GS* in all tissues in order to better understand N assimilation.

Actin was used as a reference gene to normalize plant gene expression as use of *Actin* as a reference housekeeping gene in qPCR experiments is well reported in plants (Bashan et al., 2014; Bao et al., 2016; Li et al., 2016; Andrade et al., 2017). To study bacterial *nifH* gene expression, *dnaK* was selected as the reference gene. Throughout qPCR trials with *dnaK*, it showed constant Cq values (the number of qPCR cycles at which the baseline-corrected amplification curve crosses an arbitrary threshold value) for all the samples at a specific time point and specific concentration, a critical parameter to select a reference gene. Also, in earlier literatures, *dnaK* was reported to be used as a reference gene to study expression of *Rhizobium* and *Bradyrhizobium* genes, as this gene is highly conserved among different species of rhizobia (Stępkowski et al., 2003; Menna et al., 2009; Mnasri et al., 2012).



Figure 5.3: Relative normalized expressions of (a) *nifH*, (b) *GS* and (c) *NR* genes in root-nodules of four commercial pinto bean cultivars (La Paz, Lariat, Windbreaker, and ND-307) at two different growth stages (V₃ and R₂); (d) Linear regression model between mean amount of N₂ fixed (g N₂ per plant) by four cultivars and corresponding normalized expressions of *nifH* gene in their root-nodules at the R₂ stage; Values (bars) with overlapped standard error bars are not statistically significantly different (P<0.01); *nifH* gene expression was normalized against *dnaK* gene; *GS* and *NR* gene expression was normalized against the *Actin* gene; P₁: La Paz, P₂: Lariat, P₃: Windbreaker, and P₄: ND-307; 1 denotes V₃ stage and 2 denotes R₂ stage



Figure 5.4: Relative normalized expression levels of the GS gene in the leaves of (a) Rhizobia inoculated plants and (b) control (noninoculated) plants of four commercial pinto bean cultivars (La Paz, Lariat, Windbreaker, and ND-307) at two different growth stages (V₃ and R₂); *Values (bars) with overlapped standard error bars are not statistically significantly different (P<0.01); Gene expression was normalized against the *Actin* gene; P₁: La Paz, P₂: Lariat, P₃: Windbreaker, and P₄: ND-307; 1 denotes V₃ stage and 2 denotes R₂ stage



Figure 5.5: Relative normalized expressions of the *NR* gene in the leaves of (a) Rhizobia inoculated plants and (b) control (non-inoculated) plants of four commercial pinto bean cultivars (La Paz, Lariat, Windbreaker, and ND-307) at two different growth stages (V₃ and R₂); Values (bars) with overlapped standard error bars are not statistically significantly different (P<0.01); Gene expression was normalized against the *Actin* gene; P₁: La Paz, P₂: Lariat, P₃: Windbreaker, and P₄: ND-307; 1 denotes V₃ stage and 2 denotes R₂ stage

nifH gene expression in nodule tissue

All the experimental cultivars showed variable normalized *nifH* gene expression (Fig. 3a). ND-307 maintained constant high relative normalized bacterial *nifH* gene expression at both growth stages (i.e. V_3 and R_2), indicating a higher SNF activity compared to the other tested cultivars (Fig. 3a). Lariat had a higher relative normalized *nifH* gene expression level at the V_3 stage, followed by La Paz and Windbreaker. Conversely, Windbreaker had the higher relative normalized *nifH* gene expression followed by La Paz and Lariat at the R_2 growth stage (Fig. 3a). The relative normalized *nifH* gene expression was upregulated 1.5 and 3.1 folds in La Paz and Windbreaker, respectively, but downregulated 1.47 folds in Lariat at the R_2 stage compared to the V_3 stage for each cultivar (Fig. 3a). There was no change in relative normalized *nifH* gene expression for ND-307 between the two growth stages under investigation.

NR gene expression

In nodule tissues, relative normalized *NR* gene expression was found to be significantly variable among the four dry bean cultivars at both the V_3 and R_2 growth stages (Fig. 3c). At both growth stages, the highest *NR* gene expression levels were found in Lariat, and all other cultivars showed significantly lower *NR* gene expression. The other three experimental cultivars showed similar *NR* gene expression levels with ND-307 having the second highest *NR* gene expression, followed by Windbreaker, and La Paz at both the growth stages (Fig. 3c). Between the two growth stage assayed the relative normalized *NR* gene expression in nodules of the experimental bean cultivars La Paz and Windbreaker were significantly different. The *NR* gene expression was downregulated in nodule tissues of La Paz (8.2 fold) and Windbreaker (5.8 fold) at the R_2 stage compared to V_3 stage, and no significant change in gene expression was found in the other two cultivars (Fig. 3c).

In inoculated leaf tissue, relative normalized *NR* gene expression was found significantly variable among the cultivars at V_3 stage, but not at R_2 stage (Fig. 5a). ND-307 had significantly higher *NR* gene expression than the other three cultivars at V_3 stage, while the other three cultivars had statistically similar *NR* gene expression levels (Fig. 5a). Significant variation was found in the relative normalized *NR* gene expression levels in the inoculated leaves of the cultivars between the V_3 and R_2 growth stages (Fig. 5a). The *NR* gene expression was downregulated 2.9 and 14 folds in La Paz and ND-307, respectively; while upregulated in Lariat (4.5 fold) at the R_2 stage as compared to the V_3 stage (Fig. 5a).

In the non-inoculated leaves, statistically significant relative normalized *NR* gene expression among cultivars was found at the R_2 stage; highest *NR* gene expression was found in Windbreaker, followed by ND-307, La Paz, and Lariat (Fig. 5b). Relative normalized *NR* gene expression in the non-inoculated leaves was upregulated significantly at R_2 stage compared to V_3 stage (Fig. 5b). The gene expression was upregulated 4.5 folds for both Windbreaker and ND-307; but there was no change in gene expression for La Paz and Lariat (Fig. 5b).

GS gene expression

Significant variation in relative normalized *GS* gene expression in the nodule tissue was found among the dry bean cultivars at both growth stages (Fig. 3b). Lariat showed the highest relative normalized *GS* gene expression followed by Windbreaker, ND-307 and La Paz at the V_3 stage, while, La Paz exhibited the highest relative normalized *GS* gene expression levels at the R_2 stage, followed by ND-307, Windbreaker, and Lariat (Fig. 3b). Downregulation of the *GS* gene expression was found in nodule tissue of the dry bean cultivars at the R_2 stage (Fig. 3b). The *GS* gene was downregulated in Lariat (3.8 fold), Windbreaker (2.9 fold), and ND-307 (1.7

fold) at the R_2 stage compared to V_3 stage, while there was no change in nodule *GS* gene expression in La Paz (Fig. 3b).

Relative normalized *GS* gene expression levels in the inoculated leaves varied significantly among the cultivars at both the V₃ and R₂ growth stages, (Fig. 4a). ND-307 had the highest relative normalized *GS* gene expression level at the V₃ stage, followed by Windbreaker, La Paz, and Lariat; while at R₂ stage, Lariat had the highest *GS* gene expression, followed by ND-307, Windbreaker, and La Paz (Fig. 4a). The *GS* gene expression levels in the inoculated leaf tissue of the dry bean cultivars significantly varied between the two growth stages. The relative normalized *GS* gene expression was downregulated at R₂ stage compared to V₃ stage. The *GS* gene expression in inoculated leaf tissue was downregulated in La Paz (5.7 fold), Windbreaker (3.5 fold), and ND-307 (5.0 fold) at the R₂ stage compared to V₃ stage; no statistically significant change in gene expression was found in Lariat between the two growth stages (Fig. 4a).

Significant variation in relative normalized *GS* gene expression in the uninoculated control leaves of dry bean cultivars was found at V_3 growth stage, but no significant variation in gene expression was found among dry bean cultivars at R_2 stage (Fig. 4b). Windbreaker had significantly higher *GS* gene expression in the control leaf tissue than the other three dry bean cultivars at the V_3 stage. *GS* gene expression was downregulated in the control leaves of all the cultivars at R_2 stage compared to V_3 stage (Fig. 4b). The *GS* gene expression in control leaves was downregulated 10.7 folds in Windbreaker, 2.9 folds in Lariat, and 2.4 folds in both Windbreaker and La Paz (Fig. 4b).

Discussion

In our experiments, different dry bean cultivars in symbiotic associations with R. phaseoli showed differences in relative normalized *nifH* gene expression as reported earlier (Knauth et al., 2005). It was also found that cultivars with higher *nifH* gene expression also fixed higher amount of N₂. Similar findings were also reported in earlier studies on N₂ fixing diazotrophic cyanobacterial communities (Vitousek et al., 1997; Warshan et al., 2016; Zehr et al., 2007). We have found significant linear correlation ($R^2 = 0.82$) between the relatively normalized expressions of the rhizobia *nifH* gene at the R_2 stage and the amount of N_2 fixed (g N_2 per plant) for all the four experimental cultivars in this study (Fig. 3d). Similar positive correlation was reported in studies on diazotrophic communities (Bürgmann et al., 2003; Thaweenut et al., 2011; Turk-Kubo et al., 2012). This outcome strongly supports our hypothesis that cultivars that induce higher *nifH* gene expression in their rhizobia symbiont will fix higher amounts of atmospheric N₂ than the cultivar showing lower gene expression. Our results provide the first molecular evidence for the plant host genotypic specific induced expression of the rhizobia *nifH* gene correlating with the phenotypic fixation of higher amounts of atmospheric N₂ in a legume-*Rhizobia* symbiotic system.

Plants absorb the available N from growth media at early growth stages and the reduced supply of N causes the downregulation of N-assimilatory genes. The regulation of *NR* gene expression by different levels of NO_3^- is well reported in earlier literatures (Galangau et al., 1988; Mohr et al., 1992). It was reported that NO_3^- is essential for the induction of *NR* gene expression and evidence of induced upregulation and downregulation of the *NR* gene were reported as plants were supplied with additional NO_3^- 's and starved, respectively (Galangau et al., 1988; de Borne Dorlhac et al., 1994; Wang, 2000). Other studies suggested plants without any

accessible NO_3^- source had no detectable or very low *NR* mRNA expression (Hoff et al., 1991, 1992). In our study, *NR* gene expression showed a similar pattern of regulations and the Cq values for *NR* were as high as 33. Plants were intentionally supplied with low amounts of inorganic N to force SNF, which in turn affected *NR* gene expression. It is obvious that plants had access to more N as NO_3^- from the growth media during the early growth stages, and as the plants grew, NO_3^- availability got depleted since further NO_3^- was not added. The NR enzyme catalyzes the NO_3^- reduction and needs NO_3^- in the plant systems as discussed earlier. Therefore, suggesting that the decline in the available NO_3^- in the growth media diminished NO_3^- uptake at the later R₂ growth stage. Thus, due to scarcity of the substrate, NO_3^- , the activity of NR enzyme decreased, and subsequently the *NR* expression was found lowered.

Similar gene expression patterns were observed for the *GS* gene expression compared to the *NR* gene expression pattern in all four cultivars. Higher *GS* gene expression was found at the earlier V_3 growth stage as compared later R_2 growth stage used in the experiments. There are several possible hypotheses to explain these observations. Earlier, it was reported that there was a large increase in GS enzyme activities during nodulation (Lara et al., 1983). The nodulation in dry bean generally starts 2-3 weeks after planting, although it depends on other factors including growth environment and genetic make-up. GS enzyme activity also reaches its peak within two weeks (Flynn and Idowu, 2015). The sampling for V_3 stage was also done during this period, and our outcome of higher GS gene expression at V_3 compared to R_2 supports the observations that GS enzyme activity is higher during peak nodulation.

The GS enzyme uses NH_4^+ as its substrate and assimilates the NH_4^+ in the form of glutamine. The scarcity of NH_4^+ due to decreased activity of NR resulted in the decreased activity of GS. In other words, *GS* gene expression followed the downregulation pattern of the

NR gene expression at the R_2 stage compared to the V_3 stage. Due to continued unavailability of the substrate, NH_4^+ , the *GS* gene was also shut down at later stages of growth.

The *nifH* gene expression was increased in the later R_2 growth stage, and one possible explanation is that during the plant-symbiont interaction the host can induce *nifH* gene expression in a plant genotype specific manner when another available source of N, NO_3^- are depleted. These data suggest that to meet its physiological N requirement the plants are able to induce SNF activity of the *Rhizobia* bacteria. At this stage, plants were also preparing for seed development, which requires the elevated synthesis of amino acids, and thus, more N is required for assimilation. However, at this stage SNF as the only source of N was not adequate to provide the required amount of NH₃ for assimilation into glutamine by the GS enzyme resulting in the suppression of GS gene expression. This outcome suggests that in the symbiotic systems with dry bean as the legume partner plant, addition of N through other sources is necessary to meet the N requirement at the later stages of growth, i.e. late vegetative to early reproductive stage. A conceptual model was prepared to connect all the findings of our experiments for better understanding of the gene expression dynamics in relation to the dry bean genotypes, crop growth stages, availability of N from growth media (Figure 6). Though further studies are needed to identify the exact growth stage (or time point) when the additional N source should be provided to the plant.



Figure 5.6: A conceptual model depicting estimated and predicted expression dynamics of the *Rhizobium phaseoli nifH* gene and dry bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) *NR* and *GS* genes at different growth stages (G: germination, V_3 : third trifoliate stage, R_2 : late flowering stage, R_5 : pod-filling stage, M: maturity).

The expression levels shown are from two dry bean genotypes in relation to the available nitrogen from the growth media. The R^2 value shows the linear correlation between the relative normalized *nifH* gene expressions at late flowering stage and the amount of total nitrogen fixed.

Conclusion

We have developed a robust qRT-PCR method to show the expression profile of NR and GS gene in four dry bean cultivars along with nodule forming R. phaseoli nifH gene. This is the first ever study using molecular analysis to demonstrate that the higher N₂ fixing dry bean cultivars are also exhibiting higher *nifH* gene expression. The *nifH* gene expression was higher in the R₂ compared to V₃. Our analysis also concludes that at the initial growth stages of dry bean, NR and GS gene expressions are significantly higher due to higher availability of N from the growth media. However, at the later stages (R_2) , significant reduction in expression was detected. The NR and GS enzyme activities are well reported in literatures, but molecular analysis-based on gene expression studies in relation to symbiont bacterial *nifH* gene expression were lacking. Our molecular assay will not only help to identify host genotypes that have the capability of inducing *nifH* gene expression correlated with higher SNF, but also facilitate the understanding of efficient timing of N fertilization. The ability to conduct robust molecular characterization of SNF during plant growth stages and will also increase our knowledge of the cross talk and signaling occurring during this complex symbiotic mechanism. Our findings regarding the correlation between the *nifH* gene expression and the amount of SNF should open a new avenue towards future investigations in symbiotic systems.

References

- Akter, Z., B.B. Pageni, N.Z. Lupwayi, and P.M. Balasubramanian. 2014. Biological nitrogen fixation and *nif* H gene expression in dry beans (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.). Can. J. Plant Sci. 94(2): 203–212.
- Andrade, L.M., M. Brito, R. Peixoto Junior, P.E.R. Marchiori, P.M. Nóbile, A.P.B. Martins, R.V. Ribeiro, and S. Creste. 2017. Reference genes for normalization of qPCR assays in sugarcane plants under water deficit. Plant Methods 13(1): 1–9.
- Bao, W., Y. Qu, X. Shan, and Y. Wan. 2016. Screening and validation of housekeeping genes of the root and cotyledon ofcunninghamia lanceolata under abiotic stresses by using quantitative real-time PCR. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 17(8).

Barrie, A. 1991. New methodologies in stable isotope analysis. Vienna, Austria.

- Bashan, Y., L.E. de-Bashan, S.R. Prabhu, and J.P. Hernandez. 2014. Advances in plant growthpromoting bacterial inoculant technology: Formulations and practical perspectives (1998-2013). Plant Soil 378(1–2): 1–33.
- Boddey, R.M., M. Phillip, R.L. Victoria, and E. Matswi. 1984. Nitrogen Fixation by Nodulated Soybean Under Tropical Field Condotions Estimated by the ¹⁵N Isotope Dilution Technique. Adv. Agron. 16(6): 583–588.
- de Borne Dorlhac, F., M. Vincentz, Y. Chupeau, and H. Vaucheret. 1994. Co-suppression of nitrate reductase host genes and transgenes in transgenic tobacco plants. MGG Mol. Gen. Genet. 243(6): 613–621.
- Bürgmann, H., F. Widmer, W. Von Sigler, and H. Bu. 2004. New Molecular Screening Tools for Analysis of Free-Living Diazotrophs in Soil New Molecular Screening Tools for Analysis of Free-Living Diazotrophs in Soil. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 70(1): 240–247.
- Bürgmann, H., F. Widmer, W. V. Sigler, and J. Zeyer. 2003. mRNA extraction and reverse transcription-PCR protocol for detection of *nifH* gene expression by *Azotobacter vinelandii* in soil. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 69(4): 1928–1935.
- Burns, R.C., and R.W.F. Hardy. 1975. Nitrogen fixation in bacteria and higher plants. p. 1–189. *In* Molecular Biology, Biochemistry and Biophysics.
- Chalk, P.M. 1985. Estimation of N₂ fixation by isotope dilution. Soil Biol. Biochem. 17(4): 389–410.
- Cheng, Q. 2008. Perspectives in biological nitrogen fixation research. J. Integr. Plant Biol. 50(7): 786–798.
- Cheng, C.L., G.N. Acedo, J. Dewdney, H.M. Goodman, and M.A. Conkling. 1991. Differential expression of the two Arabidopsis nitrate reductase genes. Plant Physiol. 96(1): 275–279.
- Crawford, N.M., and H.N. Arnst. 1993. The Molecular Genetics of Nitrate Assimilation. Annu. Rev. Genet. 27: 115–146.
- Cullimore, J. V., and M.J. Bennett. 1992. Nitrogen assimilation in the legume root nodule: current status of the molecular biology of the plant enzymes. Can. J. Microbiol. 38(6): 461–466.
- Danso, S.K.A. 1986. Estimation of N₂-fixation by isotope dilution: An appraisal of techniques involving ¹⁵N enrichment and their application—Comments. Soil Biol. Biochem. 18(3): 243–244.
- Farid, M., and A. Navabi. 2015. N₂ fixation ability of different dry bean genotypes. Can. J. Plant Sci. 95(6): 1243–1257.

- Farnelid, H., A.F. Andersson, S. Bertilsson, W.A. Al-Soud, L.H. Hansen, S. Sørensen, G.F. Steward, Å. Hagström, and L. Riemann. 2011. Nitrogenase gene amplicons from global marine surface waters are dominated by genes of non-cyanobacteria. PLoS One 6(4).
- Flynn, R., and J. Idowu. 2015. Nitrogen Fixation by Legumes. Guid. A-129: 1–5. Available at http://aces.nmsu.edu/pubs/_a/A129/ (verified 1 January 2017).
- Franco, a a, J.C. Pereira, and C. a Neyra. 1979. Seasonal Patterns of Nitrate Reductase and Nitrogenase Activities in *Phaseolus vulgaris* L. Plant Physiol. 63(3): 421–4.
- Gaby, J.C., and D.H. Buckley. 2017. The Use of Degenerate Primers in qPCR Analysis of Functional Genes Can Cause Dramatic Quantification Bias as Revealed by Investigation of *nifH* Primer Performance. Microb. Ecol. 74(3): 701–708.
- Galangau, F., F. Daniel-Vedele, T. Moureaux, M.F. Dorbe, M.T. Leydecker, and M. Caboche. 1988. Expression of leaf nitrate reductase genes from tomato and tobacco in relation to light-dark regimes and nitrate supply. Plant Physiol. 88(2): 383–8.
- Gebhardt, C., J.E. Oliver, B.G. Forde, R. Saarelainen, and B.J. Miflin. 1986. Primary structure and differential expression of glutamine synthetase genes in nodules, roots and leaves of *Phaseolus vulgaris*. EMBO J. 5(7): 1429–35.
- Hoff, T., B.M. Stumman, and K.W. Henningsen. 1991. Cloning and expression of a gene encoding a root specific nitrate reductase in bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris*). Physiol. Plantarun 82(2): 197–204.
- Hoff, T., B.M. Stummann, and K.W. Henningsen. 1992. Structure, function and regulation of nitrate reductase in higher plants. Physiol. Plantarun 84(4): 616–624.
- Hong, Y., Y. Ma, L. Wu, M. Maki, W. Qin, and S. Chen. 2012. Characterization and analysis of *nifH* genes from Paenibacillus sabinae T27. Microbiol. Res. 167(10): 596–601.
- Howard, J.B., and D.C. Rees. 1996. Structural basis of biological nitrogen fixation. Chem. Rev. 96(7): 2965–2982.
- Izquierdo, J.A., and K. Nüsslein. 2006. Distribution of extensive *nifH* gene diversity across physical soil microenvironments. Microb. Ecol. 51(4): 441–452.
- Kim, J., and D.C. Rees. 1994. Nitrogenase and Biological Nitrogen Fixation. Biochemistry 33(2): 389–397.
- Knauth, S., T. Hurek, D. Brar, and B. Reinhold-Hurek. 2005. Influence of different Oryza cultivars on expression of *nifH* gene pools in roots of rice. Environ. Microbiol. 7(11): 1725–1733.
- Lam, H.-M., K.T. Coschigano, I.C. Oliveira, R. Melo-Oliveira, and G.M. Coruzzi. 1996. the Molecular-Genetics of Nitrogen Assimilation Into Amino Acids in Higher Plants. Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol. 47(1): 569–593.

- Lara, M., J. V. Cullimore, P.J. Lea, B.J. Miflin, A.W.B. Johnston, and J.W. Lamb. 1983. Appearance of a novel form of plant glutamine synthetase during nodule development in *Phaseolus vulgaris* L. Planta 157(3): 254–258.
- Li, M.-Y., X. Song, F. Wang, and A.-S. Xiong. 2016. Suitable Reference Genes for Accurate Gene Expression Analysis in Parsley (*Petroselinum crispum*) for Abiotic Stresses and Hormone Stimuli. Front. Plant Sci. 7(September): 1–12.
- Ludden, P.W. 2001. Nitrogenase Complex. Encycl. Life Sci.: 1–8.
- McAuliffe, C., D.S. Chamblee, H. Uribe-Arango, and W.W. Woodhouse. 1958. Influence of Inorganic Nitrogen on Nitrogen Fixation by Legumes as Revealed by N¹⁵. Agron. J. 50(6): 334–337.
- McGrath, R.B., and G.M. Coruzzi. 1991. A gene network controlling glutamine and asparagine biosynthesis in plants. Plant J. 1(3): 275–280.
- Mengel, K., E.A. Kirkby, H. Kosegarten, and T. Appel. 2001. Nitrogen. p. 397–434. In Mengel, K., Kirkby, E.A., Kosegarten, H., Appel, T. (eds.), Principles of Plant Nutrition. Springer Netherlands, Dordrecht.
- Menna, P., F.G. Barcellos, and M. Hungria. 2009. Phylogeny and taxonomy of a diverse collection of *Bradyrhizobium* strains based on multilocus sequence analysis of the 16S rRNA gene, ITS region and glnII, recA, atpD and dnaK genes. Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol. 59(12): 2934–2950.
- Mnasri, B., S. Saïdi, S.A. Chihaoui, and R. Mhamdi. 2012. Sinorhizobium americanum symbiovar mediterranense is a predominant symbiont that nodulates and fixes nitrogen with common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) in a Northern Tunisian field. Syst. Appl. Microbiol. 35(4): 263–269.
- Mohr, H., A. Neininger, and B. Seith. 1992. Control of Nitrate Reductase and Nitrite Reductase Gene Expression by Light, Nitrate and a Plastidic Factor. Bot. Acta 105(2): 81–89.
- Osorno, J., G. Endres, R. Ashley, H. Kandel, and D. Berglund. 2013. Dry Bean Production Guide-A1133 (H Kandel, Ed.). North Dakota State University.
- Park, S.J., and B.R. Buttery. 2006. Registration of Ineffective Nodulation Mutant R69 And Nonnodulation Mutant R99 Common Bean Genetic Stocks. Crop Sci. 46(3): 1415–1416.
- Peter, J., W. Young, and K.E. Haukka. 1996. Diversity and phylogeny of rhizobia. New Phytol. 133(1): 87–94.
- Phillips, D.A. 1980. Efficiency of Symbiotic Nitrogen Fixation in Legumes. Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. 31(1): 29–49.
- QIAGEN. 2012. RNeasy Mini Handbook. Sample Assay Technol. (June): 50–54.

- Rennie, R.J., and G.A. Kemp. 1982. N₂-Fixation in Field Beans Quantified by ¹⁵N Isotope Dilution. II. Effect of Cultivars of Beans. Agron. J. 75(4): 645–649.
- RevTsc, P. 2010. GoScript(TM) Reverse Transcription System Quick Protocol, 9FB114 (A5000 AND A500). Manual (March): 5000–5001.
- Schmittgen, T.D., and K.J. Livak. 2008. Analyzing real-time PCR data by the comparative CT method. Nat. Protoc. 3(6): 1101–1108.
- Seefeldt, L.C., D.R. Dean, and B.M. Hoffman. 2017. Nitrogenase Mechanism: Electron and Proton Accumulation and N₂ Reduction. p. 274–296. *In* Molybdenum and Tungsten Enzymes. 5th ed. Royal Society of Chemistry, Cambridge.
- Stępkowski, T., M. Czaplińska, K. Miedzinska, and L. Moulin. 2003. The Variable Part of the dnaK Gene as an Alternative Marker for Phylogenetic Studies of Rhizobia and Related Alpha Proteobacteria. Syst. Appl. Microbiol. 26(4): 483–494.
- Tajini, F., J.J. Drevon, L. Lamouchi, M.E. Aouani, and M. Trabelsi. 2008. Response of common bean lines to inoculation: Comparison between the *Rhizobium tropici* CIAT899 and the native *Rhizobium etli* 12a3 and their persistence in Tunisian soils. World J. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 24(3): 407–417.
- Thaweenut, N., Y. Hachisuka, S. Ando, S. Yanagisawa, and T. Yoneyama. 2011. Two seasons' study on *nifH* gene expression and nitrogen fixation by diazotrophic endophytes in sugarcane (*Saccharum* spp. hybrids): Expression of *nifH* genes similar to those of rhizobia. Plant Soil 338(1): 435–449.
- Turk-Kubo, K.A., K.M. Achilles, T.R.C. Serros, M. Ochiai, J.P. Montoya, and J.P. Zehr. 2012. Nitrogenase (*nifH*) gene expression in diazotrophic cyanobacteria in the Tropical North Atlantic in response to nutrient amendments. Front. Microbiol. 3(NOV): 1–17.
- U.S. National Plant Germplasm System. Available at https://npgsweb.arsgrin.gov/gringlobal/accessiondetail.aspx?1445065 (verified 1 January 2017).
- USDA-AMS-ST-PVPO. 2017. Plant Variety Protection Office. Washington, DCAvailable at https://www.ars-grin.gov/cgi-bin/npgs/pvp/pvplist.pl (verified 1 January 2018).
- Vitousek, P.M., J.D. Aber, R.W. Howarth, G.E. Likens, P.A. Matson, D.W. Schindler, W.H. Schlesinger, and D.G. Tilman. 1997. Human alteration of the global nitrogen cycle: Sources and consequences. Ecol. Appl. 7(3): 737–750.
- Wang, R. 2000. Genomic Analysis of a Nutrient Response in Arabidopsis Reveals Diverse Expression Patterns and Novel Metabolic and Potential Regulatory Genes Induced by Nitrate. Plant Cell Online 12(8): 1491–1510.
- Wang, X., Y. Teng, C. Tu, Y. Luo, C. Greening, N. Zhang, S. Dai, W. Ren, L. Zhao, and Z. Li. 2018. Coupling between Nitrogen Fixation and Tetrachlorobiphenyl Dechlorination in a *Rhizobium*–Legume Symbiosis. Environ. Sci. Technol.: acs.est.7b05667.

- Warshan, D., G. Bay, N. Nahar, D.A. Wardle, M.C. Nilsson, and U. Rasmussen. 2016. Seasonal variation in *nifH* abundance and expression of cyanobacterial communities associated with boreal feather mosses. ISME J. 10(9): 2198–2208.
- Witty, J.F., R.J. Rennie, and C.A. Atkins. 1988. ¹⁵N addition methods for assessing N₂ fixation under field conditions. p. 715–730. *In* Summerfield, R.J. (ed.), World crops: Cool season food legumes: A global perspective of the problems and prospects for crop improvement in pea, lentil, faba bean and chickpea. Springer Netherlands, Dordrecht.
- Zehr, J.P., J.P. Montoya, B.D. Jenkins, I. Hewson, E. Mondragon, C.M. Short, M.J. Church, Ha. Andrew, and D.M. Karl. 2007. Experiments linking nitrogen gene expression and nitrogen fixation in the North Pacific subtropical gyre. Limnol. Oceanogr. 52(1): 169– 183.

CHAPTER VI: RESEARCH SUMMARY

Outcomes of our greenhouse experiment suggested that stable isotope dilution technique gave better estimate of N_2 fixation activity in dry bean cultivars compared to Ureide method and the new liquid inoculation helped in formation of nodules in dry bean roots. Thus, we used stable isotope dilution in our further research. The two-year long field experiment indicated that rhizobia inoculation provided Rhizobium strains that formed nodules in the roots of commercial dry bean cultivars from different market classes, but under field condition, when native rhizobia strains were present, the inoculants failed to improve N_2 fixation and seed yield. The new liquid inoculant resulted in higher N_2 fixation compared to peat inoculant in 2017, but fixation was higher in control. Dry bean seed yield was also significantly higher in control compared to inoculated plots, which indicated that inoculation adversely affecting the N₂ fixation, plant growth and metabolism. The most probable reasons were: firstly, the native *Rhizobium* strains were more efficient in symbiosis with dry bean cultivars under study compared to the inoculant strains; and secondly, the inoculant formulations were negatively affecting plant germination and thus, the crop stand and seed yield. To support our findings in the field experiment when expressions of nitrogen fixation (*nifH*) gene were studied, it was found that the gene expressions were highly positively correlated with the amount of N₂ fixed i.e. the phenotypic expression, indicating this to be genotype-dependent. This study also revealed the fact that when N₂ fixation activity decreased at late flowering stage, dry bean plants needed additional supply of N for optimum N metabolic activities as evident from N assimilatory gene expression. Furthermore, the *nifH* gene expressions can be used by the plant breeders to identify the dry bean cultivars with higher symbiotic efficiency, avoiding the costly, labor-intensive field trials.

APPENDIX: SUPPLEMENTARY TABLES

Marlast Class	Cultivor	%N	N ₂ fixed	
Warket Class	Cultivar —	V ₃ stage	R ₂ stage	(mg N plant ⁻¹)
	Foxfire	58.4	71.2	32.7
Kidney	Redhawk	55.5	70.5	36.1
	Pink Panther	65.0	70.1	32.2
Pinto	La Paz	74.6	93.7	61.6
	Lariat	85.1	90.9	75.7
	Windbreaker	82.2	92.2	63.5
Navy	Ensign	84.4	95.3	68.8
	T9905	92.3	99.3	73.4
	Medalist	94.8	97.6	49.2
Black	Eclipse	52.2	75.8	41.8
	Loreto	47.5	73.9	42.2
	Zorro	46.8	76.8	44.6

Table A1: Variations in mean plant dry matter yield and relative ureide N (%) of twelve dry bean cultivars under Pinto, Navy, Kidney and Black bean market classes at two growth stages

Month	Prosper, ND	0 (2016)	Felton, MN (2017)	
	Temperature (°C)	Precipitation (mm)	Temperature (°C)	Precipitation (mm)
May	13.2	16.8	6.0	27.2
June	19.1	87.9	11.5	87.9
July	21.2	50.0	14.2	50.6
August	18.1	52.6	11.4	18.5
September	15.3	152	9.1	141
October	7.5	6.86	1.1	8.89

Table A2: Monthly distribution of temperature (°C) and rainfall (mm) during crop growing seasons in Prosper, ND (2016) and Felton, MN (2017)

Table A3: Variations in mean percent nitrogen derived from atmosphere (%Ndfa) at third trifoliate (V_3) stage among different inoculation treatments at Prosper, ND in 2016 and at Felton, MN in 2017

Inoculation	%Ndf	ia (V ₃)
	2016	2017
Control	78.1a (2.5)	53.2a (3.8)
Liquid	66.9b (3.2)	44.7b (3.1)
Peat	75.7ab (2.3)	54.3a (3.2)

Standard errors are given in parenthesis below mean values only for the significant effects; Means followed by same lowercase letter(s) are not significantly different (P < 0.05) among the inoculation treatments

Inequision	Dry Matter Y	(ield (kg ha ⁻¹)
moculation	2016	2017
Control	1221	2081a (143)
Liquid	1051	1771a (160)
Peat	1037	1542b (168)

Table A4: Variations in mean dry matter yield (kg ha-1) among different inoculation treatments at Prosper, ND in 2016 and at Felton, MN in 2017

Standard errors are given in parenthesis below mean values only for the significant effects; Means followed by same lowercase letter(s) are not significantly different (P < 0.05) among the inoculation treatments

Table A5: Variations in mean seed yield (kg ha⁻¹) among different inoculation treatments at Prosper, ND in 2016 and at Felton, MN in 2017

Inconlation	Seed Yiel	d (kg ha ⁻¹)
moculation	2016	2017
Control	1540a (110)	1724a (84.5)
Liquid	1110b (114)	1563b (117)
Peat	1165b (178)	1657ab (94.1)

Standard errors are given in parenthesis below mean values only for the significant effects; Means followed by same lowercase letter(s) are not significantly different (P < 0.05) among the inoculation treatments

Kidney Cultivars	%Ndfa (V ₃)	Seed yield (kg ha ⁻¹)
Foxfire	43.8b (3.0)	1235b (80.9)
Montcalm	59.1a (2.5)	1775a (57.3)
Pink Panther	43.2b (1.7)	1413b (44.6)
Redhawk	22.7c (4.3)	760c (106)

Table A6: Variations in mean percent nitrogen derived from atmosphere (%Ndfa) at third trifoliate (V_3) and seed yield (kg ha⁻¹) among kidney cultivars at Felton, MN in 2017

Standard errors are given in parenthesis below mean values only for the significant effects; Means followed by same lowercase letter(s) are not significantly different (P < 0.05) among the cultivars within a specific market class

Table A7: Effect of interactions between market classes and inoculation treatments on variations in mean seed yield (kg ha⁻¹) at Prosper, ND in 2016 and Felton, MN in 2017

	Seed Yield (kg ha ⁻¹)					
Market Class		2016			2017	
-	Control	Liquid	Peat	Control	Liquid	Peat
Kidney	1360aB	710bB	516cB	1423B	1166B	1298B
	(163)	(99.4)	(103)	(97.7)	(150)	(101)
Pinto	1720A	1510A	1814A	2025A	1959A	2016A
	(123)	(113)	(201)	(52.0)	(58.6)	(48.1)

Standard errors are given in parenthesis below mean values only for the significant effects; Means followed by same lowercase letter(s) are not significantly different (P < 0.05) among different inoculation treatments for a specific market class in a specific year; Means followed by same uppercase letter are not significantly different (P < 0.05) between kidney and pinto market classes under a specific inoculation treatment in a specific year Table A8: Effect of interactions between cultivars within market classes and inoculation treatments on variations in mean percent nitrogen derived from atmosphere (%Ndfa) at third trifoliate (V_3) stage at Felton, MN in 2017

Market Class	Cultivor	%Ndfa (V ₃)			
	Cultival	Control	Liquid	Peat	
	Foxfire	52.7A (3.5)	43.0A (0.9)	35.6B (2.8)	
Vidnov	Montcalm	63.2A (5.1)	53.7A (1.5)	60.3A (2.2)	
Kluney	Pink Panther	46.9A (1.0)	44.3A (1.7)	38.5AB (2.6)	
	Redhawk	21.6abB (1.4)	9.6bB (1.4)	36.8aB (4.8)	
	La Paz	84.5aA (2.7)	49.3b (1.8)	71.6a (7.0)	
Pinto	Lariat	55.0B (4.4)	45.4	66.2	
	ND-307	60.9B (5.8)	52.4	64.8	
	Windbreaker	40.6B (3.2)	59.8	60.9	

Standard errors are given in parenthesis below mean values only for the significant effects; Means followed by same lowercase letter(s) are not significantly different (P < 0.05) among different inoculation treatments for a specific cultivar; Means followed by same uppercase letter(s) are not significantly different (P < 0.05) among different cultivars within a specific market class under a specific inoculation treatment

Table A9: Effect of interactions between kidney cultivars and inoculation treatments on variations in mean seed yield (kg ha⁻¹) at Felton, MN in 2017

Kidnov Cultivor		Seed Yield (kg ha ⁻¹)	
Kidney Cultivar	Control	Liquid	Peat
Foxfire	1440AB (116)	1085B (108)	1179BC (67.7)
Montcalm	1894A (96.6)	1647A (68.8)	1785A (44.8)
Pink Panther	1312B (35.1)	1558AB (52.8)	1371AB (29.0)
Redhawk	1046aB (56.4)	375bC (49.0)	858abC (69.8)

Standard errors are given in parenthesis below mean values only for the significant effects; Means followed by same lowercase letter(s) are not significantly different (P < 0.05) among different inoculation treatments for a specific cultivar; Means followed by same uppercase letter(s) are not significantly different (P < 0.05) among different cultivars within a specific market class under a specific inoculation treatment

Market Class	Cultivar —	Dry	Matter Yield (kg h	a ⁻¹)
		Control	Liquid	Peat
	Foxfire	3321	3786	2270
Kidney	Montcalm	3787	4858	3452
	Pink Panther	3469	2502	2399
	Redhawk	3557	2174	2095
	La Paz	4448	2408	3176
Pinto	Lariat	4304	3903	3301
	ND-307	3109	2686	3586
	Windbreaker	4087	3570	4054

Table A10: Effect of interactions between cultivars within market classes and inoculation treatments on variations in mean dry matter yield (kg ha⁻¹) after combined analysis

Table A11: Effect of interactions between cultivars within market classes and inoculation treatments on variations in mean N_2 fixed (kg ha⁻¹) after combined analysis

Markat Class	Cultivar —		N ₂ fixed (kg ha ⁻¹)	
Warket Class		Control	Liquid	Peat
Kidney	Foxfire	45.6	34.6	19.9
	Montcalm	39.9	44.1	50.3
	Pink Panther	43.6	25.5	20.1
	Redhawk	41.0	23.8	29.9
	La Paz	47.9	38.5	33.0
Pinto	Lariat	41.2	44.0	34.1
	ND-307	30.0	31.0	46.0
	Windbreaker	48.0	35.1	34.9